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The below statements are made by the following Members of the Board of Directors of Pancretan Cooperative Bank Ltd:  

1. Nikolaos Myrtakis, the President of the Board of Directors, 

2. Georgios Kourletakis, the 2nd Vice-President of the Board of Directors and 

3. Antonios Vasilakis, the General Secretary of the Board of Directors.  

 

who certify, that as far as they know:   

a) The Annual Financial Statements for the financial year ended as at December 31, 2018, prepared according to the 

effective I.F.R.S., present truly and fairly the Assets and Liabilities, the Equity and the Financial Results of Pancretan 

Cooperative Bank Ltd, and 

b) The Board of Directors’ Annual Report provides a true view of the Bank’s performance and results including a description 

of the main risks and uncertainties it is exposed to.  

 

 

 

Heraklion, April 22, 2019 

 

Α. Representations of the Board of Directors  

Designees
The Chairman of the BoD 

Assigned members of the BoD 

Nikolaos Myrtakis Antonios Vasilakis Georgios Kourletakis 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of “PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK Ltd”  

Report on the financial statements   
 

Opinion   

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of “PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK Ltd” (the Bank), which 

comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2018, the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity 

and cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Bank as 

at 31 December, 2018, its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (I.F.R.S.), as adopted by the European Union.   
 

Basis for opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) incorporated into the Greek Legislation. 

Our responsibilities, under those standards, are described in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Bank throughout our appointment, in accordance with the 

International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, incorporated into the Greek 

Legislation and ethical requirements relevant to the audit of financial statements in Greece and we have fulfilled our ethical 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the above Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 

statements of the current period. These matters, as well as the related risks of significant misstatement, were addressed in the 

context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 

separate opinion on these matters.  

Β. Independent Auditor’s Report  
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Under the preparation of the financial statements as of 

31.12.2018, the Bank applied the going concern principle, 

according to which, the management takes into account the 

current economic developments, liquidity and capital 

adequacy of the Bank and makes estimates regarding its 

financial position and the economic environment, within which 

the Bank will operate in the following 12 months.    

 

We focused on this issue, due to the management's significant 

assumptions and estimates in respect of the following: 

 the macroeconomic environment, the current uncertainties 

and the recent developments in Greece  

 The Bank’s business plan in line with its capital adequacy, 

liquidity and profitability.  

The relative reference in presented in Notes 2.2 and 4.6  to 

the financial statements.  

 

Our audit approach included, inter alia, the following: 

 We discussed with the management and assessed the 

approved business plan of the Bank under the current 

macroeconomic conditions. 

 We reviewed the reasonableness of the key assumptions 

of the above business plan.  

 We assessed the reliability of the management's 

projections examining the previous years’ results. 

 We evaluated the Bank's assets and available sources of 

financing (deposits, emergency liquidity assistance 

(ELA), other credit instruments & loans).  

 We evaluated the impact of the application of I.F.R.S. 9 

on the capital structure and regulatory capital of the 

Bank, in accordance with the transitional provisions 

(phase-in approach) and the minimum capital 

requirements set by the BOG Supervisory Review & 

Evaluation Process (SREP).     

 We evaluated the adequacy of the relevant disclosures 

provided in Notes 2.2 and 4.6 to the financial 

statements in relation to this matter.    

Accounting basis for the Bank’s going concern  

Key audit matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Description  Addressing   
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As at 31 December, 2018, loans and other receivables from the 

Bank’s clients stood at € 1,141 million, compared to € 1,225 

million as at 31 December, 2017, after accumulated provision 

for impairment losses of  € 371 million as at 31 December, 

2018, compared to € 374 million as at 31 December, 2017.   

The Bank makes provision for impairment of loans in 

accordance with IFRS 9 on an individual or collective basis.  

IFRS 9 makes reference to the expected credit losses (ECL). 

Measurement of expected credit losses requires the use of 

complex models as well as a significant number of estimates 

and assumptions regarding the future economic conditions 

and potential behavior of borrowers. 

Given the significance of the size of the loans in the financial 

statements, the complexity of the loan impairment calculation 

and the subjectivity of the management's estimates and 

assumptions required for that purpose, we considered that 

impairment of loans from customers constitutes a key audit 

matter.   

Note 2.6 to the Bank’s financial statements makes reference to 

the key accounting policies and Note 4.4.1 discloses credit risk. 

Based on the audit risks assessment, we evaluated the 

methodologies and policies applied by the management in 

relation to impairment of loans and receivables from clients. 

Our audit procedures included, inter alia, the following:    

We assessed completeness of IFRS 9 application, pacing  

particular emphasis on methodology, policies and significant 

assumptions applied by the management in order to 

determine the expected credit losses. In particular:   

 We assessed the business model and the appropriate 

classification of financial assets at amortized cost based 

on assessment of contractual cash flows solely relating 

to capital and interest payments (SPPI test)   

 We assessed  consistency of the methodology followed  

while Staging    

 We assessed the reasonableness of the assumptions 

used by the management under applying the expected 

credit loss model  

 We reviewed the procedures applied under calculating 

the expected credit loss and examined the 

reasonableness of the amount in relation to the 

exposure classification and key assumptions of the 

model (PD, LGD, Cure rate), definition of default and 

macroeconomic assumptions  

Impairment of loans and receivables from clients at amortized cost   

 

Description Addressing  
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 We confirmed, on a sample basis, the reasonableness of 

the key assumptions used to measure impairment of 

individually assessed exposures, existence and valuation 

of collaterals as well as other specific characteristics of 

the loan   

 We assessed design and implementation of internal 

controls related to calculating expected credit losses 

(ECL) based on the applied  methodology.    

Furthermore, electronically, we received the loan tape of the 

Bank and examined:  

  sound technical functioning of the formulas applied for 

calculating expected credit loss and other quantitative 

parameters and data   

 total consistency between the files of the Bank's general 

accounts and the financial statements   

We evaluated the extent to which the disclosures in the 

financial statements adequately reflect the volume of the 

credit risk.  

Impairment of loans and receivables from clients at amortized cost   

Description Addressing  



9 PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual financial statements for the year 2018  

As at December 31, 2018, deferred tax assets of the Bank 

amounted to € 69.63 million, compared to € 49.9 million as at 

31 December, 2017, of which, an amount of € 45.53 million is 

not necessarily based on future profitability but pertains to 

deferred tax assets within the meaning of Article 27A of Law 

4172/2013, according to which the Bank can convert deferred 

tax assets (DTA) to deferred tax credit (DTC).   

 

The measurement of recoverability of deferred tax assets is 

considered a key audit matter as it is highly subjective in terms 

of assumptions and expectations regarding the existence of 

future taxable profits and the assessment of the special tax 

framework (articles 27 & 27A of Law 4172/2013).   

   

Based on the audit risks assessment, we evaluated the 

method used by the management in order to determine the 

recoverable amount of deferred tax assets and we examined 

the budget as well as the assumptions used regarding the 

existence of future taxable profits. 

Our audit procedures included, inter alia, the following:   

 We evaluated the design and implementation of internal 

controls related to the preparation and the review of 

budgets and expectations, including internal controls 

related to significant estimates, data, calculation and 

applied methodologies. 

 We evaluated the management's estimation regarding 

the recent changes in the tax legislation affecting the 

balance of the deferred tax assets, in particular, the 

provisions of articles 27 and 27A of Law 4172/2013. 

 We evaluated the reasonableness of the most significant 

assumptions and expectations of the management 

regarding future taxable profits in the light of confirming 

these expectations historically, based on current results 

and tax legislation.  

 

We evaluated the extent to which the disclosures relating to 

the recoverability of deferred tax assets in the financial 

statements are adequate.   

Recoverability of deferred tax assets   

Description Addressing  
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Other information  

The management is responsible for the other information. The other information included in the Annual Financial Report, 

comprise of the Board of Director’s Report, reference to which is made in the “Report on Other Legal and Regulatory 

Requirements” section of our Report and the Statements of the Members of the Board of Directors, but not of the financial 

statements and the auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express with this opinion any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the Bank’s financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit, or otherwise, appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the audit work performed, we conclude that 

there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate that matter. No such issue has arisen.  

 

Responsibilities of management and of those charged with governance for the financial statements   

The management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with I.F.R.S., 

as adopted by the European Union, as well as for those internal controls the management determines as necessary, in order the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, to be possible. 

During preparing the financial statements, the management is responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, when applicable, matters related to going concern and the use of going concern basis of accounting, unless 

the management’s intention is to proceed with liquidating the Bank or discontinuing its operations, or has no other realistic option 

but to proceed with those actions. 

The Banks’s Audit Committee (article 44, Law 4449/2017) is responsible for overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements   

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, as an aggregate, are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report, which includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that the audit conducted in accordance with ISAs, incorporated into 

the Greek Legislation, will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to affect the economic decisions 

of users, taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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As duty of the audit, in accordance with ISAs, incorporated into the Greek Legislation, we exercise professional judgment and 

maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, by designing and 

performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than that resulting from 

error, as fraud may include collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

Obtain an understanding of the internal controls relevant to the audit, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 

the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank’s internal controls.   

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting principles and policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates and 

the related disclosures made by the management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 

in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 

opinion. Our conclusions are based on audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern. 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit, as well as significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls that we identify during our 

audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and we communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements  
 

1. Board of Directors’ Report  

Taking into consideration the fact that under the provisions of paragraph 5, article 2 of Law 4336/2015 (part B), the 

management has the responsibility for the preparation of the Board of Directors’ Report included into this Annual Financial 

Report, the following is to be noted: 

i.. In our opinion, the Board of Directors’ Report has been prepared in compliance with the effective legal requirements 

of the article 43a of Codified Law 2190/1920 and its content corresponds to the accompanying financial statements for the year 

ended as at 31/12/2018. 

ii. Based on the knowledge we acquired during our audit, regarding “PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK Ltd” and its 

environment, we have not identified any material misstatements in the Board of Directors’ Report.  . 
 

2. Additional Report to the Audit Committee 

Our opinion on the accompanying financial statements is consistent with our Additional Report to the Bank’s Audit Committee, 

prepared in compliance with article 11, regulation (EU) No 537/2014. 
 

3. Provision of Non-Audit Services   

We have not provided the Bank with the prohibited non-audit services referred to in article 5 of regulation (EU) No 537/2014. 

Non-prohibited non-audit services provided by us to the Bank during the year ended as at December 31, 2018, are disclosed in 

Note 39 to its accompanying financial statements.   

 

4. Auditor’s Appointment  

We were first appointed as the Bank’s Chartered Accountants following as of 14.5.1995 decision of the annual regular general 

meeting of the partners. We were appointed again as the Bank’s Chartered Accountants following as of 11.5.1997 decision of the 

annual regular general meeting of the partners. Since then, our appointment has been constantly renewed for a total period of 

22 years in compliance with the decisions of the annual regular general meetings of the shareholders.   

 
Heraklion, 25.04.2019 

 
The Chartered Accountant  

 
 

Konstantinos Emm. Antonakakis  
S.O.E.L. Reg. Num. 22 781 
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The current Annual Report of the Board of Directors (hereinafter referred to as “the Report”) pertains to the annual financial year 

2018 (1.1.2018 – 31.12.2018). The current Report has been prepared and is in compliance with the relevant provisions of Article 

43. Par. a and bb, Law 2190/1920. 

The current Report fairly presents all the relative and legally mandatory financial information in order to provide the users of 

financial statements with meaningful and comprehensive information regarding the Pancretan Cooperative Bank Ltd (hereinafter 

referred to as the «Bank» or «Pancretan») operations within the aforementioned period. 

The Report, as well as the Financial Statements of the Bank and all the legally required data and statements are included in the 

Annual Financial Report for the financial year 2018. 

 

UNIT A.. Greek Economy  

UNIT B. Hellenic Bank System 

UNIT C. Pancretan Bank (Significant Events and Issues)  

UNIT D. Financial Sizes and Performance in 2018 

UNIT E. Risk Management 

UNIT F. Prospects for the Future 

UNIT G. Non-financial information 

UNIT H. Publication of Information under Article 6, Law 4374/2016 

UNIT I. Related Parties Transactions 

Attachment. Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)    

C. Board of Directors Annual Report  
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In 2018,  growth dynamics of the Greek economy continued to increase by 1.9%, with fixed GDP growth, while it is projected to 

remain at this level in 2019, despite a significant slowdown in euro area economic growth. As reported in the Bank of Greece 

Governor's report, the GDP growth recorded in 2018 and the prospects for 2019 state that the Greek economy has entered a 

growth path, in line with  maintaining growth dynamics and strengthening it to allow strong growth rates to be recorded over a 

long period of time. In 2018, growth was determined by both favorable domestic developments and continued growth despite 

the slowdown in the European economy. The most significant development in the Greek economy concerns  successful 

completion of the last three-year economic adjustment program in August 2018, which has positively influenced consumer 

confidence, business expectations and liquidity.    

In 2018 the Greek economy growth was based on: a) the increase in exports of goods and services; and b) the increase in 

private consumption, supported by the increase in nominal household disposable income through the increase in employment. 

Exporting manufacturing industries kept their dynamics and overall industrial output increased, while the real estate market 

showed signs of stabilization. However, despite these positive signs, growth dynamics has not yet been established, as evidenced 

by the negative rate of change in investments, the negative saving rate on household disposable income and the still high, albeit 

declining, unemployment rate. Also, the continuing cut in the Public Investment Program does not provide assurance on the 

Greek Economy’s growth dynamics.  

Regular implementation and completion of the economic adjustment program, the improvement of confidence and the resulting 

acceleration of growth in 2018 led to the return of deposits to banks. Despite the fact that no new Economic Adjustment 

Program has been concluded, the Greek government is committed to the Medium-Term Financial Implementation Framework 

2019-2022 for the implementation of fiscal measures and the achievement of certain targets in relation to the primary general 

government surplus. At the same time, an extensive reform plan has been set up by 2021. Achieving budgetary targets and 

implementing reforms are the most important challenges in the post-programming period as they are controlled by the European 

Commission's strengthened supervision process.  

Generating cash buffer of € 24.1 billion is sufficient to refinance the public debt until almost the end of the first half of 2020. Any 

deviations from the above, structural reforms, prevent confidence in the economic policy being implemented and hamper the 

Greek state's access to capital markets in sustainable conditions for refinancing the overall debt. It should also be noted that the 

Greek government capital reserve does not guarantee access to finance for the private sector.    

Α. Greek Economy  
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Regarding the socio-economic environment and economic policy, the next year's (2019) effect of successive electoral processes is 

expected to be significant. The election period and the announcements of the parties concerning fiscal measures, e.g. tax 

benefits, benefits, recruitment etc. change the expectations of economic units, while at the same time creating uncertainty about 

the stability of the parameters of the tax system, the regulatory framework for entrepreneurship an so on. In the context of the 

aforementioned, the 2019 elections and, in anticipation of any changes in the economic policy being pursued by a new 

government, could hamper economic decision-making.  

Greek economy’s growth rate in 2019 will mainly depend on the course of the economy of the euro zone countries as well as on 

the course of the global economy. So far, the estimates, regarding the euro zone economy, predict economic growth will continue 

in 2019, but at a slower pace (1.1%), as there is already a significant decline compared to the high rates of previous years while 

prospects involve uncertainty. In 2019 the key growth factors in the Greek economy are private consumption and exports, which 

although estimated to increase, are expected to slow down. Private consumption will be supported by maintaining the positive 

course of tourism (despite the risks for the industry of the forthcoming BREXIT), the continued recovery of the labor market and 

the improvement of household disposable income, while investment will be strengthened by the real estate market stability. 

Negative factor is the slow down in the international and European economies’ growth rate.   

Α. Greek Economy  
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General issues: As indicated in the Bank of Greece Governor's report, developments in the Greek banking system in 2018 were 

determined by the strengthening of liquidity, the diversification of banks' sources of financing with increased access to the 

interbank market for collateral and hence the reduction of liquidity support (ECB and ELA) as well as maintaining capital 

adequacy ratios at a satisfactory level.  Also, the pan-European exercise of stress testing conducted in early 2018, involving the 

four Greek systemic banks, regarding their resilience to hypothetical shocks for the three years 2018-2020, revealed that Greek 

banks do not have a capital deficit. However, profitability was weak, as the increase in net income from non-interest-bearing 

operations was not enough to offset the decline in net interest income, while costs decrease was lower than in 2017.     
 

Liquidity: In 2018, the liquidity of the bank system has improved as a result of improving the climate of trust, repatriation of 

funds from abroad, easing capital control restrictions, the growth of GDP and the widespread use of electronic payment 

instruments. Domestic market deposits in 2018 changed as follows:   
 

General government deposits: In December 2018, general government deposits increased by Euro 1,601 million versus decrease 

of Euro 161 million in the previous month and the annual rate of change stood at 56.3% versus 10.8 % in the previous month.  
 

Private sector deposits: In December 2018, private sector deposits increased by € 3,151 million versus decrease of € 79 million in 

the previous month and the annual rate of change stood at 6.3% versus 5.9 % in the previous month.  

 Deposits from businesses: In December 2018, total business deposits increased by € 862 million versus decrease of € 140 

million in the previous month and the annual rate of change stood at 9.3% versus 5.0% last month. In particular, deposits of 

non-financial companies increased by € 1,175 million versus decrease of € 240 million in the previous month, while deposits 

from insurance companies and other financial institutions declined by € 312 million, versus increase of € 101 million in the 

previous month.   

 Household and Private Non-Profit Institutions: Deposits of households and private non-profit institutions increased by € 

2,288 million versus increase of € 60 million in the previous month and the annual rate of change to 5.6% versus 6.1% in the 

previous month.  

 

Β. Greek Banking System   
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In addition, in 2018 the Greek financial institutions' dependence on the Eurosystem (ECB and ELA) financing facility for extra 

liquidity continued to decline. In particular, funding declined gradually in 2018, with a result of Euro 947 million in December from 

Euro 33.7 billion in December 2017.   
 

NPLs management: Effective NPLs management constitutes a substantial challenge and an important task, so that the banks could 

improve the economic environment. The obligation of banks to achieve the defined objectives, in combination with the new 

institutional framework associated with, inter alia, creation of a secondary NPLs market, expediting court procedures and easing 

the guarantees realization should be of positive assistance to the banks in achieving a gradual decline in the proportion of non-

performing loans.   

Banks have achieved significant progress in reducing their non-performing exposures. Non-performing exposures (NPEs) stood at 

Euro 81.8 billion at the end of December 2018, decreased by approximately Euro 12.7 billion compared to the end of December 

2017 by approximately Euro 25.4 billion (i.e. more than 23 %) versus March 2016, when the highest NPE level was recorded. The 

decrease in NPE inventories during 2018 caused mainly due to write-offs (Euro 5.9 billion) and sales (Euro 5.8 billion) of non-

performing loans. Improvements are also generated by liquidation collections, as electronic auctions produce the first results. 

However, the total amount recovered from banks this way remains low. Overall, despite improvements in the financial and 

institutional environment, recoveries through active NPE management remain limited.   

In total, and based on trends observed over the last two years, the decrease rate of NPEs although improved, is not sufficient to 

achieve a significant de-escalation of their balance soon. Greek banks have already submitted revised business targets for NPEs, 

covering the period up to 2021. In the forthcoming period, loan sales, loan recoveries, liquidity of collaterals and successful loan 

restructuring are expected to increase the percentage of NPEs decrease to around 20% or less by 2021. On this basis, other 

solutions should be considered to facilitate the transfer of non-performing exposures from bank balance sheets to other entities, for 

example in a central asset management company, without creating additional financial risks and having taken into account 

contingent impact on banks’ equity. In this context, the Bank of Greece, in its recent Review of the Greek Financial System, 

presented its proposal for the development of a Special Purpose Vehicle that will absorb non-performing loans of approximately € 

40 billion, with the use of a deferred tax amounting to € 7.5 billion. 

Β. Greek Banking System  
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Capital adequacy: The provisions of Unit F, Law 4261/2014 incorporate Directive 2013/36/EU of the European Parliament and 

Council issued as at June 26, 2013 on capital buffers that credit institutions are required to maintain. The relevant legislation 

entails increased capital needs, in accordance with the transitional provisions of Article 165, Law 4261/2014. In particular, 

starting from 1.1.2016, the institutions shall maintain, in addition to the Common Equity Tier 1 capital, in accordance with the 

provisions of Article 92 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013, "levels of liquidity buffers", which will gradually increase to 2.5% at 

31.12.2019, as well as a "special countercyclical capital buffer“.   

In accordance with the Bank of Greece Interim Report on Monetary Policy 2018, as at 20.12.2018, and capital adequacy, the 

Common Equity Tier 1 (CET1) and the Capital Adequacy Indicator on a consolidated basis remain at a satisfactory level (15.6% 

and 16.2% respectively at the end of September 2018). As part of the stress test  conducted earlier this year, no capital gap was 

found in four systemic Greek banks. The results per bank are assessed by the Single Supervisory Mechanism through supervisory 

and evaluation process in the context of Pillar II requirements. The purpose of the stress test was to assess the banks resilience to 

economic and financial disturbances for the three-year period 2018-2020, by reference to the sizes as at 31st December 2017, 

adjusted according to the provisions of International Financial Reporting Standard 9 (IFRS 9).   
 

Implementation of IFRS 9: IFRS 9 introduces expected credit losses model (ECL). The measurement of expected credit losses 

requires the use of complex models as well as a significant number of estimates and assumptions regarding future economic 

conditions and possible reactions of borrowers. On October 25th, 2017, a political agreement was reached between the 

European Parliament, the European Council and the European Commission on the proposal for a Regulation of the European 

Parliament and of the Council amending Regulation (EC) 575/2013 regarding the transition period in order to mitigate the 

impact of implementation IFRS 9 on regulatory capital. Regulation (2395/2017) was approved by the European Parliament and 

the Council and published in the Official Journal of the European Union on December 12th 2017.  

According to the transitional provisions, banks may, from the first date of application of IFRS 9 and for a period of five years, 

add to the CET1 index the post-tax amount of the balances in provisions, arising from the transition to the new IFRS 9 in relation 

to the provisions that would have been recognized on 31.12.2017 according to IAS 39 (phase-in approach). The amount of the 

balances in provisions, added to the ratio, shall be annually reduced, based on risk weight, so that the amount of the provisions 

added to the ratio, will gradually decrease until the full absorption of the impact arising from the application of IFRS 9 following 

the end of the five year period (phase-in).   

Β. Greek Banking System  
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Participation in the Bond Exchange Program: The Bank participated in the exchange of securities on the basis of the public Bond 

Exchange Program of 29th November 2017 by the National Treasury Management Agency (NTMA). The Bank exchanged the 

entire position in European Financial Stability Fund (EFSF) floating rate bonds of a nominal value of € 13.2 million with fixed rate 

EFSF bonds of almost equal nominal value. The new Bonds were sold in December 2017 and January 2018, with the Bank 

increasing its liquidity by € 12.7 million.   
 

IFRS 9 implementation: The Bank proceeded with full implementation of IFRS 9 on 1.1.2018, without re-adjusting the 

comparative data and the transitional disclosures as at the transition date. Consequently, the comparative amounts of the Bank 

for 2017 are presented in accordance with IAS 39.  

The Bank has decided to apply the phase-in approach in accordance with EU Regulation 2017/2395 in order to mitigate the 

impact of first implementation of IFRS 9 on regulatory capital. According to the above Regulation, the transitional period is of 

five year duration, while the impact percentage be added is 5% for 2018 and 15%, 30%, 50% and 75% for the following four 

years. The full impact on regulatory capital due to the initial application of IFRS 9 is expected to be recorded on January 1, 2023.  

Impact of transition to IFRS 9, before taxes on January 1, 2018, stood at € 84.94 million and relates to provisions on anticipated 

loan losses in the loan portfolio. Similarly, the decrease in the Bank's equity at that date stood at Euro 60.35 million due to the 

positive deferred tax impact. 

 

 

C. Pancretan Bank (Significant Events and Issues) 
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New Corporate Identity: On 20 June 2018, at a special ceremony held in Heraklion, the Bank's management presented the new 

Corporate Identity of Pancretan Bank to entrepreneurs-customers.  

A key element of the renewed corporate identity is the new logo, spiral links joined into bands, a symbol inspired by the Minoan 

Civilization that is fully identical to the principles and values of the Bank. The design of three consecutive coils of the new logo, 

painted in the colors of the land of Minoas, record the continuous movement and flexibility while their emphasis reflects the 

Bank's determination to support every effort of development. "Support to a changing world" is the new slogan on which the logo 

focuses and which will from now on accompany the vision, the daily operation and the philosophy of the Bank in its cooperation 

with businesses, individuals, farmers and households.    

The described rebranding marks the beginning of a new era with Pancretan Bank implementing major modernization and 

development projects by investing in technological equipment, systems and applications, while reforming its organizational 

structure according to the principles of modern corporate governance. At the same time, it expands and improves its products 

and services by adapting it to the needs of its customers as they are shaped by market demands. In this context, it creates a 

Treasury, a new electronic banking platform and mobile banking, a new website and sophisticated customer driven systems.     

 

Another element of a broader change to the corporate identity includes launching a new branch, already operating in the center 

of Athens, at Syntagma Square, with emphasis on digital technology. The branch is aimed at achieving gradual familiarization of 

the clients  with the modern banking experience channels.  

C. Pancretan Bank (Significant Events and Issues) 



21 PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual financial statements for the year 2018  

On 22 June 2018, Moody's International Credit Rating House, first attributed a credit rating to Pancretan Bank. It is noted that 

Moody's evaluates and assigns Ratings to systemic banks for a period of more than twenty years. According to the relevant 

announcement of the Agency, Pancretan Bank acquires Rating Caa2 and thus is ranked in the same way as the four Greek 

Systemic Banks, with Stable Outlook. In this evaluation, the Agency identifies the following strong and weak credit points:  

 

Strong credit points:  

 Healthy financial profile among competitors without ELA dependence. 

 Constant customer base in Crete, which ensures a loyal market for the Bank which supports its profitability but with relatively 

low geographical diversification of revenues. However, referring to the challenges faced by the Bank, Moody's focuses on the 

fact that its network is mainly located in Crete, thus limiting the geographic diversification and dispersion of its profitability.   

Weak credit points:  

 Continuing economic challenges in Greece which affect the Bank's performance. 

 Non Performing Exposures (NPEs) 

 The amount of deferred tax liabilities (DTAs) in regulatory capital.   

 

Cooperation with the European Investment Fund (EIF): In July 2018, an agreement, amounting Euro 50 million, was signed 

between the Pancretan Bank and the European Investment Fund (EIF) under the COSME Loan Guarantee Facility. The objective 

of the agreement is to provide guarantees through the Fund on loans to small and medium-sized enterprises in order to support 

initiatives that enhance their competitiveness. The program is addressed to entities from of all key business sectors. Eligible are 

small to medium-sized businesses employing up to 250 employees with a turnover up to Euro 50 million or assets up to Euro 43 

million.  

For each funded entity, it ensures:   

 Loan to cover working capital needs or funds to finance investments (fixed and intangible assets) 

 50% loan collaterals from the EIF  

 

The financing varies from € 25,000 to € 150,000, depending on the needs, financial details and the size of the investment plan 

of the business and is provided with low collateral. The aforementioned agreement is expected to allow unimpeded financing of 

the economy by injecting funds of € 50 million in 3 years period, while a competitive rate and limited collateral requirements will 

enable healthy SMEs to obtain access to the required financing enhancing their competitiveness.    

C. Pancretan Bank (Significant Events and Issues) 
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 Increase in cooperative capital and subordinated bond loan issue: On 31.12.2018 the Bank, despite the adverse economic 

climate, successfully completed, in accordance with the invitation of 19 November 2018: a) the increase of its cooperative share 

capital by Euro  4.065.464,00 (of which Euro 300 k was paid in the first quarter of 2019) and b) the issue of a subordinated 

bond loan amounting to Euro 9.400.000. These amounts significantly strengthened the capital adequacy ratio as well as the 

bank’s liquidity.  

 

Liquidity: Bank liquidity improved due to "recapitalization" and capital restrictions, while private deposits increased significantly. 

The Bank continues to have access to E.L.A., in accordance with the provisions determined each time by the European Central 

Bank and maintains a substantial reserve of safeguards that can be allocated for finance in case of need. As at 31.12.2018, the 

Bank records zero dependence on E.L.A.   

C. Pancretan Bank (Significant Events and Issues) 
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Assets: Total assets increased by € 104.45 million, due to the increase in cash available, as a consequence of the increase in 

deposits and despite the recognition of additional provisions of € 84.94 million due to implementation of IFRS 9. The increase in 

deferred tax assets is also due to the implementation of IFRS 9.    

D. Financial Sizes and Performance in 2018   

Loans: Total loans amounted to € 1.51 million at the end of December 2018, presenting a decrease of 5.42%, mainly due to late 

loans write-offs. The accumulated provisions stood at € 370.95 million versus € 373.8 million as at 31.12.2017, recording a 

decrease of 0,77%, while the coverage ratio of total debt stood at 24.53% versus 23.38% last year. Final delays amounted to € 

357.5 million or 23.64% of the loan portfolio. At the end of December 2018, NPL ratio regarding delays in excess of 90 days to 

total loans stood at 34.63%. Arrears coverage ratio regarding delays in excess of 90 days from cumulative provisions stood at 

70.83% versus 59.07% last year due to additional provisions in accordance with IFRS 9. Moreover, the value of collateral 

increased and reached 68.79% of the value of loans.    

€ / % %

Total assets              1.576.227.216              1.471.774.531                      104.452.685 7,10%

Cash and balances with Central Bank                  246.494.869                    90.893.011                      155.601.858 171,19%

Loans and other trade receivables              1.512.413.437              1.599.060.179                     (86.646.741) -5,42%

Provisions for doubtful loans                  370.951.065                  373.815.152                       (2.864.087) -0,77%
Deferred tax assets                    69.628.347                    49.939.034                        19.689.313 39,43%

Other Assets                  118.641.628                  105.697.459                       12.944.169 12,25%

Change 
31.12.2018 31.12.2017Account / Index

31.12.2018 31.12.2017 € / % %

Loans  and other trade receivables        1.512.413.437         1.599.060.179               (86.646.741) -5,42%

Provis ions  for doubtful  loans            370.951.065            373.815.152                 (2.864.087) -0,77%

Loans  coverage va lue         1.040.372.558         1.058.173.038              (17.800.480) -1,68%

Non-performing loans  (NPLs) (delayed > 90 days )           523.705.459            632.782.600            (109.077.141) -17,24%

Final  delays           357.513.231            402.234.617              (44.721.386) -11,12%

NPEs           919.933.863            984.581.070              (64.647.207) -6,57%

Post-dated loans  (%) 34,63% 39,57% -4,95% -12,50%

Final  delays  / Loans 23,64% 25,15% -1,52% -6,03%

NPEs  / loans 60,83% 61,57% -0,75% -1,21%

Provis ions  for doubtful  loans  / 
Loans  and advances  to customers

24,53% 23,38% 1,15% 4,92%

Provis ions  / Post-dated loans 70,83% 59,07% 11,76% 19,90%

Coverag odf Non-performing exposures  (NPEs) 40,32% 37,97% 2,36% 6,21%

Coverage / Loans  and advances  to customers 68,79% 66,17% 2,61% 3,95%

Coverage + Provis ions  for doubtful  loans  /
 Loans  and advances  to customers

93,32% 89,55% 3,76% 4,20%

Account / Index
Change From January 1st  to
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Equity: The Bank Equity as at 31.12.2018 amounted to € 74.41 million versus € 120.28 million in the previous year, due to the 

adverse effect by implementing IFRS 9 and the positive effect of the share capital increase and the results (profits) of the year. 

As the phase-in approach implemented see para 2.2) the capital adequacy ratio improved to 14.03% from 12.39% shaping 

capital surplus of € 26.8 million versus minimal regulatory ratio of 11.855%.    

D. Financial Sizes and Performance in 2018  

Labilities: Deposits amounted to € 1.257 million presenting an increase of 12.69% compared to those recorded on 31.12.2017, 

thus forming loan to deposit ratio at 120.26%. This ratio has improved versus 31.12.2017, as a consequence of stabilization of the 

deposit base and increased number of bank transactions. It is to be noted that the Bank has fully stopped financing through ELA 

since 2017. Τhe cost of deposits show signs of stabilization with the average cost of deposits and the similar interest bearing 

liabilities standing at 1.88% versus 1.90% recorded in 2017.     

Financial Results: Net income from interest stood at € 34.62 million versus € 31.4 million due to the improvement in the interest 

margin, standing at 1.66% versus 1.50%. Net commission income stood at € 5.5 million, presenting an increase of 7.48% versus 

last year. The Bank’s operating expenses stood at € 23.76 million, recording an increase of 18% versus previous year. Provisions 

for credit risk coverage decreased and stood at € 1.39 million versus € 10.0 million in 2017. Tax expenses (deferred tax) stand at 

€ 4.94 million, mainly as a result of write-offs of loans that fall to paragraph 3 of Article 27 of Law 4172/2013. Earnings before 

taxes amounted to € 15.4 million compared to € 14.9 million in the previous year presenting an increase of 3.31%. In 2018, profit 

before tax and provisions amounted to € 16.8 million, thus safeguarding the Bank capital and covering credit losses arising from 

provisions and write-offs of loans.   

€ / % %

Deposits             1.257.596.333              1.115.952.103                     141.644.230 12,69%

Credit securities                   47.819.770                    38.366.259                          9.453.511 24,64%
Loans and advances to customers / Deposits 120,26% 143,29% -23,03% -16,07%

Average interest rate of deposits 1,88% 1,90% -0,02% -1,05%

Change 
31.12.2018 31.12.2017Account / Index

€ / % %

Tota l  equity             74.411.021            120.281.331              (45.870.310) -38,14%

Tota l  Capi ta l  Ratio   14,032% 12,388% 1,64% 13,27%

Cooperative shares                7.855.395                7.341.621                (7.341.621) -100,00%

Members                    85.345                     84.438                            907 1,07%

Change 
31.12.2018 31.12.2017Account / Index
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D. Financial Sizes and Performance in 2018  

31.12.2018 31.12.2017 € / % %

Revenues  from interests             60.620.134              55.793.714                  4.826.420 8,65%

Net revenues  from interests             34.618.749              31.419.611                  3.199.139 10,18%

Net revenues  from commiss ions                5.535.492                5.150.138                     385.354 7,48%

Operating expenses             23.765.753              20.142.315                  3.623.438 17,99%

Net Operating revenues             40.154.241              36.569.748                  3.584.493 9,80%

Provis ions  for doubtful  loans               1.388.019              10.000.000                (8.611.981) -86,12%

Deferred Income Tax               4.941.982                4.184.095                     757.887 18,11%

Profi t/Loss  before tax             15.404.080              14.911.079                     493.001 3,31%

Profi t/Loss  after tax             10.462.098              10.602.584                   (140.486) -1,33%

Profi t/Loss  before tax & provis ions  for doubtful  loans             16.792.099              24.911.079                (8.118.980) -32,59%

Average loans ' interest rate 3,54% 3,40% 0,14% 4,12%

Average depos i ts ' interest rate 1,88% 1,90% -0,02% -1,05%

Interest rate margin 1,66% 1,50% 0,16% 10,67%

Net Interest Margin 2,58% 2,48% 0,10% 4,16%

Account / Index
Change From January 1st  to
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E. Risk Management 

The Bank places particular emphasis on assessing and monitoring the risks to which it is exposed. This task has been assigned to 

the Risk Management Division (RMD) that has developed modern methodologies and models for the purposes of assessing risk 

exposure. The Bank is in full compliance with the new regulatory framework under the Directive 2013/36/EC and the Regulation 

of EC 575/2013 which gradually introduce Basel III regulations. Directive 2013/36/EC was incorporated into Greek legislation 

under Law 4261/2014, which sets new banks operating framework, abolishing Law 3601/2007. 

Under the credit risk assessment framework, creditworthiness of borrowers is assessed through a modern evaluation system, 

which is taken into account during the approval procedure. Moreover, the RMD estimates the minimum capital requirements in 

respect of the credit risk and conducts periodic stress tests, providing estimates of the size of financial losses that could occur 

under the potentially extreme conditions. 

Apart from assessing the capital requirements as far as the credit risk is concerned, Management also monitors and evaluates all 

the risks to which the Bank is exposed and calculates the minimum capital requirements. Regarding liquidity risk, special Policy 

and Liquidity Crisis Management Scheme have been established and key liquidity indicators are systematically monitored. 

Moreover, in compliance with the risk concentration assessment, the Bank's risk exposure is also calculated per bank operation 

and per bank client. 

Finally, the Management estimates the Bank's exposure to operational and interest rate risk. As far as the market risk is 

concerned, it is to be noted that the volume of trade portfolio transactions is usually under 5% of total assets and € 15 million 

and never exceeds 6% of total assets and € 20 million. Therefore, according to the regulatory framework, capital requirements 

for market risk are embedded in credit risk and are not separately calculated. 

In line with the evaluation, approval and granting of loans, special attention is paid to the non-performing exposures, the 

reduction in which constitutes the key priority of the Bank.  

Financial risks faced by the Bank are presented in Note 4 to the Financial Statements. 
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E. Risk Management 

The fiscal conditions in Greece still constitute a risk factor to the Greek bank segment in general. Any negative developments in 

this area would affect the Bank's liquidity, the quality of its loan portfolio,  performance and capital adequacy.  

Furthermore, given the significant contribution of deferred tax to regulatory capital, the risk associated with DTA & DTC is 

relevant and relates to future tax rates and potentially adverse change in the legal and regulatory framework governing the 

handling of deferred tax assets in regulatory capital.  
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F. Prospects for the Future 

On June 20, 2018, at a special ceremony held in Heraklion, the management of the Bank presented to the business customers 

the new corporate identity of the Pancretan Bank. This rebranding marks the beginning of a new era with the Pancretan Bank to 

implement important modernization and development projects by investing in technological equipment, systems and applications 

while at the same time reforming its organizational structure according to the principles of modern corporate governance. At the 

same time, the Bank expands and improves its products and services by adapting the needs of its customers as they are shaped 

by market demands. Within the framework of the Bank, Treasury has developed a new eBanking and Mobile banking platform, 

as well as a new website and sophisticated customer-centric systems. 

On 22 June 2018, this new corporate identity was framed in the best possible way when, the Moody's International Credit Rating 

Agency, which evaluates and assigns Ratings to Systemic Banks over a period of twenty years, has first attributed a credit rating 

to Pancretan Bank. Pancretan Bank received Rating Caa2 accompanied with Stable Outlook.   

The Management, taking into account the Bank's new dynamics and despite the adverse economic climate, successfully 

completed on 31.12.2018, in accordance with the invitation as at 19 November 2018: a) the increase of its cooperative capital, 

amounting to Euro 4.065.464,00 (of which Euro 300 k was paid in the first quarter of 2019) and b) the issue of a subordinated 

bond loan amounting to Euro 9,400,000. This action further strengthened the bank's liquidity by improving the total capital 

adequacy ratio to approximately one (1) pp. 

The following objectives have been set for the financial year 2018:   

 Implementation of the Bank's Business Plan, whose main pillars include: a) effective management of delays in order to reduce 

NPEs by 50% in the next 3 years; b) improvement of the net interest margin, c) improvement of the Bank's capital adequacy, 

d) increase of loans and e) gradual consolidation of the loan portfolio and full coverage with accounting provisions 

according to IFRS 9, as well as the loan sale to NPL Servicers. 

 Improvement of the Bank's IT applications. 

 Further upgrading and expanding e-banking and use of POS by the clients. 

 Capitalization of the assessment model of expected credit losses in the management of NPEs 

 Establishing treasury department. 

 Adequate financing of the local economy and rendering services to the shareholders. 

 Expanding cooperation with the European Bank and the European Investment Fund to facilitate adequate financing of the 

local economy.  
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F. Prospects for the Future 

 Completing  the Jessica program to build infrastructure in the Region of Crete. 

 Maintaining a balanced growth rate between deposits and loans. 

 Achieving satisfactory liquidity through deposits and co-operations with other financial institutions. 

 Complete centralization of work, while maintaining flexibility and ongoing upgrading the quality of service and customer 

service.  

 Reduction of operating costs 

G. Non-financial information   

Business model: “Pancretan Cooperative Bank” was established in 1993. Its objective is the creation of corporate value and the 

financial prosperity of its members. It constitutes the largest cooperative bank in Greece with more than 85.000 stakeholders.    

It has an extended network of customer service with 45 

branches in Crete, 52 branches domestically (apart from Crete, 

in Athens, Thessaloniki and Milos) and 9 more independent 

service points (ATMs). “Pancretan Cooperative Bank” has an 

intense local character, as it holds significant market shares in 

Crete and especially in Heraklion, but it aims at strategic 

development of branches in the entire domestic market as well. 

Through its operation, the Bank supports the professionals for 

the development of their businesses, as well as new 

businessmen in their business efforts.  

Participation in joint development projects, aiming at the exploitation of European and National programs, participation in joint 

ventures that aim at strengthening local development and entrepreneurship and the creation of an organizational framework for 

free counseling, information and support to its clients, differentiate Pancretan Bank  from the rest of the banking system and 

justify its role and existence as a successful enterprise of the social economy.   
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G. Non-financial information  

Environment: The Bank applies environmentally responsible guidelines in its operational structures with the objective of reducing 

the PEF and especially the policies which aim at decreasing the energy and paper consumption and the enhancement of 

recycling programs of accumulators, electronic devices and paper. The Bank also has a firm commitment to expanding e-

commerce and encourages its customers and staff towards this direction.   
 

Community policy: The Bank supports various programs of communal objective, events and initiatives related to education, 

protection of the environment, culture, sports and the work of Non-Government-Organizations. 

The contribution of the Bank is focused mainly on development of cooperation, exchange of information, resources and skills. At 

the same time it supports less privileged social groups, promotes culture and sports, protects the environment and promotes 

equal opportunities for education in a wide variety of sectors. In this context the Bank devoted the amount of € 112.4 k to 

donations, sponsorships and loans regarding various social organizations and provided its conference room for free to culture, 

social and non-profit organizations, Legal Entities of Public Law (as analysed in the following chapter). 
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G. Non-financial information  

Moreover, the Bank has developed an online portal for the purposes of providing information regarding economic and 

development incentives to OTAs, SMEs and Cooperatives as well as to primary sector producers and organizations.   
 

Labor issues:  

On 31.12.2018 the Bank employed 431 people while the cost of payroll and other benefits for the year 2018, including insurance 

contributions, amounted to approximately € 14.7 million. 

The Bank responsibly applies the following policies regarding Human Resources:   

 Healthcare and safety 

 Selection of staff, recruitment procedures, avoiding discriminations in the working place 

 On-going training of employees 

 Recognizing the right of holding collective negotiation 

 Providing fair payments, based on the agreements in line with those effective at the national labor market 

 Development of evaluation & assessment systems 
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Η. Information under Article 6, Law 4374/2016 

N/N Receiver of payments € ΑN/NΑ Receiver of payments €

1 CICERO S.A. 277.447                   22 A. MYKONIATIS S.A. 3.600                 
2 IKAROS RADIO-TV ENTERPRISE S.A. 45.032                     23 FREED S.A. 2.000                 
3 PAGRITIA RADIO-TELEVISION S.A. 27.653                     24 SBD P.C. 2.000                 
4 BANKINGNEWS  S.A. 24.000                     25 CRETAPOST P.C. 1.500                 
5 V.SKOUTARAS S.A. 20.500                     26 SYLLIGARDOS KONSTANTINOS 1.500                 
6 FILELEFTHEROS PUBLISHING S.A. 19.500                     27 CHANIOTIKA NEA EKDOTIKI EKTYPOTIKI S.A. 1.466                 
7 ATHENS - MACEDONIAN NEWS AGENCY  S.A. 18.000                     28 NINOS & CO LTD 1.200                 
8 CAPITAL.GR S.A. 17.083                     29 ICAP GROUP S.A. 1.100                 
9 NEO XRIMA PUBLISHMENTS S.A. 16.000                     30 CRETA GRAFOTECHNIKI S.A. 1.008                 

10 MONONEWS M. I.K.E. 15.500                     31 WALL STREET P.C. 1.000                 
11 MEDIA2DAY S.A. 15.000                     32 CRETA COMMUNICATIONS LTD 1.000                 
12 24 MEDIA S.A. 14.000                     33 TSAGARAKI MARIA 900                     
13 P. ATHANASIADIS & CO S.A. 8.000                        34 KANTARTZOGLOU STYLIANI 875                     
14 KYKLOS S.A. 7.927                        35 CRETA RADIO-TELEVISION S.A. 875                     
15 LIQUID MEDIA S.A. 7.500                        36 KAPSALAKIS STYLIANOS 833                     
16 PREMIUM S.A. 7.500                        37 AGGELLAKI KYRIAKI 700                     
17 CRETALIVE LLC 7.000                        38 ZACHARIOUDAKIS STYLIANOS 540                     
18 GREEN BOX EKDOTIKI S.A. 6.000                        39 KALAITZAKIS S.A. 500                     
19 P.D. EKDOSEIS LTD 5.000                        40 FANOURAKIS ELEFTHERIOS 500                     
20 RETHYMNO TELEVISION S.A. 4.928                        41 KOZYRI KAL. - KOZYRIS OEE 490                     
21 MARATHON PRESS P.C. 4.000                        

Subtotal                     567.571 Total               591.158 

Payments for advertising and promotion to individuals or/and legal entities (Amounts in Euro) 

Pursuant to the provisions of article 6 of Law 4374/2016 "Transparency in the relations of credit institutions with enterprises of 

mass media and subsidized people", the Bank is obliged to provide an analysis for the following information and data:   

Payments for the period 2018 for advertising and promotion purposes to individuals / legal entities which: 

i.  have direct or indirect recipient: 

            a. mass media enterprises, 

            b. electronic media enterprises, 

            c. other entity related to the aforementioned enterprises based on Article 42e (5) of CL. 2190/1920 or in accordance to 

 International Accounting Standard 24 or 

ii. have direct or indirect recipient an advertising and communication business, which concerns further payments to enterprises of 

a. case above.  
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I. Related Parties Transactions  

All the transactions with related parties are carried out within the usual course of the Bank's operations under market conditions. 

Further analysis is provided in Note 34 to the Financial Statements.   

S/N Recipients € S/N Recipients €

1  AID TO PEOPLE DAMAGED IN ATTICA FIRE 50000 12 ASSOCIATION FOR CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES  1855
2 ARCHANES GIOUCHTA ATHLETIC GROUP 30000 13 SPECIAL RESEARCH ITEM ACCOUNT 1300
3 PAE OFI 1925 15000 14 APOLLON MUSIC ASSOCIATION 1000
4 ECONOMIC CHAMBER OF GREECE 4000 15 KOUDOUMA MONASTERY 1000
5 ATSALENIOS PANATHLETIC GROUP 4000 16 MYKONIATIS CONGRESS OF NUCLEAR MEDICINE 1000
6 HRAKLEION MUNICIPALITY 3487 17 CHURCH OF PANAGIA KALIVIANI 1000
7 E.S.I.E.A CULTURAL FOUNDATION 3000 18 VENIZELIO HOSPITAL EMPLOYEES SYNDICATE 1000
8 CRETA PERFECTURE EMPLOYEES SYNDICATE 2500 19 HERAKLEION MEDICINE ASSOCIATION 500
9 FOUNDATION FOR RESEARCH AND TECHNOLOGY 2000 20 ARKALOCHORI SPORTS FAN GROUP 400

10 ASSOCIATION FOR CHILDREN WITH DISABILITIES "O AGIOS SPYRIDON" 2000 21 ANO MOYLLIA CULTURAL FOUNDATION 400
11 ASSOCIATION DIKAIOMATA STI ZOI 2000

 Sub total              117.987 Total          127.443 

Payments which are performed during the financial year for donation, sponsorship, subsidy or for any  other case as a gift, to individuals or legal entities. 
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Attachment Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)  

In the context of implementing the Guidelines on Alternative Performance Measures of the European Securities and Markets 

Authority (ESMA) in respect of Alternative Performance Measures (APMs), the following table presents analytical descriptions of 

definition and calculation of the relevant APMs, which are included in the Board of Directors Annual Report 2018, as well as in 

the Notes to the Annual Financial Report. 

Measure Definition

Loans Year end loans  and advances  to cl ients  

Deposits Year end l iabi l i ties  to cl ients  

Accumulated provisions for credit risk Year end cumulative impairment provis ions  for loans  

Non-performing loans Year end loans  and receivables  from cl ients  delayed >90 days  

According to the defini tions of the European Banking Authori ty (ΕΒΑ, ITS Technica l
Standards), non-performing exposures  are those that meet ei ther or both conditions :

a) Signi ficant exposures  delayed over 90 days

b) Unsecured tota l  uncol lectible receivables  without col latera l , i rrespective of the 
exis tence of a  delayed or number of delayed days  

Final delays 
Loans that according to the Bank’s estimates wi l l become non-performing at the year
end

Interest bearing assets 
Average period beginning and end for cash and cash avai lable Centra l Banks ,
receivables  from financia l  ins ti tutions  and loans  and receivables  from cl ients  

Common shares (CET1)
CET 1 at year end as defined in the Regulation (EU) 575/2013, with gradual
implementation of i ts  provis ions  to weighed assets

Total Capital Ratio   
Year end tota l capi ta l , as defined in the Regulation (EU) 575/2013, with gradual
implementation of i ts  provis ions  to weighed assets  

Non-performing exposures (NPEs)
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Attachment Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)  

Measure Definition

Operating expenses 
Personnel fees and expenses plus genera l adminis trative and other operating
expenses plus depreciation of tangible fixed assets and amortization of intangible
assets  for the period 

Organizational expenses Net income from interest plus  net income from commiss ion for the period 

Loans / Deposits 
Loans and advances to cl ients before accumulated provis ions for credi t ri sk to
l iabi l i ties  to cl ients  at the end of the period 

Non-performing Loans (delayed  >90 days)
Loans and advances to cl ients delayed over 90 days to loans and advances to cl ients
before accumulated provis ions  for credi t ri sk at the end of the period 

Non-performing exposures (NPEs) 
NPEs to loans and advances to cl ients before accumulated provis ions for credi t ri sk at
the end of the period 

Coverage of non-performing loans (delayed  >90 
days)

Accumulated provis ions for credi t ri sk to loans and advances to cl ients delayed >90
days  at the end of the period 

Coverage of non-performing exposures (NPEs) Accumulated provis ions  for credi t ri sk to NPEs  at the end of the period 

Final delays / Loans
Loans that according to the Bank’s estimates wi l l become non-performing to loans and
advances to cl ients before accumulated provis ions for credi t ri sk at the end of the
period 

Provisions / Loans 
Accumulated provis ions for credi t ri sk to loans and advances to cl ients before
accumulated provis ions  for credi t ri sk at the end of the period  

Coverage / Loans  
Value of coverage to loans and advances to cl ients before cumulated provis ions for
credi t ri sk for the end of the period

Coverage and provisions / Loans  
Value of coverage and cumulated provis ions for credi t ri sk to loans and advances to
cl ients  before cumulative provis ions  for credi t ri sk at the end of the period 
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Attachment Alternative Performance Measures (APMs)  

Heraklion, April 22, 2019 

Designees
The Chairman of the BoD 

Assigned members of the BoD 

Nikolaos Myrtakis Antonios Vasilakis Georgios Kourletakis 

Measure Definition

Average interest rate on loans  
Interest and s imi lar income for the period to average (on a dai ly bas is ) of loans and
other interest bearing assets

Average interest rate on deposits
Interest and s imi lar expenses for the period to average (on a dai ly bas is ) of loans and
other interest bearing l iabi l i ties  

Interest margin Average interest rate on loans   less  average interest rate on depos i ts  for the period 

Margin effectiveness Interest bearing assets  by interest margin for the period 

Margin effectiveness/ Net income from interest Interest bearing assets  by interest margin to net income from interest for the period 

Net Interest Margin (NIM) Net interest income / Average interest-bearing assets  ba lance 

Cost / Revenue Operating expenses  to organizational  income for the period 

Organizational profit before provisions Organizational  revenue less  operating expenses  for the period 
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D. Annual Financial Statements for the period 1.1.2018 – 31.12.2018 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

Amounts in € Note 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Assets

Cash and ba lances  with Centra l  Bank 15 246.494.869         90.893.011         

Due from credi t ins ti tutions 16 5.997.392             4.400.786           
Financia l  assets  at fa i r va lue through profi t and 
loss  

17 13.199.707           6.254.954           

Loans  and advances  to customers 18 1.512.413.437      1.599.060.179    

Less : Provis ions  for doubtful  loans  (370.951.065)        (373.815.152)      

Property, plant and equipment 19 21.028.624           20.284.770         

Investment property 20 15.667.000           15.667.000         

Intangible assets 21 2.246.862             1.371.826           

Deferred tax assets 22 69.628.347           49.939.034         

Other assets 23 47.072.621           45.844.768         

Foreclosed assets 24 13.429.421           11.873.355         

Total Assets 1.576.227.216      1.471.774.531    

Liabilities 

Due to Centra l  Banks 25 170.706.601         182.259.099       

Due to customers 26 1.257.596.333      1.115.952.103    

Credi t securi ties  and other loan l iabi l i ties  27 47.819.770           38.366.259         

Employee Benefi ts 28 2.388.162             2.139.748           

Other l iabi l i ties 29 23.305.328           12.775.991         

Total Liabilities 1.501.816.195      1.351.493.199    

Equity 

Cooperative share capi ta l  30 39.276.975           36.708.105         

Share premium 31 136.700.814         135.298.844       

Other reserves 32 71.099.104           71.098.147         

Reta ined earnings  33 (172.665.871)        (122.823.764)      

Total Equity 74.411.021           120.281.331       

Total Equity and Labilities 1.576.227.216      1.471.774.531    
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Amounts in € Note 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Interest and s imi lar Income 60.620.134               55.793.714          

Interest expense and s imi lar charges (26.001.384)             (24.374.103)         

Net interest income 5 34.618.749               31.419.611          

Fee and commiss ion income 10.281.153               9.913.878            

Commiss ion expense (4.745.661)               (4.763.741)           

Net fee and commission income 6 5.535.492                 5.150.138            

Dividend income 7 44.993                      59.239                 

Resul ts  of financia l  transactions 7 39.956                      161.912               

Other income 7 751.130                    495.633               

Total Income 40.990.321               37.286.532          

Staff costs 8 (14.672.542)             (13.007.418)         

Genera l  adminis trative expenses 9 (7.055.954)               (5.171.960)           

Depreciation and amortization 19, 20 , 21 (1.717.781)               (1.672.954)           

Other expenses 10 (319.477)                  (289.983)              

Total Operating Expenses (23.765.753)             (20.142.315)         
 

Credi t ri sk provis ions 11 (1.388.019)               (10.000.000)         

Reva luation ga ins  / impairment losses 12 (315.922)                  7.274.662            

Other non-operating resul ts 12 (116.546)                  492.200               

Profit / (loss) before tax 15.404.080               14.911.079          

Deferred tax 13 (4.941.982)               (4.184.095)           
Other tax expense 13 -                               (124.401)              
Profit / (loss) after tax 10.462.098               10.602.584          
Actuaria l  ga ins  (losses ) recognized in the s tatement 
of comprehens ive income 

13 -                               (114.608)              

Deferred tax recognized in in the s tatement of 
comprehens ive income  

13 -                               33.236                 

Profit/(loss) after income tax 10.462.098               10.521.212          

Net ga ins  after tax                10.462.098            10.521.212 

Weighted average number of  cooperative shares                  7.384.124              6.730.341 

Basic earnings per cooperative share 14                           1,42                       1,58 

Earnings  before tax and allowances for loans  16.792.099 24.911.079

From January 1st  to
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Amounts in €
Cooperative 

Share capital
Share premium

Statutory 
reserves

Fair value 
reserves 

Other reserves Retained earnings Total

 Balances at 31 December 2017, according to 
I.F.R.S.  

         36.708.105        135.298.844          15.105.153            1.853.591          54.139.403 (122.823.764)             120.281.331 

Effect of IFRS 9 application as at  1.1.2018 -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         (60.304.205)        (60.304.205)       

 Balances at 1 January 2018, according to I.F.R.S.           36.708.105        135.298.844          15.105.153            1.853.591          54.139.403       (183.127.969)          59.977.126 

Increase in  cooperative share capi ta l 2.568.870          1.541.322          -                         -                         957                    -                          4.111.149          

Corporate capi ta l  increase expenses   -                         (139.352)            -                         -                         -                         -                          (139.352)            

Tota l  comprehens ive income -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         10.462.098          10.462.098        

Balance of Equity at 31st of December 2018 39.276.975        136.700.814      15.105.153        1.853.591          54.140.360        (172.665.871)      74.411.021        

Ποσά σε €
Cooperative 

Share capital
Share premium

Statutory 
reserves

Fair value 
reserves 

Other reserves Retained earnings Total

Balances at 1 January 2017, according to I.F.R.S.           28.762.055        130.922.346          15.105.153            1.853.591          54.138.967 (133.344.976)               97.437.135 

Increase in  cooperative share capi ta l 7.946.050          4.767.630          -                         -                         436                    -                          12.714.116        

Corporate capi ta l  increase expenses   -                         (391.132)            -                         -                         -                         -                          (391.132)            

Tota l  comprehens ive income -                         -                         -                         -                         -                         10.521.212          10.521.212        

Balance of Equity at 31st of December 2017 36.708.105        135.298.844      15.105.153        1.853.591          54.139.403        (122.823.764)      120.281.331      

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY AS AT  31 DECEMBER 2018

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2017
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STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Operating Activities

Profi t / (loss ) before income tax 15.404.080                14.911.079          

Adjustments for:

Depreciation / impairment of fixed assets 1.387.706                  1.365.910            

Depreciation / impairment of intangible assets 330.075                     307.044               

Provis ions  for loans  and other impairments  1.388.019                  10.000.000          

Impairment of financia l  assets  at fa i r va lue through P&L 226.127                     (2.082.445)           

Other impairment ga ins  /(losses ) -                                 (1.794.039)           

Provis ions  for employee  benefi ts  248.414                     167.796               

Financia l  transactions  -                                 (3.560.089)           

Ga ins  / losses  from disposa l  of fixed assets 213.632                     (81.722)                

Other non-cash expenses  / (revenue) -                                 706                      

19.198.053                19.234.239          

Net (increase) / decrease in assets relating to operating activities

Loans  and advances  to customers (2.540.865)                 (5.787.918)           

Other assets (1.227.853)                 869.028               

Net increase / (decrease) in liabilities relating to operating activities

Due to Centra l  banks -                                 (71.000.000)         

Due to credi t ins ti tutions (11.552.498)               29.914.102          

Due to customers 141.644.230              70.108.848          

Other l iabi l i ties 10.529.338                272.372               

136.852.352              24.376.433          

Net cash flows from operating activities before taxes 156.050.405              43.610.672          

Income taxes  pa id -                                 (124.401)              

Net cash flows from operating activities 156.050.405              43.486.271          

Investing activities

Acquis i tion of financia l  assets  carried at fa i r va lue (10.090.660)               -                           

Acquis i tion of fixed and intangible assets (3.336.671)                 (985.601)              

Acquis i tion of foreclosed assets (1.769.698)                 (425.834)              

Proceeds  from disposa l  of financia l  assets  carried at fa i r va lue 2.919.780                  -                           
Proceeds  from disposa l  of financia l  ins truments  ava i lable for sa le and held 
to maturi ty

-                                 9.763.919            

Proceeds  from disposa l  of foreclosed assets -                                 374.580               

Net cash flows from investing activities (12.277.250)               8.727.064            

Financing Activities

Debt securi ties  i s suance and other borrowed funds 9.453.511                  57.397                 

Net change in share capi ta l 3.971.797                  12.322.984          

Net cash flows from financing activities 13.425.309                12.380.381          

Net increase/(decrease) in cash flows 157.198.464              64.593.716          

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 95.293.797                30.700.080          

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 252.492.261              95.293.797          

From January 1st, to
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PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK (hereafter, “The Bank”) was established in 1993 under the provisions of Law 1667/1986 

and received a Credit Institution operation license in accordance with the Act of the Governor of the Bank of Greece 

2306/19.5.1994. 

The Bank has (52) organizational units of which (45) are located in Crete, (4) in Attica, (2) in Thessaloniki and (1) in Milos. The 

Bank has a headcount of 431 staff and is the largest primary Cooperative Organization in the country with more than 85.000 

active Shareholders. 

The Bank operates in the following main areas:   

 issue of loans, 

 issue of guarantees and insurances 

 provision of techno-economic assistance and support for the development of its clients’ operations 

 provision of contracts for the benefit of its members, with financial institutions or undertakings, under the terms defined by 

the BoD, and 

 deposits.    

The Bank operates in Greece.   

Ε. Notes to the Financial Statements   

1. General information about the Bank   

2. Bases for the preparation of the annual Financial Statements 

The Bank issues the official financial statement in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), in the 

frame of the mandatory transition to this accounting framework as from 1.1.2015, in accordance with the provisions of Article 1, 

part. 3c, Law 4308/2014 “Greek GAAP, relevant regulations and other provisions”. The Financial Statements of the Bank  as of  

31.12.2018 have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 

International Accounting Standards Board as adopted by the European Union at the time of preparation of the current financial 

statements, while no Standards that have been applied prior to the date of their implementation. Potential differences between 

the amounts in the financial statements and the corresponding amounts in the Notes to the financial statements are due to 

rounding.    

The Financial Statements of the Bank have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for assets and liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss, as well as investment property and real estate property measured at fair value.    

2.1 General Information 
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2.2 Going concern principle  

The Financial Statements of the Bank were prepared based on the going concern principle, considered appropriate by the 

Bank, assessing the following:   

i. Reversal of the Greek economy’s adverse climate and return to positive growth rates 

ii. Operational profitability and satisfactory capital adequacy of the Bank 

iii. Improved liquidity level following the return of deposits and the successful increase in cooperative capital and bond 

issuance.  
 

Macroeconomic environment: As reported in the relative Bank of Greece report, the completion of the third adjustment 

program in August 2018 is an important milestone, with positive effects on the economic climate and prospects of the Greek 

economy. In particular, in 2018,  growth dynamics of the Greek economy continued to increase by 1.9%, with fixed GDP growth, 

while it is projected to remain at this level in 2019, despite a significant slowdown in euro area economic growth. The GDP 

growth recorded in 2018 and the prospects for 2019 state that the Greek economy has entered a growth path, leaving aside the 

maintenance of growth dynamics and strengthening it to allow strong growth rates to be recorded over a long period of time. In 

2018, growth was determined by both favorable domestic developments and continued growth despite the slowdown in the 

European economy. 

Ordinary implementation and completion of the economic adjustment program, the improvement of confidence and the 

resulting acceleration of growth in 2018 led to the return of deposits to banks. Despite the fact that no new Economic 

Adjustment Program has been concluded, the Greek government is committed to the Medium-Term Financial Implementation 

Framework 2019-2022 for the implementation of fiscal measures and the achievement of certain targets in relation to the 

primary general government surplus. At the same time, an extensive reform plan has been set up by 2021. Achieving budgetary 

targets and implementing reforms are the most important challenges in the post-programming period as they are controlled by 

the European Commission's strengthened supervision process.  

The preparation of the financial statements according to GAAP requires the use of estimates and judgments that affect the 

balances of asset and liability items as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as at the financial statements 

preparations date and the reported revenue and expenses for the years under examination. Although these estimates are based 

on the best knowledge of the Management, actual results may ultimately differ from these estimates.   
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Greek economy’s growth rate in 2019 will mainly depend on the course of the economy of the euro zone countries as well as on 

the course of the global economy. So far, the estimates, regarding the euro zone economy, predict economic growth will continue 

in 2019, but at a slower pace (1.1%), as there is already a significant decline compared to the high rates of previous years while 

prospects involve uncertainty.  
 

Key risk factors of the Greek Banking System are economic and political developments as they disturb consumer confidence, 

which has proved particularly fragile in recent years. With regard to the socio-economic environment and economic policy, the 

next year's (2019) effect of successive elections is expected to be significant as they change the expectations of economic units 

while at the same time creating uncertainty about the stability of the parameters of the tax and regulatory system framework for 

entrepreneurship.  
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The Bank’s capital adequacy: The Bank’s capital adequacy coverage arises from the successful share capital increases 

(December 2015 and December 2018) and simultaneous distributing of  two new bond loans for the purposes of reinforcing the 

capital of the additional items under Category 1 (Ad. Tier Ι) and Category 2 (Tier 2). Therefore, on 31.12.2018, the Capital Ratio 

“Common Equity Tier 1” (CET1 Capital Ratio) stood at 10.53%, the Capital Ratio Tier 1 (T1 Capital Ratio) stood at 11.76% and the 

Total Capital Ratio stood at  14,03%. The surplus in the Total Capital Ratio stood at 2.18 % or approximately € 26.8 million.  

 

 

 

 

 

It is to be noted that the minimum requirements regarding the Total Capital Ratio for 2018 stands at 11.855%, while the Total 

Capital Ratio of the Bank as at 31.12.2018 stands at 14.03%, entirely in line with the relative requirements.  

Finally, in order to mitigate the impact of implementing IFRS 9 on regulatory capital, the Bank, in accordance with Regulation 

(2395/2017), implements the phase-in approach, under which banks can, from the first date of IFRS 9 implementation and for a 

five-year period, add return to CET1 a portion of the post-tax amount of the difference in provisions that will result from the new 

IFRS 9 transition  in relation to the provisions recognized as at 31.12.2017 under  IAS 39 (“static” amount).  

 

 

With IFRS 9 
effect

Without IFRS 9 
effect

CET 1 10,53% 9,11% 9,39% 1,42% 4,50% 1,109% 1,875% 0,00% 7,484% 3,046%

TIER I 11,76% 10,28% 10,56% 1,48% 6,00% 1,485% 1,875% 0,00% 9,360% 2,397%

Total Capital Ratio 14,03% 12,10% 12,39% 1,93% 8,00% 1,980% 1,875% 0,00% 11,855% 2,177%

Ratios

Ratios

31/12/18
31/12/17 Change Margin

Total Capital 
ratio 

BoG Additional 
capital 

requirements 

Security 
reserves under 

L. 4261/2014 

Special Counter-
Cyclical buffer 

under L. 4261/2014

Minimum 
capital 

requirements
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Liquidity: In the end of the second half of 2015 and until the beginning of 2016, the Greek banking system had to draw liquidity 

from the Emergency Liquidity Assistance mechanism (ELA) to cover the short-term needs that arose due to the European Central 

Bank’s (ECB) decision to suspend the acceptance of Greek Government issues and other gilt securities aimed for refinancing and 

to cover the reduction of deposit accounts. However, capital control, imposed on 28.6.2015, due to increased outflow of deposits 

within the first half of 2015, and still effective, has contributed to stabilizing the deposit base and improving liquidity. Improving 

the climate of economic confidence and return of the bank deposits following the successful completion of the second review have 

resulted in a gradual decline in borrowing amounts from ELA and, as a result, on 31.12.2017, the Bank was fully independent 

from ELA. The Bank continues to have access to ELA and has available Assets that can be pledged to raise liquidity in case of 

emergency.   

The Bank complies with liquidity and net stable funding requirements recorded in Articles 412 and 413 of the Regulation EU  

275/2003 measured under LCR (Liquidity Coverage Requirement) and NSFR (net stable funding requirement, NSFR) ratios 

respectively. As at 31.12.2018,  LCR and NSFR ratios stood at 175.30% and 116% respectively.   

Required 
benchmark 

Ratio Required 
benchmark 

Ratio

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) LCR > 100% 175,30% LCR > 80% 80,33%
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) NSFR > 100% 116,00% NSFR > 100% 102,00%

Liquidity Ratios 
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
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The Bank has adopted all the new standards and interpretations, whose application is mandatory for fiscal years starting on 1 

January 2018. Paragraph 2.3.1 presents the standards that have been adopted as of 1 January 2018. The standards, 

amendments and interpretations that have not yet entered into force or have not been adopted by the EU are presented in 

paragraph 2.3.2.     

2.3 New Accounting Standards and Interpretations  

 

The following amendments and interpretations of the IFRS have been issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB), adopted by the European Union, and their application is mandatory from or after 1.1.2018.   

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2018)   

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9. The package of improvements introduced by the final version of the 

Standard, includes a logical model for classification and measurement, a single, forward-looking “expected loss” impairment 

model and a substantially-reformed approach to hedge accounting. The impact of the above on the Bank’s Financial Statements 

is presented in Note   4.4.1. 

IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2018)  

In May 2014, the IASB issued a new Standard, IFRS 15. The Standard fully converges with the requirements for the recognition of 

revenue in both IFRS and US GAAP. The key principles on which the Standard is based are consistent with much of current 

practice. The new Standard is expected to improve financial reporting by providing a more robust framework for addressing 

issues as they arise, increasing comparability across industries and capital markets, providing enhanced disclosures and clarifying 

accounting for contract costs. The new Standard will supersede IAS 11 “Construction Contracts”, IAS 18 “Revenue” and several 

revenue related Interpretations. The implementation of the standard has no impact on the Bank’s Financial Statements.    

Clarification to IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2018) 

In April 2016, the IASB published clarifications to IFRS 15. The amendments to IFRS 15 do not change the underlying principles of 

the Standard, but clarify how those principles should be applied. The amendments clarify how to identify a performance 

obligation in a contract, how to determine whether a company is a principal or an agent and how to determine whether the 

revenue from granting a license should be recognized at a point in time or over time.   

2.3.1 New Standards, Interpretations, Revisions and Amendments to existing Standards that are 

effective and have been adopted by the European Union  
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Amendment to IFRS 2: “Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions” (effective for annual periods 

starting on or after 01/01/2018)    

In June 2016, the IASB published narrow scope amendment to IFRS 2. The objective of this amendment is to clarify how to account 

for certain types of share-based payment transactions. More specifically, the amendments provide requirements on the accounting 

for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on the measurement of cash-settled share-based payments, for share-based 

payment transactions with a net settlement feature for withholding tax obligation, as well as, a modification to the terms and 

conditions of a share-based payment that changes the classification of the transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled. The 

amendments do not affect the Financial Statements.  

Amendments to IFRS 4: “Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts” (effective for annual periods 

starting on or after 01/01/2018)   

In September 2016, the IASB published amendments to IFRS 4. The objective of the amendments is to address the temporary 

accounting consequences of the different effective dates of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments and the forthcoming insurance contracts 

Standard. The amendments to existing requirements of IFRS 4 permit entities whose predominant activities are connected with 

insurance to defer the application of IFRS 9 until 2021 (the “temporary exemption”) and also permit all issuers of insurance contracts 

to recognize in other comprehensive income, rather than profit or loss, the volatility that could arise when IFRS 9 is applied before 

the new insurance contracts Standard is issued (the “overlay approach”). The amendments do not affect the Financial Statements.  

Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2014-2016 Cycle (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2018)   

In December 2016, the IASB issued Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2014-2016 Cycle, a collection of amendments to IFRSs, in 

response to several issues addressed during the 2014-2016 cycle. The issues included in this cycle and are effective for annual 

periods starting on or after 01/01/2018 are the following: IFRS 1: Deletion of short-term exemptions for first-time adopters, IAS 28: 

Measuring an associate or joint venture at fair value. The amendments do not affect the Financial Statements.   

Amendments to IAS 40: “Transfers of Investment Property” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2018)   

In December 2016, the IASB published narrow-scope amendments to IAS 40. The objective of the amendments is to reinforce the 

principle for transfers into, or out of, investment property in IAS 40, to specify that (a) a transfer into, or out of investment property 

should be made only when there has been a change in use of the property, and (b) such a change in use would involve the 

assessment of whether the property qualifies as an investment property. That change in use should be supported by evidence.  The 

Bank will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements through it is not expected to have any.   
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IFRIC 22 “Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration” (effective for annual periods starting on or after 

01/01/2018)   

In December 2016, the IASB issued a new Interpretation, IFRIC 22. IFRIC 22 provides requirements about which exchange rate to 

use in reporting foreign currency transactions (such as revenue transactions) when payment is made or received in advance. The 

new interpretation does not have material impact on the Financial Statements.  

 

Τhe following new Standards, Revised Standards as well as the following Interpretations to the existing Standards have been 

publicized but have not taken effect yet or have not been adopted by the European Union.   
 

IFRS 16 “Leases”: In January 2016, the IASB issued a new Standard, IFRS 16. The objective of the project was to develop a new 

Leases Standard that sets out the principles that both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’), 

apply to provide relevant information about leases in a manner that faithfully represents those transactions. To meet this 

objective, a lessee is required to recognize assets and liabilities arising from a lease.  The above have been adopted by the 

European Union with effective date of 1.1.2019. The Bank has not adopted the aforementioned earlier and the effect of the 

transition is presented in  Note 40. 
 

Amendments to IFRS 9: “Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation”: In October 2017, the IASB published narrow-

scope amendments to IFRS 9. Under the existing requirements of IFRS 9, an entity would have measured a financial asset with 

negative compensation at fair value through profit or loss as the “negative compensation” feature would have been viewed as 

introducing potential cash flows that were not solely payments of principal and interest. Under the amendments, companies are 

allowed to measure particular prepayable financial assets with so-called negative compensation at amortized  cost or at fair 

value through other comprehensive income if a specified condition is met. The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its 

Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above have been adopted by the European Union with 

effective date of 01/01/2019.   
 

IFRIC 23 “Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments”: In June 2017, the IASB issued a new Interpretation, IFRIC 23. IAS 12 

“Income Taxes” specifies how to account for current and deferred tax, but not how to reflect the effects of uncertainty. IFRIC 23 

provides requirements that add to the requirements in IAS 12 by specifying how to reflect the effects of uncertainty in accounting 

for income taxes. The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have 

any. The above have been adopted by the European Union with effective date of 01/01/2019.   

2.3.2 New Standards, Interpretations, Revisions and Amendments to existing Standards that have not 

been applied yet or have not been adopted by the European Union  
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Amendments to IAS 28: “Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures”: In October 2017, the IASB published narrow-

scope amendments to IAS 28. The objective of the amendments is to clarify that companies account for long-term interests in an 

associate or joint venture – to which the equity method is not applied – using IFRS 9.  The Group will examine the impact of the 

above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above have been adopted by the European Union 

with effective date of 01/01/2019.   
 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2015-2017 Cycle: In December 2017, the IASB issued Annual Improvements to IFRSs – 2015-

2017 Cycle, a collection of amendments to IFRSs, in response to several issues addressed during the 2015-2017 cycle. The issues 

included in this cycle are the following: IFRS 3 - IFRS 11: Previously held interest in a joint operation, IAS 12: Income tax 

consequences of payments on financial instruments classified as equity, IAS 23: Borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.   
 

Amendments to IAS 19: “Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement”: In February 2018, the IASB published narrow-scope 

amendments to IAS 19, under which an entity is required to use updated assumptions to determine current service cost and net 

interest for the remainder of the reporting period after an amendment, curtailment or settlement to a plan. The objective of the 

amendments is to enhance the understanding of the financial statements and provide useful information to the users. The Bank 

will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above have been 

adopted by the European Union with effective date of 01/01/2019.  

Revision of the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting: In March 2018, the IASB issued the revised Conceptual 

Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework), the objective of which was to incorporate some important issues 

that were not covered, as well as update and clarify some guidance that was unclear or out of date. The revised Conceptual 

Framework includes a new chapter on measurement, which analyzes the concept on measurement, including factors to be 

considered when selecting a measurement basis, concepts on presentation and disclosure, and guidance on derecognition of 

assets and liabilities from financial statements. In addition, the revised Conceptual Framework includes improved definitions of 

an asset and a liability, guidance supporting these definitions, update of recognition criteria for assets and liabilities, as well as 

clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. 

The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above 

have not been adopted by the European Union (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2020).    
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Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards: In March 2018, the IASB issued the revised 

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting (Conceptual Framework), the objective of which was to incorporate some 

important issues that were not covered, as well as update and clarify some guidance that was unclear or out of date. The revised 

Conceptual Framework includes a new chapter on measurement, which analyzes the concept on measurement, including factors 

to be considered when selecting a measurement basis, concepts on presentation and disclosure, and guidance on derecognition 

of assets and liabilities from financial statements. In addition, the revised Conceptual Framework includes improved definitions of 

an asset and a liability, guidance supporting these definitions, update of recognition criteria for assets and liabilities, as well as 

clarifications in important areas, such as the roles of stewardship, prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. 

The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above 

have not been adopted by the European Union (effective for annual periods starting on or after  01/01/2019). 
 

Amendment to IFRS 3 “'De-f-i-n-i-tion of a Business”: In October 2018, the IASB issued limited-scope amendments to IFRS 3 

to improve the definition of a business. The changes will help companies determine whether an acquisition is a business 

combination or asset acquisition. The amended definition points out that an outflow of a business is to provide goods and 

services to customers while the earlier definition focused on dividend yields, lower costs or other economic benefits to investors 

and third parties. In addition to amending the definition of a business, the IASB also provides additional guidelines. The Bank will 

examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above have not been 

adopted by the European Union (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2020).  

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: “Definition of Material” : In October 2018, the IASB issued amendments to its definition of 

material to make it easier for companies to make materiality judgements. The definition of material helps companies decide 

whether information should be included in their financial statements. The updated definition amends IAS 1 and IAS 8. The 

amendments clarify the definition of material and how it should be applied by including in the definition guidance that until now 

has featured elsewhere in IFRS Standards. The Bank will examine the impact of the above on its Financial Statements, though it 

is not expected to have any. The above have not been adopted by the European Union (effective for annual periods starting on 

or after 01/01/2020).  

IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts” : In May 2017, the IASB issued a new Standard, IFRS 17, which replaces an interim Standard, IFRS 

4. The aim of the project was to provide a single principle-based standard to account for all types of insurance contracts, 

including reinsurance contracts that an insurer holds. A single principle-based standard would enhance comparability of financial 

reporting among entities, jurisdictions and capital markets. IFRS 17 sets out the requirements that an entity should apply in 

reporting information about insurance contracts it issues and reinsurance contracts it holds. The Bank will examine the impact of 

the above on its Financial Statements, though it is not expected to have any. The above have not been adopted by the 

European Union (effective for annual periods starting on or after 01/01/2020).  
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The Bank does not intend to apply any of the Standards or Interpretations at an earlier date. In accordance with the accounting 

policies followed, the Management does not expect significant impact (apart from IFRS 16) on the financial statements of the 

Bank from the application of the aforementioned Standards and Interpretations when they become effective.     

 

2.4 Foreign currency conversion  

Measurement and Reporting Currency: The Bank's measurement and reporting currency is euro. The financial statements are 

presented in euro, while the explanations and notes to the financial statements are presented in euro unless otherwise stated. 

Transactions and balances: Transactions in foreign currency are converted into Euro using the exchange rates effective at the 

transaction dates. Assets and liabilities in foreign currency at the date of the financial statements are adjusted to reflect the 

financial statement preparation exchange rates. Gains and losses arising from such transactions (and from the translation of 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency) are recognized in the income statement, except when recorded in equity 

as qualifying cash flow hedges. 

2.5 Cash and cash equivalents  

For the purpose of preparation of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of Cash on hand and at the 

Central Bank and short-term balances due from banks with maturity date of less than 3 months. 
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A financial instrument is any contract that creates a financial asset for one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument for 

another entity. Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognized in the balance sheet of the Bank, once binding for at least 

one contractual party of the financial instrument. 

Investments and other (primary) financial assets (IFRS 9):  

Classification and measurement  

Under IFRS 9, financial assets are classified into one of the following three categories:  

a) at amortized cost, provided that both of the following conditions are met:  

i. the financial asset is retained within a business model, the objective of which is to hold financial assets for the purpose of 

collecting contractual cash flows; and   

ii. under the contractual conditions governing the financial asset, created specific dates cash flows consisting exclusively of 

repayment of principal and interest on the solely payments of principle and interest –(SPPI).   

b) at fair value through other comprehensive results directly in equity, provided that the following conditions are met:  

i. the financial asset is retained in the context of a business model the objective of which is achieved both by the collection 

of contractual cash flows and the sale of financial assets; and 

ii. based on the contractual terms of the financial asset, cash flows that consist exclusively of capital repayments and interest 

on the outstanding capital are generated at specific dates.  

c) at fair value through profit and loss in all the other cases.   

2.6 Financial instruments  

2.6.1 Recognition and measurement  
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Business model evaluation  

The business model of an entity is set at a level that reflects the way in which financial asset groups are managed together to 

achieve a particular business objective. It essentially refers to the way in which an entity manages its financial assets to generate 

cash flows. That is, the business model determines whether cash flows arise from the collection of contractual cash flows, the 

sale of financial assets, or both. Under IFRS 9, it is stated that financial assets held for trading or managed at fair value shall be 

measured at fair value through profit or loss.   
 

SPPI test   

In assessing whether contractual flows relate exclusively to capital and interest payments, the Bank will take into account 

whether these flows are consistent with a basic loan agreement, effectively checking whether the key interest rate components 

incorporate the consideration for the value over time money, credit risk and / or other major borrowing risks as well as a profit 

margin. An assessment will also be made as to whether a financial asset includes a contractual term that could affect the 

amount or the contractual cash flow in such a way that the above requirement did not cease to apply. In cases where 

contractual terms result in exposure to risks or volatility not associated with a basic loan agreement, the relevant financial asset 

will be measured at fair value through profit or loss.   
 

Evaluation of changes in classification and measurement  

As at the transition date, the Bank proceeded with the evaluation of the business model in its portfolios and conducted a 

detailed assessment of the contractual terms in the debt securities portfolio in order to identify possible changes in their 

classification and measurement. The majority of the Bank's debt securities portfolio meets the 'SPPI' criterion.   



54 PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual financial statements for the year 2018  

Consequently, based on the effective business model: 

• loans and receivables from customers and financial institutions are measured at amortized cost,   

• bonds which  are measured at fair value through profit or loss, 

• Other equity instruments  are measured at fair value through profit or loss.   

Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Impairment of financial assets  

IFRS 9 introduces a model of expected credit losses (ECL). 

The new impairment model is applied to  financial assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss, including 

loans, leases, bonds, financial collaterals and loan commitments, and no impairment loss for equity instruments will be 

recognized.  

IFRS 9 uses a "three-stage“ approach that reflects changes in credit quality from initial recognition.  
 

Stage 1: Stage 1 is where credit risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition. For financial assets in stage 1, 

entities are required to recognize 12 month ECL and recognize interest in come on a gross basis – this means that interest will be 

calculated on the gross carrying amount of the financial asset before adjusting for ECL. 

Stage 2: Stage 2 is where credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition. When a financial asset transfers to 

stage 2 entities are required to recognize life time ECL but interest income will continue to be recognized on a gross basis. 

Stage 3: Stage 3 is where the financial asset is impaired. Financial assets in this stage will generally be assessed individually. 

Lifetime expected credit losses are recognized on these financial assets.  

 

Business Model Key Characteristics Measurement Category Classification of Financial Instruments 

 
Hold to Collect

▪Hold to collect cash flows                                                                               ▪ 
Cash flows represent exclusively capital and interest repayment 
(SPPI criterion )
▪Sales of the instruments regarding frequency and size is not 
probable 

 
Amortised Cost

▪Cash and cash equivalent 
▪Receivables from banks 
▪Loans and trade receivables 

 
Hold to Collect and Sell

▪Hold to collect cash flows  mainly for the purposes of selling the 
instruments 
▪Cash flows represent exclusively capital and interest repayment 
(SPPI criterion ) 

Fair Value through Other 
Comprehensive Income - FVOCI)

-

Other
▪The instruments cannot be classified into the aforementioned 
models  ▪Potentially arising cash flows are of irregular frequency 

Fair Value through Profit or Loss - 
FVPL)

▪Securities and investments in equity 
instruments 
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Measurement of expected credit losses:  

The amount of the expected credit loss measurement will be a weighted average estimate that takes into account the time 

value of money. Credit loss is the present value of the difference between (a) the contractual cash flows attributable to an entity 

under the contract and (b) the cash flows that the entity expects to receive. The discount for determining the present value is 

made at the initial effective interest rate (EIR) of the asset or the credit-adjusted EIR in terms of the purchased or initial 

recognition credit impaired financial assets. The way an entity measures the expected credit losses of a financial instrument 

should, inter alia, reflect reasonable and reliable information that is available at the reporting date without undue cost or effort 

and relates to past events, current circumstances and future economic conditions. 

For measurement purposes in respect of the expected credit losses, the Bank will take into account the expected cash shortfalls 

with cash flows from collateral or other credit protection measures contained in the contractual terms and which are not 

separately recognized. An estimate of expected cash shortfalls for a collateralized financial asset reflects the amount of cash 

flows and the time they are expected to accrue from the auction process after deducting the discounted collateral expense, 

irrespective of whether the auction is likely to occur. 

Expected credit losses will be calculated for the maximum contractual period in which the Bank is exposed to credit risk. The 

maximum contractual period is determined on the basis of the essential terms of the financial instrument, including the 

possibility of requesting early repayment or cancellation on the part of the Bank, as well as the right of extension from the client 

side. In this context, the Bank will take into account the normal credit risk mitigation process, past practices, future intentions and 

expected credit risk management measures during the period when it was exposed to credit risk for similar financial instruments 

as well as time the duration of relevant defaults for similar financial instruments following a significant increase in credit risk. 

In some cases, an entity may not have reasonable and reliable information available that is made available without undue cost 

or effort to measure the expected lifetime loss on an individual basis. In this case, the lifetime expected credit losses are 

recognized on a collective basis taking into account comprehensive credit risk information.   
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This comprehensive credit risk information should incorporate not only historical information but also all relevant credit risk 

information, including future-oriented macroeconomic information, which concern the future, in order to approximate the result 

of the recognition of the expected credit losses over the lifetime when there has been a significant increase in credit risk after 

initial recognition at the level of an individual instrument.    
 

Measurement of expected credit losses for large exposures and impaired loans will be made on an individual basis, while for 

other exposures the measurement of expected credit losses can be carried out on a collective basis.  
 

Financial assets classification into stages:  

The Bank classifies its financial assets in those measured based on expected credit losses 12 months (Stage 1) and those for 

which expected credit losses recognized for the duration of their life (stage 2 and 3) in accordance with if there has been a 

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. In assessing whether a financial asset has suffered a significant 

increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Bank will take into account a combination of quantitative and qualitative 

criteria including, but not limited to the following:   

 Contingent changes in residual lifetime probability of default, 

 Absolute thresholds of probability of default in residual lifetime of financial asset, and 

 Days of delay   

The Management may temporarily intervene by adjusting the results of the impairment model, either individually or collectively, 

for financial assets with common credit risk characteristics in order to take into account specific situations that may not be fully 

reflected in the impairment models. Financial assets that have significantly increased credit risk since initial recognition will be 

classified into Stage 2. When the classification criteria in Stage 2 cease to apply, the financial assets will be reclassified to Stage 

1. The financial assets of the assets that are considered impaired due to credit risk will be classified into Stage 3. Subsequent 

transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 will take place when the financial assets ceases to be impaired due to credit risk. 
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Key parameters for determining expected credit losses  

Calculation of expected credit losses is based on the probability of default (PD), (loss given default - LGD), exposure at default 

(EAD) and other parameters such as the credit conversion factor (CCF) and the prepayment rate. In general, the Bank 

calculates these parameters from internally-developed statistical models, point-in-time historical data and observations, making 

use of the effective  infrastructures   it has developed in respect of the regulatory framework and risk management practices. 

Expected credit losses are calculated according to the following formula:   

 

 

 

 

 

 

Transition to IFRS 9 

The Bank fully applied IFRS 9 on 1.1.2018, without revising the comparative data and will make the necessary transitional 

disclosures. Consequently, the comparative amounts of the Bank for 2017 are presented under IAS 39.   

2.6.2 Definition of financial instruments fair value  

Fair value is defined as the price at which an asset (financial or otherwise) is sold or the price to be paid to transfer a liability 

(financial or otherwise) in a normal transaction between market participants at the measurement date. In accordance with the 

fair value measurement, it is assumed that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either: (i) on the 

principal market for the asset or liability, or (ii) if no principal market, the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.    

A financial instrument is considered to be negotiable in a main market if the prices are negotiated directly and regularly 

available from an exchange, broker, industry group, a pricing service company or regulatory body and those prices represent 

current and regular market transactions carried out at arm's length basis.   

ECL Expected Credit Loss Expected Credit Loss

PD Probability of Default Probability of Default

LGD Loss Given Default Loss Given Default

LGL Loss Given Loss Loss Given Loss

EAD Exposure-at-default Exposure-at-default

Cure Rate Cure Rate

Loss Given Default

LGD  = LGL * (1 - Cure Rate)

Calculation formula for expected credit loss

Abbreviation
ECL = PD * EAD * LGD

Expected Credit Loss
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An entity need not undertake exhaustive search of all possible markets to identify the principal market or, in the absence of 

principal market, the most advantageous market, but takes into account all reasonably available information. When such 

evidence to the contrary is absent, the market in which an entity would normally undertake a transaction to sell the asset or 

transfer the liability is considered to be the principal market or in absence of the principal market, the most advantageous 

market. If there is a principal market for the asset or liability, the fair value measurement represents the price on that market 

(whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique), even if the price in a different market 

is potentially more advantageous at the measurement date.  
 

IFRS 13 establishes the hierarchy of valuation models on the objectivity of the data used in these models (observable or non- 

observable data). The observable data are based on observable market data and derived from independent sources, 

unobservable inputs are referred to management assumptions. The Bank calculates the fair value of financial instruments based 

on the relevant framework which classifies financial assets into a three-level hierarchy based on the data used for their 

valuation, as described below:   

Level 1: Investments that are valued at fair value based on quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for comparable assets 

or liabilities. 

Level 2: Investments that are valued at fair value, using valuation techniques for which all inputs that significantly affect the fair 

value, are based (either directly or indirectly) on observable market data. 

Level 3: Investments that are valued at fair value, using valuation techniques, in which the data that significantly affects the fair 

value, is not based on observable market data.   

 

Derecognition: A financial asset is derecognized when the Bank loses control over the contractual rights contained in this item. 

This occurs when the rights expire or are transferred and the Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and benefits of 

ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the Bank's obligation to pay cash or other financial assets is extinguished.  
 

Offsetting: Financial assets and liabilities may be offset and the net amount may appear in the Statement of financial Position 

when there is a contractual right that allows offsetting the amounts recorded and, at the same time, there is an intention either 

to simultaneously settle the total amount of both - the financial asset and the obligation – or to settle the net amount obtained 

after offsetting. 
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2.7 Associates  

Associates are companies in which the Bank has significant influence but not control and holding of between 20% and 50 % of 

the voting rights. Investments in associates are initially recorded at cost and are consolidated using the equity method.   

2.8 Investment property  

Property that is held for long-term lease and/or for capital appreciation are classified as investment property. Investment 

property is initially recognized at cost, including related transaction costs. After initial recognition, investment property is carried 

at fair value, as estimated by an appraiser. The fair value is based on market prices, adjusted, if necessary, depending on the 

nature, location and condition of the specific asset. Additionally, in accordance with IFRS 13, the fair value measurement should 

take into account the ability to create benefits from the maximum and optimal use of the asset or by selling it to a third party 

that will use these assets during maximal and optimal use.    

If the information on the fair values is not available, valuation methods are used. The fair value of investment property reflects 

income from current leases and assumptions about future leases, taking into account current market conditions. Fair values also 

reflect any outflows expected for the investment property. Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the asset only 

when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and their cost can be measured 

reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are recognized in profit or loss during the year in which they incurred. For 

properties not appraised by appraisers, the fair value is determined based on methodology estimates from realized prices. 

Changes in fair value are recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. If an investment property becomes owner-

occupied (operational), it is reclassified as tangible assets and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost. The 

property being constructed or developed for future use as investment property is classified as tangible assets and recognized at 

cost until the construction or development, so it is reclassified and subsequently accounted for as investment property. The 

investment property held for sale without redevelopment is classified within non -current assets held for sale in accordance with 

IFRS 5. 
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2.9 Intangible assets  

Software licenses are valued at cost less depreciation. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the useful 

life of these assets, which is estimated at 10 years. Costs associated with software development and maintenance are recognized 

as expenses when incurred. Costs associated with the development of specific software that is controlled by the Bank are 

recognized as intangible assets. Such costs include wages and salaries as well as an appropriate proportion of general 

overheads.   

2.10 Property, plant and equipment  

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured as follows:  

 Land and buildings are measured at fair value, as determined by estimates of professional valuers, based on market data, in 

accordance with IAS 16. 

 Mechanical equipment, vehicles, computers, ATMs and other items are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

potential impairment.  

Fair value of the assets falling within the first category (a) of the first case or acquisition cost of the assets of the second category 

(b) includes all directly attributable costs for their acquisition. Fair value may also include gains or losses from hedging the 

foreign currency exchange rate risk arising under the acquisition of assets recorded in the equity reserves. Subsequent expenses 

are recognized as an increase in the fair value or acquisition cost respectively or as a separate asset only if it is probable that 

future economic benefits will flow to the Bank and their cost can be measured reliably. 

In accordance with IAS 23, borrowing costs are transferred to increase the cost of the related asset when the conditions of IAS 

23 are met. Specifically, the requirements of IAS 23 state that: a) the cost of borrowing must be directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of an asset that requires significant preparation period for the use for which it is intended 

or for sale (qualifying asset) and b) borrowing costs will been avoided if the expenditure for the asset had not been made. 

Repairs and maintenance costs are charged to results when incurred. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of other tangible assets is calculated using the straight line method over their estimated 

useful lives, as follows:     

 

 

 

 

 

Asset category Coefficient Useful life

Improvement in leased real estate property

Buildings-technical installations 2,86% 35 years
Mechanical equipment 10,00% 10 years
Vehicles 20,00% 5 years
Computers & Α.Τ.Μ. 20,00% 5 years
Other equipment 10,00% 10 years

Lease term or useful life
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The residual values and useful lives of tangible assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date. 

When the book value of tangible assets exceeds their recoverable value, the difference (impairment) is immediately recorded as 

an expense. 

Upon sale of tangible assets, the difference between the proceeds and the book value is recorded as profit or loss. Following the 

initial recognition, land plots and buildings whose fair value can be measured reliably are recorded at readjusted amount, which 

includes their fair value at the date of revaluation. Adjustments are made on regular basis, so that the book value should not 

significantly differ from the value that would be determined using the fair value at the date of the Statement of Financial 

Position. 

Frequency of adjustments depends on changes in the fair value of assets that are subject to revaluation. When the fair value of 

revalued land plots or buildings significantly differs from their book value, further readjustment is required. 

When a building is readjusted, its accumulated depreciation on the revaluation date is restated, depending on the change in the 

value of the asset prior to depreciation, so that its carrying amount after revaluation should equal the amount of the revalued 

asset. 

If the book value of a land plot or a building increases as a result of revaluation, the increase is credited directly to equity under 

the title “revaluation surplus”. However, a revaluation increase is recognized in profit or loss to the extent it reverses previous 

devaluation of the same asset previously recognized in profit or loss. 

If the book value of a land plot or a building decreases as a result of a revaluation, the decrease is recognized in profit or loss. 

However, the decrease will be charged directly to equity, to the revaluation surplus, to the extent there is a credit balance in the 

revaluation surplus in respect of the particular asset. 

Revaluation surpluses included in equity can be transferred directly to retained earnings when a land plot or a building is written 

off. This may involve the transfer of the entire surplus when a land plot or a building are withdrawn or disposed of. However, a 

part of the surplus may also be transferred during the use of the asset. In such a case, the amount of the surplus that may be 

carried forward comprises the difference between the readjusted book value and the cost based on the depreciation charge. 

Transfers from revaluation surpluses to retained earnings should not be conducted through gains or losses. 

The effects of taxes on income from potential revaluation of tangible assets are recognized and disclosed in accordance with 

IAS 12 "Income Taxes".  
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2.11 Impairment on non-financial assets  

Fixed assets and other non-current assets are reviewed for possible impairment losses whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 

recoverable amount, the impairment loss is recognized in the income statement. The recoverable amount of an asset is the 

greater of either the net selling price or the value in use. Net selling price is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset in 

an arm's length transaction in which participating parties have full knowledge and participate voluntarily, after deducting any 

additional direct disposal costs and value in use is the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to arise from the 

continuing use of an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful life. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 

amount of an asset for which there is evidence of impairment, then the recoverable amount of the unit generating cash flows to 

which the asset belongs is assessed. 

 Reversal of any impairment losses for assets classified in previous years is possible only if there are sufficient indications that 

such impairment no longer exists or has decreased. In such cases, the reversal is recognized as income.  
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2.12 Income tax and deferred tax  

The annual income tax consists of current taxes and deferred taxes, i.e. the tax charges or credits which have been already 

assessed or will be assessed by the tax authorities in other years. Income tax is recognized in the income statement. 

Taxable profit differs usually from profit reported in profit or loss as it excludes taxable or deductible temporary differences and 

items which are permanent differences or tax exempted. Current taxes are determined in accordance with tax rates and tax laws 

applicable to the fiscal years to which they relate, based on taxable profit for the year. 

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on all taxable temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the 

tax base and the book value of assets and liabilities. The expected tax effects from the temporary tax differences are determined 

using tax rates expected to apply in the period of recovery of assets or/and settlement of liabilities. These appear either as 

future (deferred) tax liabilities or as deferred tax assets.  

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that 

there will be future taxable gains for the use of temporary difference that creates the deferred tax asset. Deferred tax is not 

recognized if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination, which 

when it occurred did not affect neither accounting nor taxable result, whether profit or loss. The carrying amount of deferred tax 

assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable 

profits will be available to allow recovery of the claim (as a whole or partly). 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current 

tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and additionally the Bank intends to 

settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. Under the effective tax legislation (Article 27A, Law 4172/2013), 

deferred tax assets may be converted into final and liquidated asses by the Greek State in case of loss-bearing results (deferred 

tax asset not based on future profitability). 

Deferred taxes charge or improve the income statement. In exceptional cases, when they relate to items or transactions that are 

recorded directly in equity, in the same or a different period, they are recorded in a similar manner directly in equity. 
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2.13 Foreclosed assets   

Properties repossessed through an auction process to recover impaired loans are accounted for in accordance with the provisions 

of IAS 2 as inventory and valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The acquisition cost of property determined in 

accordance with the method of weighted average cost. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price less selling costs. Gains 

and losses arising from the sale of assets through auctions, are recognized in the income statement. 

2.14 Other financial liabilities  

Other financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently are measured at amortized cost. They include 

liabilities to banks and liabilities to customers. 

2.15 Debt securities in issue  

Liabilities from issuance of debt securities and other borrowed funds are recognized initially at fair value (income from their 

issue, minus the realized issue costs). After initial recognition, debt securities and borrowed funds are shown at amortized cost. 

Any difference between the income from the issuance (net of transaction costs) and the disbursement value is recognized in 

profit or loss over the duration of the securities using the effective interest method. Liabilities from securities and borrowed funds 

of the Bank also include senior subordinated loans.  
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2.16 Employee benefits 

IAS 19 distinguishes the post-employment benefits into defined benefits and defined contribution plans. The defined contribution 

plans is recorded as expense in each period and is equal to the amount paid by the employer. The accounting treatment of 

defined benefit plans involves an actuarial valuation, because the standard requires the cost to be allocated to each employee 

work period. The provisions of Law 2112/1920, as amended by Law 4093/2012, are classified as defined benefit for the 

purposes of IAS 19. The actuarial method used is the Projected Unit Credit Method. 

The amended IAS 19 also requires as follows:    

 direct recognition of actuarial gains/losses in other comprehensive income and their final exemption from the income 

statement, 

 non-recognition of the expected returns on investment program in profit or loss but recognition of such interest in the net 

liability/(asset) of the provision calculated based on the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit obligation, 

 recognition of past service cost in profit or loss at the earlier of the date of modification of the program or when the related 

restructuring is recognized or the terminal payment occurs and 

 other changes including the new disclosures such as quantitative sensitivity analysis.  
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Under certain conditions (see below) the Bank is an open capital organization. Rights and obligations of the shareholders of the 

Cooperative Bank are regulated by Law 1667/1986, as amended by Law 4350/2015, the decisions of the Cooperative Bodies 

and the Articles of Association. These Articles do not include clauses more restrictive than those designated by Law. 

The cooperative shares are registered and intangible. Each shareholder (natural person or legal entity) has the right to acquire 

an unlimited number of shares above the statutory minimum. The shareholder’s liability cannot exceed the nominal value of 

owned shares against any obligations of the Cooperative created both prior to registration and during the period of 

membership. Any liability of this sort lapses one year after the exit of the shareholder, or termination of the bankruptcy process, 

or of a wind up in case of dissolution of the Cooperative.  

It is permitted to issue optional shares without voting rights, with privilege, which will constitute the right to receive a dividend 

multiplied by the dividend corresponding to every common cooperative share. During the distribution of net profits and proceeds 

of liquidation, every single cooperative shares are addresses in the same line. In order to make a decision on the issuance of 

these preferred optional cooperative shares and set the aforementioned dividend multiplier, the General Meeting of the 

shareholders is in quorum in accordance with paragraph 3, Article 20 of the Articles of Association and the majority as defined 

under paragraph 4 of the same Article is required. 

Bonds and optional shares may be introduced to a regulated market under par. 10, Article 2, Law 3606/2007. These bonds and 

optional shares are kept in electronic form in the book-entry system under Law 3756/2009, as specified in the Articles of 

Association. Regarding the transfer, liens and enforcing seizures on bonds and optional shares, the relevant provisions regarding 

listed bonds and shares are implemented, accordingly. Acquisition of those bonds and optional shares does not provide the 

holders with the status of the Cooperative member.   

2.17  Equity – Cooperative capital 



67 PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual financial statements for the year 2018  

 

Return on cooperative shares value (Articles of Association, article 40):  

1. Every year, prior to the Annual General Meeting, the Board of Directors determines the value of the cooperative share 

attributed to Shareholders who withdraw or are excluded, to heirs of deceased Shareholders, in case none of them becomes 

a member of the Cooperative and in case of disbursement of the cooperative share by the Cooperative. Every Shareholder 

can apply for reimbursement of the optional shares portions three years after their issue. The return on cooperative shares, 

mandatory and optional, is subject to prior approval of the Bank of Greece, in accordance with the provisions of Article 

149, Law 4261/2014 and fall within the discretion of the statutory bodies of the cooperative bank, in accordance with the 

provisions of paragraph 7 and 9, Article 2, Law 1667/1986. This value, subject to Articles 17§ 2 and 22 §7 of the current 

Articles of Association, shall be paid to the beneficiaries after the first Annual General Meeting following their withdrawal, 

exclusion or on their demand.   
 

2. Assigned or intrinsic value refers to the value of the cooperative share attributable to the net assets of the Cooperative, 

following the last review of the financial statements by a certified auditor or auditing firm.   
 

3. Return on the value of cooperative shares, mandatory and optional, is set under the condition that no prejudice exists as to 

obligations of the Cooperative, linked to the amount of Equity, according to the respective applicable rules of supervision. 
 

4. In any case, return on cooperative shares value is determined in accordance with the terms and conditions specified by the 

effective Legislation the Bank of Greece. 
 

Limitations on distribution/transfer of Cooperative Capital:    

In compliance with the provisions of Article 149, Law 4261/5.5.2014, the Bank cannot disburse cooperative shares when the 

Capital Adequacy Ratio is below the minimum imposed by the current institutional framework of operation. Moreover, the Bank 

of Greece may impose restrictions on the disbursement of cooperative shares if the institution’s sustainability is endangered. 

Furthermore, due to a limitation in accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association (Article 40), no shareholder can leave the 

Bank before the expiration of 3 years from the date of registration, nor can he/she redeem any corporative share, before the 

expiration of 3 years from the date of acquisition. Finally, it is to be noted that the cooperative shares (mandatory or optional) 

can be transferred only to the members of the Cooperative. Transfer of shares to third parties is carried out only following the 

approval of the Board of Directors provided in case there is no disagreement with the Cooperative regulations. The transfer is 

performed by means of written agreement and is recorded in the Registry.  
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Classification of Cooperative Capital to Equity or classification as a Financial Liability IFRIC 2 Members' Shares in Cooperative 

Entities and Similar Instruments: 

Many financial instruments, including members' shares in cooperative entities, have characteristics of equity, including voting rights 

and rights to participate in dividend distributions. Some financial instruments give the holder the right to request disbursement for 

cash or another financial asset, but may include or be subject to limits on whether the financial instruments will be redeemed. The 

terms of settlement determine whether the financial instruments are recognized as equity or financial liabilities. The contractual 

right of the holder of a financial instrument to request disbursement does not, in itself, determine the classification of a financial 

instrument as a financial liability. Rather, the entity must consider all of the terms and conditions of the financial instrument in 

determining its classification as a financial liability or equity. Those terms and conditions include relevant local laws, regulations 

and Articles of Association at the date of classification, but not expected future amendments to those laws, regulations or Articles 

of Association.  
 

Sight deposits, including current accounts, deposit accounts and similar contracts that arise when members act as customers, are 

financial liabilities of the entity. 

In particular, the members' shares will be classified as equity if:  

• The entity has an unconditional right to refuse disbursement of the members' shares. 

• Local laws or regulations or the entity's Articles of Association can impose various prohibitions on the disbursement of 

members' shares, for instance unconditional prohibitions or prohibitions based on liquidity criteria. If disbursement is 

unconditionally prohibited by local laws or regulations or the entity's Articles of Association, members' shares are equity 

.However, provisions in local law, regulation or the entity's Articles of Association that prohibit disbursement only if certain 

conditions such as restrictions on liquidity do or do not exist, does not result in members' shares being equity.  

An unconditional prohibition may be absolute, in that all disbursements are prohibited. An unconditional prohibition may be 

partial, in that it prohibits disbursement of members' shares if disbursement would cause the number of members' shares or amount 

of paid- in capital from members ' shares to fall below a specified level. Members' shares in excess of the prohibition against 

disbursement are liabilities, unless the entity has an unconditional right to refuse disbursement as described above. In some cases, 

the number of shares or amount of paid - in capital subject to a disbursement prohibition may change from time to time. Such a 

change in the disbursement prohibition leads to a transfer between financial liabilities and Equity. 
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Upon initial recognition, the entity shall measure its financial liability for disbursement at fair value. For members' shares with a 

disbursement feature, the entity measures the fair value of the financial liability for disbursement at no less than the maximum 

amount payable under the terms of discounting the charter or applicable law discounted from the first date that the this amount 

could become due. 

As stated in paragraph 35, IAS 32, distributions to holders of equity instruments are recognized directly in equity, net of any 

income tax benefits. Interest, dividends and other returns relating to financial instruments classified as financial liabilities are 

expenses, regardless of whether those amounts paid are characterized in accordance with the law as dividends, interest or other.   
 

The Bank has recognized the entire cooperative capital to equity since there is a prohibition by the Bank of Greece in 

accordance with the provisions of Article 149 of Law 4261/5.5.2014.  

 

Share capital increase expenses: Direct expenses for the issue of shares appear, after the deduction of related income tax, 

reducing the effect of retained earnings. 

Share premium: This account comprises the difference between the nominal value of the shares issued and the price paid.  
 

2.18 Provisions for liabilities 

Provisions are recognized when the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable 

that an outflow of resources to settle the obligation can be reliably estimated amount.  

The Bank recognizes a provision for onerous contract when the expected benefits to be derived from the contract are less than 

the unavoidable costs of obligations under the contract. 

Provisions are reviewed at each year end and adjusted to reflect the best possible estimations and when deemed necessary, they 

are discounted based on a pre–tax discount rate. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the financial statements but are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of 

resources embodying economic benefits is minimal. Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial statements but 

disclosed when an inflow of financial debt is probable. 
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2.19 Leases  

Finance leases, which substantially transfer all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased item to the Bank, are 

recognized at the inception of the lease as assets at amounts equal to the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the 

present value of the minimum lease payments. Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges reduction of the 

outstanding liability so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance 

charges are charged directly to the result. Leased assets are depreciated over the useful life of the asset. The total value of the 

lease payments net of finance costs is considered as acquisition cost, which are charged to income each year. 

Leases where the lessor substantially retains all the benefits and risks of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. 

Payments made under operating leases are recognized in profit or loss on a systematic basis during the lease. 

Regarding the aforementioned,  it is to be noted that IFRS 16 - Leases -  is effective as from 01/01/2019. The objective of IASB 

project was to develop a new Leases Standard that sets out the principles that both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer 

(‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’), apply to provide relevant information about leases in a manner that faithfully represents 

those transactions. To meet this objective, a lessee is required to recognize assets and liabilities arising from a lease.  The effect 

of the new Standard on the bank's financial statements is recorded in Note 40. 

2.20 Revenue recognition  

The revenue of the Bank mainly includes income from loans and interest bearing securities, portfolio management commissions, 

letters of credit and other banking activities, income from dividends and other income. It is to be noted that the Bank has 

adopted IFRS 15 ”Revenue from Contracts with Customers”  as at 01.01.2018, however, the implementation of the standard has 

not affected the financial statements.  Revenue is recognized as follows : 

i. Interest income: Interest income is reported on all interest bearing balance sheet items and are recognized on an accrual 

basis using the effective interest method based on calculating the purchase price. Interest income includes interest on fixed 

income securities and trading securities, accrued «premium/discount» governmental and quasi- debt and interest on 

loans/placements.  

ii. Income from commissions: Commission income recognized during the period in which the services are provided depending 

on the completion of the transaction so as to match the cost of providing the service, while those related to credit risk are 

recognized in profit or loss on straight-line basis period of validity of the risk. 

iii. Revenue from dividends and securities: Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established. 

Income from securities is recognized on disposal. . 
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2.21 Related party disclosures  

In accordance with IAS 24, a natural or legal person is related when it is linked to the entity that prepares financial statements. 

Two parties are considered related if one has the ability to control the other or have significant influence over it, in making 

financial and operating decisions. Specifically, related parties are:   

i. Companies directly or indirectly controlling or controlled by the Bank. 

ii. Associated companies in which the Bank has significant influence and are not subsidiaries. 

iii. Individuals and their close relatives, who directly or indirectly, of voting rights in the Bank, which give them significant 

influence over the Bank. 

iv. Managers of the Bank, members of management and closely related to those persons. 

v. Companies belonging to members of the management or major shareholders of the Bank and enterprises that have 

common directors with the Bank.       

 

2.22 Segment reporting  

Under IFRS 8, operating segments are specified as those which are addressed internally by the Management as significant in 

assessing segment performance and risk and allocation of available resources. Currently, the Management monitors risks and 

returns from banking and financial products aggregated. Therefore, it has not unbundled separate business segments as it 

manages its operations as a total. 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) Requires 

management to make subjective judgments, estimates and assumptions by management that affect the reported amount of 

assets and liabilities, and the amount of revenues and expenses in the financial statements and the notes which are an integral 

part. The Bank's management believes that the judgments, estimates and assumptions used in preparing the financial statements 

are appropriate given the factual circumstances as of December 31 of the reporting financial year. 

Many of the policies adopted by the Bank, by their nature, require the use of estimates, valuation assumptions and other 

subjective assessments. Specifically, the Bank has reviewed certain accounting principles as important for understanding financial 

statements, due to both subjective judgments, estimates and assumptions involved, and the sensitivity of the financial statements 

to them. 

3. Significant accounting policies, estimates and judgmentsς 
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3.1 Measurement of expected credit losses  

Measurement of expected credit losses requires the management to exercise a high degree of judgment. The required estimates 

are based on a number of factors that can cause changes in the time of recognition of losses as well as in the amount of 

recognized impairment. Calculation of expected credit losses is based on complex models, which depend on a number of 

assumptions regarding selection of model variables and the interdependencies generated by them.    

Management makes significant estimates and assumptions in respect of the following matters of expected credit losses:  

Significant Increase in Credit Risk: Given that IFRS 9 does not provide a definition of what constitutes a significant increase in 

credit risk (SICR), the assessment of the deviation from initial recognition is based on sufficiently well-documented qualitative 

and quantitative data pertaining to the future conditions, which, however, also involve a degree of the Management’s  judgment.   
 

Development of Expected Credit Loss Models: For the purpose of measuring the expected credit losses, the Bank configures the 

applicable model in compliance with  the latest data. Calculations of the expected credit loss are based on a set of parameters, 

such as EAD, PD, LGD, etc., which incorporate opinions and assumptions of the Management regarding the future conditions. In 

order to develop the models, the Bank is also required to determine the correlation between macroeconomic and financial data, 

while the developed models  may incorporate variables such as levels of unemployment, GDP, etc. in an attempt to facilitate 

getting a more accurate result.  

The Bank classifies its exposures based on their common credit risk characteristics  in respect of  assessing  significant credit risk 

increase in line with measuring the provision for impairment of loans on a collective basis. Different categories are designed in 

order to capture PDs and default rates in case of default. The described grouping  is reviewed on a regular basis in order to 

ensure  homogeneity of the credit risk characteristics among the individual categories.    



73 PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual financial statements for the year 2018  

3.2 Recoverability of deferred taxes  

Deferred tax is regulated by IAS 12 Income taxes. Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method for all temporary 

differences arising from the tax base of assets and liabilities and the respective book value. The essential temporary differences 

mainly relate to provisions for credit risk, the impairment of Greek Government Bonds, the loss from the application of 

Government Bond exchange program (+PSI) and deferred tax assets from deductible tax losses (+PSI) under par. 3, Article 27, 

Law 4172/2013 from write-off of loans. 

Based on the Business Plan of the Bank deferred tax seems totally recoverable but the management estimates on the future 

development of tax results of the Bank incorporate multiple assumptions and hypotheses some of them are not controlled by the 

Bank itself (economic environment, providing liquidity, withdrawals, etc.). 

Under Article 27A, Law 4172/2013, the Bank can convert the deferred tax assets on certain temporary differences into final and 

liquidated receivables against the Greek State (D.T.C.). Following the decisions of the Extraordinary General Meeting of the 

partners, held in March 2016, the Bank has been placed under the special regime of Article 27A, Law 4172/2013, as effective.   

The new Law 4465/2017, published on April 4, 2017, introduces amendments to articles 27 and 27A of Law 4172/2013. In 

particular, Article 27 makes provisions for a 20-year amortization (transfer) period for losses arising from loan write-offs, while 

the provisions of Article 27A state that, in addition to the deferred tax asset that relates to the amount of accumulated provisions 

and other credit risk losses and to the residual (unamortized) debit balance of PSI, the deferred tax asset that relates to 

accounting write-offs and permanent losses due to the permanent write-off or transfer of loans may, under certain conditions, be 

transferred to final receivables from the State. Additions to paragraph 2, Article 27A do not entail an increase in deferred tax 

assets as the paragraph makes explicit provisions for restricting the amount of tax attributable to temporary differences from 

accumulated provisions and other credit risk losses as at 30 June 2015. The aforementioned amount does not include the 

following: 

(a) potential amount of final and liquidated receivables arising from accounting losses for the year in accordance with the 

provisions of Article 27A; (b) the amount of tax attributable to any subsequent specific tax provisions relating to the above 

accumulated provisions; and (c) the amount of the tax corresponding to annual depreciation of the debit difference under case 

a, par. 3, Article 27. 

The tax rate for the calculation of D.T.A. under Article 27A shall not exceed the tax rate applicable for the tax year 2015. 

As far as he Bank is concerned, the amount of deferred tax assets that can be converted to final asset stands at  approximately 

€ 45.53 million. The amount regards the corresponding tax, 29%, over the temporary differences of accumulated provisions for 

credit risk, as accounted for on 30 June 2015.   



74 PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual financial statements for the year 2018  

The outline of an effective Risk Management Framework (RMF), which is applicable, measurable and developing, constitutes the 

key and fundamental element in organization and implementation of the Bank's business strategy. 

The Risk Management Framework includes an overall approach to policies, procedures, controls and systems that identify, 

determine and monitor availability of risk undertaking. It is in line with the business strategy and business model, as well as the 

Bank's five-year business plan. 

The Bank has established Risk Management Policy, analytically described in the Risk Management Framework, risk undertaking 

limits and early warning points. The Risk Management Policy is reviewed on annual basis to ensure implementation of the 

business strategy within the desired risk undertaking framework. 

3.3 Real estate items fair value definition  

Own-used real estate items and investment property are periodically measured at fair value, as determined by independent 

certified valuers. Fair value is determined by market prices or adjusted if necessary, depending on the nature, location and 

condition of the property.  
 

3.4 Classification of cooperative capital  

The Bank's management considers that all the conditions for the recognition of the cooperative capital to equity in accordance 

with IFRIC 2 are satisfied. The change in the future of these or some of these conditions (see §2.17) may result in the 

reclassification of all or part of equity in the financial liabilities.   
 

4. Risk Factors   

4.1 Risk management framework   

Recognition of deferred tax assets (D.T.A.) and their potential conversion to DTC could be adversely affected by: (a) future 

reduction in income tax rates; and (b) adverse change in legal and regulatory Framework governing the treatment of deferred 

tax assets in regulatory capital.   
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4.2 Risk management structure and organization 

Risk management in Pancretan Bank is divided in four defense lines, defining responsibilities and limits of liability pertaining to 

risk undertaking. 

The 1st defense line consists of the branches and the exchange units. It is in these units, which bear the respective responsibility, 

that the initial risk undertaking is performed. These units recognize and manage the risks they undertake in the context of their 

business operations and shall function according to the policies and procedures established by the Bank. 

The 2nd defense line includes the central services and committees which are responsible for making decisions and operate 

supportively to the units of the 1st defense line. The units of the 2nd defense line are responsible for controlling the units of the 

1st defense line under everyday implementation of their business objectives in view of the specific risk undertaking framework, 

again, according to the policies and procedures established by the Bank. 

The 3rd defense line pertains to Risk Management Division, which is responsible for:   

 Development of the risk management framework and submitting recommendations for approval to the Board of Directors of 

the Bank. 

 Recognition, measurement and monitoring of the undertaken risks. 

 Support of all the units of the Bank in risk management matters. 

 Monitoring risk undertaking limits established by the Board of Directors. 

 Development of an early risk detection mechanism. 

 Updating the Management and the Board of Directors on risk management matters.  

 

The 4th defense line comprises the Internal Audit Department which, through the audit procedures, assists in ensuring the 

implementation of the Bank’s business policy under the approved risk management framework, policies and procedures. The 

Internal Audit reviews effectiveness and efficiency of applications and procedures that cover the entire range of the Bank’s 

operations. Findings and proposals of the Internal Audit Department are reported to the Audit Committee so that it could 

evaluate the matters and the appropriate corrective measures could be taken by the Board of Directors of the Bank. 

Recognition and identification of risks, which can be a result of both external and internal factors, defines the Bank’s exposure to 

uncertainty and constitutes the first and fundamental stage in designing the Risk Management Framework. 
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4.3 Risks associated with the Greek fiscal crisis  

Third Support Program for the Greek Economy expired on 21 August 2018 and the Greek Economy entered the first year, since 

2010, in which the Economic Adjustment Program is not being implemented. As reported in the IOBE report, the positive effect of 

this development has so far been reflected in the tendency of expectations, particularly in households, where the steady upward 

trend in Consumer Confidence in the second half of 2018 to reach the highest level since March 2015. 

Despite the fact that no new Economic Adjustment Program has been concluded, the Greek government is committed to the 

Medium-Term Financial Implementation Framework 2019-2022 for the implementation of fiscal measures and the achievement of 

certain targets in relation to the primary general government surplus. At the same time, an extensive reform plan has been set up 

by 2021. Achieving budgetary targets and implementing reforms are the most important challenges in the post-programming 

period as they are controlled by the European Commission's strengthened supervision process. 

Generating  the cash buffer of € 24.1 billion is sufficient to refinance the public debt until almost the end of the first half of 2020. 

Any deviations from the above, structural reforms, prevent confidence in the economic policy being implemented and hamper the 

Greek state's access to capital markets in sustainable conditions for refinancing the overall debt. It should also be noted that the 

Greek government capital reserve does not guarantee access to finance the private sector. 

Regarding the socio-economic environment and economic policy, the next year's (2019) effect of successive electoral processes is 

expected to be significant. The election period and the announcements of the parties concerning fiscal measures, e.g. tax benefits, 

benefits, recruitment etc. change the expectations of economic units, while at the same time creating uncertainty about the 

stability of the parameters of the tax system, the regulatory framework for entrepreneurship an so on. In the context of the 

aforementioned, the 2019 elections and, in anticipation of any changes in the economic policy being pursued by a new 

government, could hamper economic decision-making. 

The Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) in its six-month OECD Economic Outlook projects a 

growth rate of over 2% for the Greek economy in 2019 and 2020. Specifically, Greek GDP (Gross Domestic Product) is projected 

to increase by 2.2% in 2019 and 2.1% in 2020 when the international economic environment will be weaker. According to the 

same report, "The big contribution of exports to growth will decrease, but the recovery of household consumption and investment 

will increase dynamically by increasing confidence. The continued implementation of the government's reform program will 

support the recovery. Unemployment, albeit still high, will continue to decline. ". 
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It is also estimated that the medium-term targets for the primary surplus will be succeeded, while fiscal policy targeting a primary 

surplus of 3.5% of GDP in 2019 will support domestic demand growth, as well as household incomes and confidence . The OECD 

refers in particular to the measures projected in the draft budget for the reduction of corporation tax, dividend and real estate 

taxation, the reduction of social security contributions, the introduction of additional welfare measures and the halt to the 

reduction of civil servants. "If a slower growth compromises the fiscal targets or if the financial results is better than the targets, 

the government should prioritize targeted social investment and investment in infrastructure and continue expanding the tax 

base." 

It is also projected that unemployment will fall to 18.1% in 2019 and 17% in 2020 from 19.5% in 2018, while inflation 

(Harmonized Index of Consumer Prices) it is projected to be increased by 1.3% and 1.5% % from 0.8%, respectively. With regard 

to public finances, it projects a general government surplus of 0.1% of GDP in 2019 and 0.3% in 2020, compared to an 

estimated surplus of 0.3% this year.  

According to OECD, inadequate financing remains a major investment barrier and progress in attracting foreign direct 

investment and privatizing state property is slow. "Banking loans in the most dynamic sectors, such as tourism and trade, has 

stabilized, but overall it continues to decline. Deposits are gradually recovering as capital controls have been less stringent. 

Emergency liquidity assistance (ELA) in banks has almost disappeared. Banks achieve their targets for reducing non-performing 

loans, mainly through sales or write-offs. Non-performing business and consumer loans are cleared more quickly than mortgage 

loans, as the latter have greater legal protection. Banking stock prices remain volatile due to concerns about their ability to raise 

new funds if needed. " 

It is worth noting that maintaining the recovery of the Greek economy requires stronger investment, as despite recent growth 

encouraging, it remains relatively fragile, with investment continuing to be a key uncertainty for a sustainable recovery. The 

extent of non-performing bank loans remains a weakness. The deterioration in financial market conditions and abroad, mainly 

due to developments in Italy and Turkey, is likely to reduce new investment. Although public debt remains high, the fact that its 

service costs have been set aside, and the existence of cash pillows provides additional protection. By maintaining sustainable 

fiscal policy and reforming momentum, Greece can limit new risks to public finances and growth. Continuous improvements in 

relations with the northern neighbors of Greece could further enhance the recovery of investment and trade. Deeper reforms to 

improve product markets, professional services and competitiveness as well as public investment supporting growth and social 

transfers would strengthen the prospect and inclusiveness of the Greek economy, concludes the OECD report. 

In this context, the Macroeconomic environment is assessed as more favorable despite the fact that there remain significant 

uncertainties related to geopolitical developments and the refugee issue, or possible delays in the implementation of reforms and 

privatizations.   
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4.4 Financial risks  

 

Credit risk: Credit risk is the risk of financial loss that may result from the possible breach of the contractual obligations of 

borrowers. A borrower is considered as «default» when one or both of the following events occur:   

 The credit institution becomes reasonably certain that the borrower is unlikely to fulfill its payment obligations. 

 The borrower delays any of contractual repayments past due 90 days.  

Measurement and monitoring of credit risk is a top priority for the Risk Management Division as it is the major cause of financial 

loss for the Bank. The total exposure to credit risk arises mainly from the corporate and individual credit loans, as well as from 

letters of guarantee.   

The Credit Risk evaluation includes:   

 Credit rating of the Bank's borrowers as well as potential clients. 

 Estimation of specific impairment provisions in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

 Estimation of risk-weighted exposures and capital requirements versus credit risk under Pillar I of Basel III. 

 Estimation of intrinsic capital under Pillar II of Basel III. 

 Estimation of the effect of stress tests.  

In order to manage credit risk more effectively, the Bank applies the following policies:   

 Define withdrawal limits under approving loans. 

 Interest rate policy based on the undertaken risk. 

 Define limits and customer acceptance criteria. 

 Periodic upgrade or degradation of borrowers. 

 Periodic review of criteria that classify borrowers into permanent delay. 

 Determine of how to haircut acceptable collateral. 

 Examination of collateral impairment rates and valuation of financial collateral (bonds shares). 

 Monitor specific funding.  

 Monitor the balance of transfer funds.   

4.4.1 Credit risk  
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Credit risk originates mainly from exposures to small and medium-sized enterprises (hereinafter referred to as SMEs) and natural 

persons. The creditworthiness of the Bank’s clients has worsened given the adverse changes in the economic environment 

occurred. As a result of the long recession, asset quality has deteriorated in recent years hence the Bank has increased the 

impairment provisions for credit risk, which now amount to 23,3% of total loans. 

In order to ensure more effective monitoring and management of arrears, and, consequently, credit risk, the Bank has divided its 

portfolio in two Divisions – the clients managed by the Loans Department (Performing Exposures) and the clients managed by 

the Denounced Loans Management Department (Non-Performing Exposures).  

 

Credit risk management: Through the application of the credit limit system, the Bank manages and limits the volume of credit 

risk. Credit limits determine the maximum acceptable risk undertaking versus exposures. For the purposes of determining the 

clients’ limits, collaterals or coverages are taken into consideration, which reduce the volume of undertaken risk, classifying the 

exposures risk into risk categories, depending on the type of collateral or coverage and the possibility of their capitalization. For 

the purposes of approving the credits, approving bodies have been established depending on the amount of the exposure.  

 

Risk reduction techniques: The Bank obtains collateral and guarantees against credit to customers, minimizing the overall credit 

risk and ensuring the repayment of loans. 

 

For this purpose the Bank incorporates the collateral policy, whose most important items are:  
 

 Greek State Guarantees 

 Pledges over deposits 

 Mortgages/real estate mortgages 

 Mortgages ships 

 Bank guarantee letters 

 Guarantees of Guarantee Fund for Small and Very Small Enterprises  

 Pledges on checks 

 Pledges on shares, bonds and treasury bill   

 

Under the Bank's Article of Association, all loans are guaranteed by warranties and loans over five years – by full collateral 

coverage.  
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Collateral valuation process: The valuation of the financial collateral takes place at regular intervals as required by the 

institutional framework. 

 

Performing loans: Monitoring loans of temporary delay shorter than 90 days. Claims are considered in default when indications of 

impairment emerge. 

 

Bad debts: Non-performing loans which the Bank determines that it is unlikely to collect part or all of principal and interest due, in 

accordance with contractual terms.   

 

Provisions for impairment of loans to borrowers: Are conducted in respect of total loans in compliance with the provisions of IFRS 

9.  
 

The Bank writes-off loans when they are deemed uncollectible. In case of a claim collection after write-off, this is recognized in the 

income statement. 

The Bank has adopted a Projections and Write-offs Policy, which define the amount of projections and write-offs both for the 

clients who are evaluated on an individual basis and for the portfolios which are examined on a collective basis. 

Debt settlements apply where the client is financially unable to service the loan in accordance with the original terms of his/her 

loan agreement. Following the assessment of these difficulties, the Bank modifies the terms of the contract, offering long-term, 

short-term or final settlement solutions to enable the borrower to service the loan, either in whole or in part.   
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The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017 respectively is as follows:   

The following tables present loans measured at unamortized cost under  IFRS 9 per stage as arising following the effect of IFRS 

9 as at January 1st 2018 and December 31st 2018 respectively.  

Total Exposure to Credit Risk 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Credit Risk of Exposures related to Balance Sheet Items

Cash available  with Central Banks 246.494.869 90.893.011

Due from credit institutions 5.997.392 4.400.786

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 13.199.707 6.254.954

Loans and advances to customers 1.141.462.372 1.225.245.027
Total value of Balance Sheet Items regarding the items subject to 

credit risk (a)
1.407.154.341 1.326.793.777

Other Balance Sheet Items not subject to credit risk 169.072.875 144.980.754

Total Assets 1.576.227.216 1.471.774.531

Credit Risk of Exposures related to Non-Balance Sheet Items

Letters of guarantee, Credits under collaterals and other guarantees 88.113.427 91.065.657

Total value of Off-Balance Sheet Items subject to credit risk (b) 88.113.427 91.065.657

Total value of Exposures subject to credit risk (a+b) 1.495.267.768 1.417.859.434

1st Jan 2018

Amounts in €
Total value prior 
to impairment

ECL
Total value prior 
to impairment

ECL
Total value prior 
to impairment

ECL
Total value prior 
to impairment

ECL
Net value after 

impairment
Retail Portfolio 178.442.499 2.009.090 90.278.484 11.381.947 439.062.423 162.985.674 707.783.406 176.376.712 531.406.695
Analysed as follows:

   Mortgage 41.997.776 205.985 21.724.803 1.553.201 80.933.309 17.480.744 144.655.889 19.239.929 125.415.960
   Consumer 14.500.446 178.507 9.299.729 1.697.454 58.603.127 24.802.524 82.403.302 26.678.486 55.724.816
   Corporate  121.944.277 1.624.598 59.253.952 8.131.292 299.525.987 120.702.406 480.724.215 130.458.297 350.265.918
Corporate (Non-Retail) Portfolio 189.109.308 2.941.418 150.518.045 19.873.334 551.649.419 259.559.188 891.276.773 282.373.941 608.902.832

Total            367.551.808                 4.950.509            240.796.529              31.255.282            990.711.842            422.544.862        1.599.060.179            458.750.652        1.140.309.527 

Stage 3
Total loans ands receivables from clients at amortized 

cost
Stage 1 Stage 2

31st Dec 2018

Amounts in €
Total value prior 
to impairment

ECL
Total value prior 
to impairment

ECL
Total value prior 
to impairment

ECL
Total value prior 
to impairment

ECL
Net value after 

impairment
Retail Portfolio 158.291.859 1.876.795 105.252.644 12.563.985 447.826.814 148.754.766 711.371.316 163.195.546 548.175.771
Analysed as follows:

   Mortgage 37.248.033 225.987 27.283.104 2.193.477 78.032.736 15.296.331 142.563.873 17.715.794 124.848.078
   Consumer 12.693.381 146.812 8.272.270 1.648.644 59.771.135 23.601.721 80.736.786 25.397.176 55.339.609
   Corporate  108.350.445 1.503.996 69.697.270 8.721.865 310.022.943 109.856.714 488.070.658 120.082.575 367.988.083
Corporate (Non-Retail) Portfolio 218.539.919 4.987.292 110.395.154 15.111.279 472.107.049 187.656.949 801.042.121 207.755.519 593.286.602

Total            376.831.777                 6.864.087            215.647.797              27.675.264            919.933.863            336.411.714        1.512.413.437            370.951.065        1.141.462.372 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Total loans ands receivables from clients at amortized 

cost
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Α. Credit Risk / Loans & other receivables  

Analysis of loan portfolio by type and maturity delays:  

It to be noted that due to application of IFRS 9 "Financial Instruments" as of 01.01.18 versus IAS 39, applied as in the previous 

year, there are no comparable tables for the corresponding data as at 31.12.2017, regarding which reference is made  to the 

annual Financial Statements as of 31.12.2018.    

Changes in balances prior to provisions regarding IFRS 9 staged for the current year are analyzed as follows: 

Without delay With delay

Stage 1
Mortgage loans                29.948                  7.300                  37.248                      226                37.022                35.177 

Consumer loans                11.083                  1.610                  12.693                      147                12.546                  7.182 

Corporate and Public Sector              278.944                47.946                326.891                  6.491              320.399              253.074 

Total 319.975           56.857              376.832              6.864                369.968           295.433           

Stage 2
Mortgage loans                  4.490                22.793                  27.283                  2.193                25.090                25.232 

Consumer loans                  1.337                  6.935                     8.272                  1.649                  6.624                  5.397 

Corporate                  75.734              104.358                180.092                23.833              156.259              145.607 

Total 81.561              134.086           215.648              27.675              187.972           176.236           

Stage 3
Mortgage loans                11.039                66.994                  78.033                15.296                62.736                67.371 

Consumer loans                  7.660                52.112                  59.771                23.602                36.169                34.146 

Corporate              165.488              616.642                782.130              297.514              484.616              467.187 

Total 184.186           735.748           919.934              336.412           583.522           568.704           

General total
Mortgage loans                45.476                97.088                142.564                17.716              124.848              127.779 

Consumer loans                20.080                60.657                  80.736                25.397                55.339                46.725 

Corporate              520.166              768.947            1.289.113              327.838              961.275              865.868 

Total 585.723           926.691           1.512.413          370.951           1.141.462        1.040.373        

Value of 
collateral

Loans and Receivable per stage
Balance as at 31.12.2018
(amounts in €)

Loans and Receivables per stage Total value 
after provisions 
of impairment

Total value 
before provisions 

of impairment

Total provisions 
of impairment

L&R valued at unamortised cost Stage IFRS 9 01/01/18
Transfer from 
other stages

Transfer to Stage 
1

Transfer to Stage 
2

Transfer to Stage 
3

Repayments and 
Other Changes

New Loans Write-offs 31/12/18

Stage 1 367.552                 61.408                    -                               (48.000)                  (16.863)                  (36.038)                  48.774                    -                               376.832                 

Stage 1 240.797                 120.298                 (60.672)                  -                               (54.523)                  (36.262)                  6.024                      (14)                          215.648                 

Stage 1 990.712                 71.386                    (736)                        (72.298)                  -                               19.934                    86                            (89.150)                  919.934                 

Total 1.599.060              - - - - (52.366)                  54.883                    (89.164)                  1.512.413              

Stage 1 41.998                    4.157                      -                               (4.663)                    (1.937)                    (3.840)                    1.533                      -                               37.248                    

Stage 1 21.725                    18.174                    (3.677)                    -                               (7.296)                    (1.659)                    30                            (14)                          27.283                    

Stage 1 80.933                    9.232                      (481)                        (13.511)                  -                               1.858                      -                               -                               78.033                    

Total 144.656                 - - - - (3.641)                    1.563                      (14)                          142.564                 

Stage 1 14.500                    1.466                      -                               (1.006)                    (1.551)                    (3.101)                    2.385                      -                               12.693                    

Stage 1 9.300                      5.355                      (1.432)                    -                               (4.191)                    (807)                        47                            (0)                             8.272                      

Stage 1 58.603                    5.742                      (34)                          (4.349)                    -                               953                          10                            (1.153)                    59.771                    

Total 82.403                    - - - - (2.955)                    2.442                      (1.153)                    80.737                    

Stage 1 311.054                 55.784                    -                               (42.331)                  (13.376)                  (29.097)                  44.856                    -                               326.890                 

Stage 1 209.772                 96.769                    (55.563)                  -                               (43.036)                  (33.796)                  5.947                      -                               180.092                 

Stage 1 851.175                 56.412                    (221)                        (54.438)                  -                               17.123                    76                            (87.997)                  782.130                 

Total 1.372.001              - - - - (45.770)                  50.878                    (87.997)                  1.289.113              

Total Portfolio

Mortgage

Consumer

Corporate
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Analysis of collaterals 

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

< 50%                58.961                57.373 

50% - 70%                20.094                25.984 

71% - 80%                11.452                10.285 

81% - 90%                11.042                12.685 

91% - 100%                  5.850                  7.560 

101% - 120%                11.784                10.235 

121% - 150%                  8.937                  6.339 

> 150%                14.443                14.194 

Total 142.564           144.656           
Average ratio 71,20% 72,66%

Loan ratio divided by the value of collateral
and guarantees
(amounts in €)

Mortgage Loans: 

Real Estate 
collaterals

Cash & 
Guarantee of 
Public Sector

Other collaterals

Individuals              171.082                  3.340                           83 

Corporate              779.187                11.619                  74.729 

Public Sector                      320                        14                              - 

Total 950.588           14.973              74.812                

Analysis of received collaterals 
and guarantees at 31.12.2018
(amounts in thousand €)

Value of collaterals

Real Estate 
collaterals

Cash & 
Guarantee of 
Public Sector

Other collaterals

Individuals              175.934                  3.182                        112 

Corporate              786.172                13.760                  73.300 

Public Sector                  2.984                        27                     2.705 

Total 965.089           16.968              76.117                

Analysis of received collaterals 
and guarantees at 31.12.2017
(amounts in thousand €)

Value of collaterals

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Current                29.948                  4.490                  11.039                11.083                  1.337                  7.660            278.944              75.734            165.488 

1-30 days [1-30 dpd]                  7.300                  7.603                     4.220                  1.610                  2.384                  1.848              47.946              51.679               40.474 

31-60 days  [31-60 dpd]                           -                  5.794                     3.847                           -                  1.845                  1.263                         -              24.450            103.071 

61-90 days  [61-90 dpd]                           -                  9.396                     5.179                           -                  2.707                  2.237                         -              28.229               49.902 

91-180 days [91-180 dpd]                           -                           -                     2.569                           -                           -                  1.319                         -                         -                 4.186 

181-360 days [181-360 dpd]                           -                           -                     3.289                           -                           -                  2.618                         -                         -                 9.086 

361-720 days [361-720 dpd]                           -                           -                     3.202                           -                           -                  3.798                         -                         -               18.155 

721 + days  [721+ dpd]                           -                           -                  20.976                           -                           -                20.617                         -                         -               76.378 

F. Denounced Loans                           -                           -                  23.712                           -                           -                18.411                         -                         -            315.390 

Total value before provisions 37.248              27.283              78.033                12.693              8.272                59.771              326.891         180.092         782.130          
Value of collaterals 35.177              25.232              67.371                7.182                5.397                34.146              253.074         145.607         467.187          

Total provisions of impairment 226                    2.193                15.296                147                    1.649                23.602              6.491              23.833            297.514          
Total value after provisions 37.022              25.090              62.736                12.546              6.624                36.169              320.399         156.259         484.616          

Mortgage Consumer CorporateAnalysis of maturity of loans and other dues 
from customers, per loan category | 31.12.2018
(amounts in €)
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 

Individuals                  2.259                  1.699                     4.141                           -                  8.099 

Corporate                17.670                10.236                  22.218                           -                50.123 

Public Sector                      644                        62                             2                           -                      707 

Total revenues from interests 20.573              11.996              26.361                -                         58.930              

Interests from credit institutions                           -                           -                              -                  1.383                  1.383 

Interests of fixed returned securities
(other bonds ) 

                          -                           -                              -                        24                        24 

Interests from fixed returned securities 
(bonds of Public Sector) 

                          -                           -                              -                        99                        99 

Special deposits at Central Bank                      125                      125 

Other interest bearing assets                        59                        59 

Total revenues from interests of loans 
and other receivables

20.573              11.996              26.361                1.690                60.620              

Analysis of revenues from interests based on
the quality of Loans & Receivables from
customers per loan category 
(amounts in €)

Revenues from loans

Other revenues 
from interests

31.12.2018

Total revenues 
from interests

Total  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total  Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

Individuals 223.300           49.941              35.555                137.804           43.113              373                    3.842              38.898            180.187          49.568            31.713            98.906            
Mortgage loans              142.564                37.248                  27.283                78.033                17.716                      226                2.193              15.296            124.848               37.022               25.090               62.736 

Consumer Loans                80.736                12.693                     8.272                59.771                25.397                      147                1.649              23.602               55.339               12.546                 6.624               36.169 

Credit Cards                           -                           -                              -                           -                           -                           -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          -                          - 

Other                           -                           -                              -                           -                           -                           -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          -                          - 

Corporate 1.270.651        310.419           179.153              781.079           326.203           5.716                23.569            296.919         944.448          304.703          155.584          484.160          
Wholesale and retail trade              330.316                54.796                  32.845              242.675                97.254                  1.042                4.399              91.813            233.062               53.754               28.446            150.862 

Services                32.013                  9.511                     5.520                16.982                  8.225                      125                1.491                6.609               23.788                 9.386                 4.029               10.373 

Industrial              248.757                41.939                  32.295              174.523                80.739                      839                4.523              75.376            168.017               41.099               27.772               99.146 

Shipping                  8.007                  6.135                        316                  1.556                      365                        66                      22                    277                 7.642                 6.069                     293                 1.279 

Construction              209.741                22.774                  16.038              170.929                69.071                  1.118                1.412              66.541            140.669               21.655               14.626            104.388 

Tourism              252.719              128.633                  64.186                59.900                20.760                  1.586                6.866              12.308            231.959            127.047               57.320               47.592 

Energy                32.781                24.904                     6.528                  1.349                  2.536                      539                1.556                    441               30.245               24.366                 4.972                     908 

Agriculture                36.701                  5.594                     7.699                23.409                  8.702                        49                1.322                7.331               27.999                 5.545                 6.377               16.078 

Food                36.020                  4.362                     2.417                29.242                11.930                        53                    231              11.646               24.090                 4.309                 2.186               17.595 

Other                83.596                11.771                  11.310                60.514                26.620                      298                1.747              24.575               56.976               11.473                 9.564               35.939 

Public Sector 18.462              16.471              939                      1.051                1.635                775                    264                  595                  16.827            15.696            675                  456                  
Greece                18.462                16.471                        939                  1.051                  1.635                      775                    264                    595               16.827               15.696                     675                     456 

Other countries                           -                           -                              -                           -                           -                           -                         -                         -                          -                          -                          -                          - 

Total 1.512.413        376.832           215.648              919.934           370.951           6.864                27.675            336.412         1.141.462      369.968          187.972          583.522          

Total L&R  after provisions Total provisions for impairment  

Greece

Loans and other receivables from customers, 
impaired loans and provisions of impairments 
of loans for every category of loans, sector and 
geographical region 
Balance as at  31.12.2018
(Amounts in thousand €) 

Total loans and other receivables  before provisions 
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Adjusted Loans & Receivables from customers 
for every category 
(amounts in €)

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Individuals 66.520              70.210              

Mortgage Loans                46.219                46.967 

Consumer Loans                20.301                23.242 

Corporate 319.590           358.946           

Small & Medium Enterprises              319.590              358.946 

Public Sector 96                      349                    
Total 386.206           429.504           

Total gross 
value

Total net 
value

Total gross 
value

Total net 
value

Greece              587.538              386.206                584.706              429.504 

Other Europe                           -                           -                              -                           - 

Other Countries                           -                           -                              -                           - 

Total 587.538           386.206           584.706              429.504           

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Adjusted Loans & Receivables from customers 
for every geographical region  (amounts in €)

Type of Adjustment 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Transfer of interest payment                27.559                39.801 
Reduced payments plan                51.816                50.027 
Allowance of grace period                43.415                36.668 
Extension of loan's duration              193.952              210.617 
Capitalization of delayed instalment                  5.713                20.926 
Write-off a part of debt                  2.013                           - 
Combination of adjustment measures                26.356                33.702 
Other                35.381                37.763 
Total 386.206           429.504           

Analysis of adjusted Loans & Receivables from customers for every category of
adjustment  (amount in thousand €)
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Β. Credit risk / Available to banks, due from banks & debt securities  

Concentration risk may arise from exposures to specific customers, groups of connected clients, on exposures to specific groups of 

counterparties whose likelihood of default is influenced by common factors such as the business sector, the macroeconomic 

environment, geographic location currency etc. 

The Bank shall measure the concentration risk and the corresponding capital needs with the Sectoral Concentration Index (SCI) 

and Individual Concentration Index (ICI) regarding its 1000 major borrowers. 

More specifically, while determining the Sector Concentration Index (SCI), Loans and Outstanding Financial Position exposures 

are taken into account after the application of the appropriate CCF and following the classification per sector as presented in the 

following table: 

Loans by industry sector 
Exposure 

(amounts in 
thousand €)

%

Corporate Loans 1.339.340         85,71%
Wholesale and retail trade               335.846 21,49%
Hotels - Tourism               258.109 16,52%
Industrial               250.936 16,06%
Construction               222.655 14,25%
Agriculture                  37.028 2,37%
Food                  36.109 2,31%
Energy / Photovoltaic                  37.337 2,39%
Services                  32.858 2,10%
Other                  27.153 1,74%
Transportation                  19.435 1,24%
Real Estate management                  18.479 1,18%
Municipality / Civic Organizations                  32.814 2,10%
Telecommunication/IT/Mass Media                  14.771 0,95%
Shipping                    8.260 0,53%
Healthcare Services                    3.305 0,21%
Management of water resources and waste                    2.442 0,16%
Insurance - Banking                    1.803 0,12%

Mortgage Loans 142.564             9,12%
Consumer Loans 80.737               5,17%
Total 1.562.640         100,00%

Plus BΒB- Less than
 BΒB- 

Unrated Plus
 BΒB- 

Less than BΒB- Unrated

Cash available with Central Banks                             -       233.063.436                             -                             -         79.267.794                             - 
Due from credit institutions               769.741            2.570.119            2.657.532                             -            2.071.324            2.329.462 
Other credit securities                             -            3.473.347                             -                             -            3.335.174 
Public Sector Bonds                             -            9.726.360                             -                             -            2.919.780                             - 
Total 769.741             245.359.915     6.130.879         -                           84.258.898       5.664.636         

Cash available with banks, receivables from banks 
& credit securities 
(analysis per classification) (amounts in €)

31.12.201731.12.2018
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Intrinsic Capital Estimate  

Sector Concentration Index (SCI) amounts to 13.38 that corresponds to multiplier of 0.02 and to capital requirements of                 

€ 1.635,66  k. 

The Individual Concentration Index (ICI) amounts to 0.33 that corresponds to multiplier of capital requirements 0.04 and to 

capital requirements of € 2.579,57 k. 

In view of the aforementioned, the intrinsic capital required versus the concentration risk to which the Bank is exposed stands at         

€ 4.125,23 k.     

Sectoral Concentration Index

0<SCI≤12
12<SCI≤15
15<SCI≤20
20<SCI≤25
25<SCI≤100

Multiplier 

0.00
0.02
0.04

0.08
0.06

Individual Concertation Index (ICI)

0.0<ICI≤0.1
0.1<ICI≤0.2
0.2<ICI≤0.4
0.4<ICI≤1.0
1.0<ICI≤100.0

0.04
0.06
0.08

0.02
0.00

Multiplier 



88 PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual financial statements for the year 2018  

The interest rate risk arises from different impact of interest rate changes on assets and liabilities, depending on the sensitivity of 

assets in interest rate changes, due to mismatch in their repricing and maturity. An unexpected change in interest rates can 

seriously affect the profitability and the equity of the Bank. 

The equity risk relates to the price change of an asset (e.g. bond) which is due to the interest rate change, affecting the value of 

portfolio. 

The income risk pertains to the possibility of decrease of the Bank’s income in an unexpected or non-desirable development of 

interest rates. 

For the measurement of the interest rate exposure, as well as for the estimation of intrinsic capital, the Gap Analysis technique is 

used, as well as the Duration Gap method.    
 

Gap Analysis 

This method defines the gap in repricing of the sensitive to interest rate assets and liabilities. A stress test of interest rate change 

is performed and the impact on equity of the Bank is estimated. 
 

Duration Gap 

The Duration Gap sensitivity analyze constitutes a change calculation method in economic value of equity from the impact on 

interest rate changes. The change in Economic Value of Equity based on this method is calculated as change in of assets and 

liabilities for the interest-bearing assets. 

Duration of assets and liabilities is defined as repricing for floating assets and the end for fixed-interest-rate assets.  

4.4.2 Interest rate risk  

-1% 1%
Sensitivity of net interest income               (1.043)                   (404) 
Sensitivity of equity                   1.960               (1.960) 

Sensitivity interest analysis as at 31.12.2018
(amounts in thousand €)

Change in interest rates
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Interest rate risk 31.12.2018 (amounts in thousand €)
Non-interest 

bearing
<1Μ 1-3Μ 3-6Μ 6Μ-1Υ 1-3Υ >3Υ Total

ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Banks                19.328              227.167                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -              246.495 
Due from credit institutions                   2.605                   2.460                      933                            -                            -                            -                            -                   5.997 
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or 
loss

                  3.428                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                   9.772                13.200 

Loans and advances to customers                   4.074              436.345              537.173              116.093                28.845                      511                18.422          1.141.462 
Investment securities                        (0)                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                        (0) 
Tangible assets                21.029                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                21.029 
Investment property                15.667                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                15.667 
Intangible assets                   2.247                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                   2.247 
Deferred tax assets                69.628                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                69.628 
Other assets                47.073                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                47.073 
Assets available for sale (Foreclosed)                13.429                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                13.429 

Total assets 198.507 665.972 538.106 116.093 28.845 511 28.194 1.576.227

LIABILITIES
Due to other credit institutions                      954                   9.028              160.725                            -                            -                            -                            -              170.707 
Due to customers                   5.257              819.776              189.661              162.450                76.274                   4.180                            -          1.257.596 
Debt issued and other borrowed funds                15.031                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                32.789                47.820 
Employee defined benefit obligations                   2.388                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                   2.388 
Other liabilities                23.305                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                23.305 
Equity                74.411                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                74.411 

Total liabilities 121.346 828.804 350.385 162.450 76.274 4.180 32.789 1.576.227

Interest rate risk 31.12.2018 (amounts in thousand €)
Non-interest 

bearing
<1Μ 1-3Μ 3-6Μ 6Μ-1Υ 1-3Υ >3Υ

GAP = RSAs - RSLs - -162.832 187.720 -46.357 -47.429 -3.669 -4.595
CUMULATIVE GAP - -162.832 24.889 -21.469 -68.897 -72.566 -77.161

Interest rate risk 31.12.2017 (amounts in thousand €)
Non-interest 

bearing
<1Μ 1-3Μ 3-6Μ 6Μ-1Υ 1-3Υ >3Υ

GAP = RSAs - RSLs - -227.918 242.779 -15.167 -7.330 5.822 -26.492
CUMULATIVE GAP - -227.918 14.861 -306 -7.636 -1.814 -28.306

Interest rate risk 31.12.2017 (amounts in thousand €)
Non-interest 

bearing
<1Μ 1-3Μ 3-6Μ 6Μ-1Υ 1-3Υ >3Υ Total

ASSETS
Cash and ba lances  with Centra l  Banks           12.803           78.090  -  -  -  -  -           90.893 
Due from credi t ins ti tutions             2.622             1.500                279  -  -  -  -             4.401 
Financia l  ins truments  at fa i r va lue through 
profi t or loss

            3.335             2.920  -  -  -  -  -             6.255 

Loans  and advances  to customers             1.712         469.200         589.730         111.071           31.698             9.960           11.874      1.225.245 
Investment securi ties  -  -  -  -  -  -  -                     - 
Tangible assets           20.285  -  -  -  -  -  -           20.285 
Investment property           15.667  -  -  -  -  -  -           15.667 
Intangible assets             1.372  -  -  -  -  -  -             1.372 
Deferred tax assets           49.939  -  -  -  -  -  -           49.939 
Other assets           45.845  -  -  -  -  -  -           45.845 
Assets  ava i lable for sa le (Foreclosed)           11.873  -  -  -  -  -  -           11.873 

Total assets 165.453 551.710 590.009 111.071 31.698 9.960 11.874 1.471.775

LIABILITIES
Due to other credi t ins ti tutions             1.950           22.200         158.110  -  -  -  -         182.260 
Due to customers  -         757.428         189.120         126.238           39.028             4.138  -      1.115.952 
Debt i ssued and other borrowed funds  -  -  -  -  -  -           38.366           38.366 
Employee defined benefi t obl igations             2.140  -  -  -  -  -  -             2.140 
Other l iabi l i ties           12.776  -  -  -  -  -  -           12.776 
Equity         120.281  -  -  -  -  -  -         120.281 

Total liabilities 137.147 779.628 347.230 126.238 39.028 4.138 38.366 1.471.775
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Liquidity risk management pertains to the capacity of the Bank to maintain liquidity adequacy for the fulfillment of its 

transactional liabilities and to ensure a stable funding base. Liquidity risk for the Bank arises both from mismatch in size and 

duration of assets and liabilities. Key form of liquidity risk is the possibility that the Bank does not have efficient liquid reserves for 

the coverage of its liabilities, which can end up causing its survival problems. 

Sources of liquidity risk can arise both from management of liabilities and assets of the Bank. More specifically, the sources can 

be described as follows:   
 

 Liability-side risk 

1. Refinancing risk: e.g. when long-term liabilities are financed through short-term loans, resulting in a disorder in markets 

being able to cause financing cost increase or inability of the Bank to settle all its obligations. 

2. Withdrawal risk: the risk of non-expected deposit withdrawal following some rumors (whether real or hypothetical) 

about economic difficulties of the Bank.   
 

 Asset-side risk 

1. Non-expected uses of non-performed credit line limits. 

2. Capitalization of assets in very low prices (market liquidity risk). 

3. Overdue receiving liabilities.  
 

 Other sources   

1. When the Bank financing is based on wholesale deposits rather than on retail deposits. 

2. Concentration of sources of financing in one market (interbank, big depositors), geographical concentration, 

concentration to a few liquidity suppliers, concentration in foreign currency. 

3. Liabilities from out-of-balance-sheet assets: e.g. demand for increased collateral from counterparties, liabilities of 

providing liquidity to clients from conventional credit line limits or Letters of Guarantee.   
 

The Bank’s objective under liquidity risk management is to ensure, to the best possible extent, the existence of satisfying liquidity, 

with the objective to satisfy its obligations both in normal and stress conditions, without disproportionate additional cost. 

For the estimation of liquidity risk, the Bank, through its policy, has defined the desirable, according to its business plan, 

withdrawal limits.  

4.4.3 Liquidity risk  
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According to Article 412, paragraph 1, of regulation (E.U.) No. 575/2013 of European Parliament and Council and paragraph 2, 

(E.U.) 2015/61, the bank should possess «liquid assets, their total values, must be able to cover liquidity outflows minus liquidity 

inflows under extreme circumstances». The regulation (E.U.) No. 575/2013 introduces the following ratios for monitoring liquidity 

risk:   

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR): Pertains to the percentage of high quality liquid assets the credit institution holds, in order to 

offset estimated cash outflows during a 30 day stress test. According to the Regulations 61/2015 and 575/2013, the limit of 

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) for the year 2017 should not be less than 80%, while since the year 2018 it should not be less 

than 100%. For the Bank, the LCR was calculated at 175.30% as at 31.12.2018.   

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR): Is recommended to an amount of long-term stable funding that the Bank should hold 

(Liabilities that recommend stable funding, divided by Assets that demand stable funding). For the Bank, the NSFR was 

calculated at 116% as at 31.12.2018.    

During the monitoring of liquidity risk, the Bank classifies Assets and Liabilities in time periods, depending on the remaining time 

until their expiration and thus ensuring an overview of future cash flows. The following tables analyze Assets and Liabilities in 

time periods, depending on the remaining time, as at 31.12.2018 and 31.12.2017.  

Required 
benchmark 

Ratio Required 
benchmark 

Ratio

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) LCR > 100% 175,30% LCR > 80% 80,33%
Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR) NSFR > 100% 116,00% NSFR > 100% 102,00%

Liquidity Ratios 
31.12.2018 31.12.2017
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Liquidity Risk 31.12.2017 (amounts in €) 1Μ 1-3Μ 3-12Μ 1-5Υ >5Υ Total

Liquidity of Assets
Cash and balances with Central Banks 90.893.011                           90.893.011 
Due from credit institutions 4.400.786                               4.400.786 

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 2.919.780           20.432                      3.314.741           6.254.954                   

Available for sale portfolio 11.873.355              11.873.355                 
Loans and advance to customers         224.514.000           11.775.000           45.471.000          1.317.300.179             1.599.060.179 
Minus: Provisions for bad debts          (373.815.152)             (373.815.152) 
Tangible assets and Real Estate Investments           35.951.770                   35.951.770 
Intangible assets                  1.371.826                     1.371.826 
Deferred tax assets                  4.492.194           45.446.840                   49.939.034 
Other assets                    66.768                 521.970              5.014.981                40.241.050                   45.844.768 

Total Assets 322.794.344       12.296.970         50.485.981         1.001.483.884        84.713.352         1.471.774.531           

Liquidity of Liabilities and Equity
Due to Central Banks                                       - 
Due to other credit institutions 3.875.983           1.731.222           14.500.780         96.031.941              66.119.173                         182.259.099 
Due to customers         304.107.000         189.120.000         165.266.000              457.459.103             1.115.952.103 
Credit securities and other loan liabilities                23.356.805           15.009.454                   38.366.259 
Employee defined benefit obligations 2.139.748                               2.139.748 
Other liabilities                 635.509              2.985.032              9.155.450                   12.775.991 

Total Ι 308.618.492       193.836.254       188.922.230       576.847.848           83.268.375         1.351.493.199           
Equity (ΙΙ) 120.281.331       120.281.331              
Total liabilities and equity (Ι+ΙΙ) 308.618.492       193.836.254       188.922.230       576.847.848           203.549.706       1.471.774.531           
Open liquidity gap           14.175.852      (181.539.284)      (138.436.249)              424.636.035      (118.836.354) 

Liquidity Risk 31.12.2018 (amounts in €) 1Μ 1-3Μ 3-12Μ 1-5Υ >5Υ Total

Liquidity of Assets
Cash and ba lances  with Centra l  Banks 246.494.869           246.494.869 
Due from credi t ins ti tutions 5.997.392                   5.997.392 
Financia l  ins truments  at fa i r va lue through profi t 
or loss

30.682            13.169.026               13.199.707 

Avai lable for sa le portfol io 13.429.421               13.429.421 
Loans  and advance to customers     226.686.677       12.840.372       48.515.856  1.224.370.533                        -      1.512.413.437 
Minus: Provis ions  for bad debts  (370.951.065)       (370.951.065) 
Tangible assets  and Real  Es tate Investments       36.695.624           36.695.624 
Intangible assets         2.246.862             2.246.862 
Deferred tax assets       15.586.050       54.042.297           69.628.347 
Other assets              64.843            797.300         5.148.973       41.061.505                        -           47.072.621 

Total Assets 479.243.781   13.637.672     53.664.829     925.773.988   103.906.947   1.576.227.216     

Liquidity of Liabilities and Equity
Due to Centra l  Banks                            - 
Due to other credi t ins ti tutions 1.648.751       8.789.456       16.270.907     99.893.271     44.104.217             170.706.601 
Due to customers 317.230.832   189.660.675   238.723.391   511.981.436   -                           1.257.596.333 
Credit securi ties  and other loan l iabi l i ties                        -                        -                        -       23.319.770       24.500.000           47.819.770 
Employee defined benefi t obl igations 2.388.162                   2.388.162 
Other l iabi l i ties            679.332         2.092.686       20.533.310                        -                        -           23.305.328 

Total Ι 319.558.915   200.542.817   275.527.607   635.194.476   70.992.379     1.501.816.194     
Equity (ΙΙ) 74.411.021     74.411.021          
Total liabilities and equity (Ι+ΙΙ) 319.558.915   200.542.817   275.527.607   635.194.476   145.403.400   1.576.227.215     
Open liquidity gap     159.684.866  (186.905.145)  (221.862.778)     290.579.511    (41.496.453) 
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Operational risk is a non-financial risk and refers to contingent economic loss that may occur from inadequacy, failure or 

inappropriateness of established internal procedures, controls and systems, due to any external events such as natural disasters or 

terrorist attacks or the human factor. In essence, this is the risk that arises from the daily operations of the Bank and the 

implementation of its operational goals and this is the reason that affects risk management process as well. 

Definition of risk includes legal risk. Legal risk includes the exposure of the foundation to fines and penalties resulting from 

supervisory and regulatory audit, as well as from the resolution of private settlements. 

Examples of operational risk are frauds, errors and omissions from the Bank’s human resources, scandals related to credit 

institution, loss of assets and technological equipment of the Bank, risks of collapse of technical systems. 

The Risk Management Division is responsible for defining and monitoring the operational risk management framework, as well as 

for the policies and procedures that are developed and approved by the competent Committees and the Board of Directors. 

4.5 Operational risk  

The bank is subject to the risk of having insufficient funds to meet the minimum regulatory capital adequacy requirements. In 

addition to this, the applicable minimum capital adequacy limits may in the future increase or change the way they currently 

apply to capital requirements. The capital adequacy index may be affected by many factors, including the deterioration in 

economic conditions and the impairment of assets. 

Any deterioration in the credit quality of the Bank's assets might create the need for additional regulatory capital. The ineffective 

management of regulatory capital of the Bank may adversely affect the going concern of the entity, its organic growth and the 

implementation of its strategy and may cause a withdrawal of authorization by the Bank of Greece.    

The Bank’s fundamental principle and main objective is to maintain a strong capital adequacy in order to ensure the smooth 

operation and development of the Bank while ensuring the necessary trust between the Institution and the market (shareholders, 

depositors and counterparties in general).   

Data regarding capital adequacy of the Bank are submitted quarterly to ECB’s Unified Supervisory Mechanism. The Executive 

Committee of the Bank of Greece defines the minimal ratios (common shares capital, capital tier 1 and adequacy capital) that the 

Bank should have. The capital adequacy ratio compares the regulatory equity with the risks (weighted assets) undertaken by the 

Institution. The regulatory capitals include the capitals of common equity tier 1 (equity capital, reserves), the additional capitals 

tier 1 (hybrid securities) and the capitals tier 2 (subordinate equity instruments). The weighted assets include credit risk of 

investment portfolio, market risk of trade portfolio and operational risk.    

4.6 Capital adequacy 
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From January 1st of 2014, the Directive 2013/36/E.U. of the European Parliament and the Council was implemented, at 26th of 

June of 2013 which was incorporated in Greek Law through Law 4261/2014 and Regulation 575/2013 of the European 

Parliament and the Council of Europe at 26th of June of 2013 («CRD IV»), which gradually introduce the new equity adequacy 

framework of credit institutions into the standards of Basel III. According to the above institutional framework for the calculation 

of the capital adequacy ratio the transitional provisions as applied will be followed.  
 

Moreover:  

Apart from the limit of 8% for the Capital Adequacy Ratio, 4.5% limit applies to the common equity ratio and 6% for the ratio of 

Capital Tier 1, they will maintain, from 1.1.2016 and progressively to 31.12.2019, a Capital conservation buffer, in addition to the 

common shares. 

In particular:   

a. “Reserve for capital conservation Capital Tier 1 common shares”, which will gradually increase starting from  2016 by 

0,625%, to 2,500% as at  31.12.2019. In particular, “reserve for capital conservation Capital Tier 1 common shares” as at 

31.12.2017 stands at   1,250%,  at 1,875% as at 31.12.2018 and at 2,500% as at  31.12.2019, and  

b. “Special countercyclical capital buffer”, which was zero from 2016 to 2018.  It is to be noted that the special 

countercyclical capital buffer, remaining at zero level for the first quarter of 2019 under BoG Decision 152/17.12.2018 can 

change within  2019. 
 

Additionally the Bank of Greece  has imposed, on separate basis, additional capital requirements standing at 1,500% in 2017,  at 

1,980% in 2018 and at  2,10% in 2019. Therefore, the minimal total capital adequacy ratio instead of  8,000%, stood at 10,750% 

in  2017, at 11,855% in 2018 and at12,60% in 2019.  
 

Also, due to the significant participation of the deferred tax in regulatory capitals, the risk associated with the recognition 

framework of deferred tax obligations (D.T.A. & D.T.C.) is significant and is related to future tax rates and possible adverse 

change of the legal and regulatory framework which governs the treatment of deferred tax obligations in regulatory capitals.   

 

The Bank ratios are as follows:  

With IFRS 9 
effect

Without IFRS 9 
effect

CET 1 10,53% 9,11% 9,39% 1,42% 4,50% 1,109% 1,875% 0,00% 7,484% 3,046%

TIER I 11,76% 10,28% 10,56% 1,48% 6,00% 1,485% 1,875% 0,00% 9,360% 2,397%

Total Capital Ratio 14,03% 12,10% 12,39% 1,93% 8,00% 1,980% 1,875% 0,00% 11,855% 2,177%

Margin
Total Capital 

ratio 

BoG Additional 
capital 

requirements 

Security 
reserves under 

L. 4261/2014 

Special Counter-
Cyclical buffer 

under L. 4261/2014

Minimum 
capital 

requirements
Ratios

Ratios

31/12/18
31/12/17 Change



95 PANCRETAN COOPERATIVE BANK | Annual financial statements for the year 2018  

«Market Risk» is defined as the probability of realizing loss from managing assets and liabilities as well as managing the various 

trading portfolios due to adverse movements in prices of products included in these portfolios. Such portfolios are portfolios of 

shares and stock indices, interest rates, goods, currencies, etc. The Bank is not significantly exposed to market risk as the total 

value of the trading book does not exceed 5% of the value of total assets or € 15 million. 

4.7 Market risk  

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities of the Bank are as follows:  

4.8 Foreign currency risk  

The Bank has no transactions in foreign currency and neither does it hold significant assets or liabilities in foreign currency. 

Therefore, the Bank is not exposed to foreign currency risk. It is to be noted that on 31.12.2018, deposits in US Dollars  stand at  

644k  (563k Euro) and mainly pertain to blocked accounts as guarantee to the companies managing   Visa and  Mastercard. 

4.9 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities  

Book value Fair value

Due from credit institutions No                     5.997.392                     5.997.392 3

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss Yes                  13.199.707                  13.199.707 -

Public Sector Bonds Yes                     9.726.360                     9.726.360 1

Corporate Bonds Yes                           45.570                           45.570 1

Listed shares Yes                           30.682                           30.682 1

Other shares / investments Yes                     3.397.095                     3.397.095 3

Loans and advances to customers  (after provisions) No            1.141.462.372            1.141.462.372 3

Book value Fair value

Due from credit institutions No                170.706.601                170.706.601 3

Due from customers No            1.257.596.333            1.257.596.333 3

Debt issued and other borrowed funds No                  47.819.770                  47.819.770 3

Assets
Measured at fair 

value

31.12.2018
Fair value level

Liabilities
Measured at fair 

value

31.12.2018
Fair value level
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Net interest income is analyzed as follows: 

5. Net interest income  

Net interest income

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Interest and similar income:
Fixed yield securities (government bonds) 99.191                      393.851               
Fixed yield securities (bonds) 23.881                      -                             
Loans 58.930.138              54.588.268         
Deposits at Central Bank 125.144                    427.682               
Current accounts at credit institutions 1.064.772                129.634               
Term deposits at credit institutions 317.746                    53.177                  
Other interest bearing assets 59.260                      201.102               
Total interest and similar income 60.620.134              55.793.714         

Interest expenses and similar charges:
Due to customers 15.269.560              13.302.057         
Greek government guarantee supplies 1.495.352                1.487.184            
Pancretan bond 2.752.163                2.728.005            
Contribution to T.E.K.E. (Deposit Guarantee Fund) 1.069.194                877.307               

Due to European Investment Bank 909.864                    1.049.701            
Levy according to Law 128/75 4.505.016                4.286.463            
Interest on special deposits of Central Banks 235                            643.386               

Total interest expenses and similar charges 26.001.384              24.374.103         

Net interest income 34.618.749              31.419.611         

From January 1st  to

Book value Fair value

Due from credit institutions No                     4.400.786                     4.400.786 3

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss Yes                     6.254.954                     6.254.954 

Public Sector Bonds Yes                     2.919.780                     2.919.780 3

Listed shares Yes                           20.432                           20.432 3

Other shares / investments Yes                     3.314.741                     3.314.741 3

Loans and advances to customers  (after provisions) No            1.225.245.027            1.225.245.027 3

Book value Fair value

Due from credit institutions No                182.259.099                182.259.099 3

Due from customers No            1.115.952.103            1.115.952.103 3

Debt issued and other borrowed funds No                  38.366.259                  38.366.259 3

Liabilities
Measured at fair 

value

31.12.2017
Fair value level

Assets
Measured at fair 

value

31.12.2017
Fair value level
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Net commission income is analyzed as follows:  

6. Net commission income   

The average cost of deposits and other interest-bearing assets1 stands at 1,88% on 31.12.2018 versus 1,90% on 31.12.2017. The 

interest  margin stood at 1,66% in 2018 versus 1,50% on 31.12.2017.  

 1The average cost of deposits and other interest-bearing assets include expenses and commissions of ΕIB, Greek State and BoG as well as contribution under 

Law 128/75 

Ratios 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Average rate of loans 3,54% 3,40%

Average deposit rate 1,88% 1,90%

Margin 1,66% 1,50%

Change of margin 10,7% -0,61%

Net commission income

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Fee and commission income:
Letters of guarantee 1.915.672                  1.879.795                  
Treasury management 1.421.869                  1.293.192                  
Management of customers' securities 959.204                     620.476                     
Penalties for premature withdrawal of term deposits 17.514                        17.497                        
Current account service and issue cheque books 88.283                        87.053                        
Credit cards and consumer loans 1.917.389                  1.515.071                  
Insurance services 493.795                     541.141                     

Other loan services 1.092.069                  802.778                     

Revenue from court cases 2.115.096                  2.812.552                  
Cheque processing 160.704                     166.565                     
Import - export operations 62.677                        56.354                        
Share transfers 1.475                          186                              
Other 35.405                        121.219                     

Total fee and commission income 10.281.153 9.913.878

Commission expenses:

Court cases 2.359.131                  3.123.399                  
Credit cards and A.Τ.Μ. 1.037.466                  710.038                     

P.O.S. 914.067                     527.401                     
Foreign trade transaction 39.395                        29.308                        
Tiresias  database 320.440                     311.992                     
Other 75.161                        61.602                        

Total commission expenses 4.745.661 4.763.741

Net fee and commission 5.535.492 5.150.138

From January 1st  to
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7. Results of financial operations, dividends and other income  

8. Payroll expenses 

The average number of personnel employed in 2018 was 431 persons (2017: 406) 

Trading Income

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017
Dividends to shareholders                       44.993                       59.239 

From January 1st  to

Income from non-banking services

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Gain less losses on financial transactions
Exchange rate gains/losses                       39.956                       14.832 
Public sector bonds gains/losses                                  -                     147.080 
Total 39.956                     161.912                  

Other operating income
Rental income                     432.191                     281.813 
Proceeds from communication charges                       20.890                       18.786 
Safe-deposits boxes rentals                       48.685                       36.669 
POS leasing                     249.364                     156.423 
Other operating income                                  -                         1.942 
Total 751.130                  495.633                  

Total income from non-banking services 791.087                  657.545                  

From January 1st  to

Staff costs

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Wages and salaries 10.800.788               9.755.355                  
Social security contributions 2.818.310                  2.549.732                  

Bonus 234.842                     -                                   
Other staff costs 532.699                     502.086                     
Bank's employee indemnity 37.488                        32.450                        
Bank's employee indemnity provision due to retirement 248.414                     167.796                     

Total 14.672.542 13.007.418 

From January 1st  to
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9. General administrative expenses  

10. Other operating expenses  

General administrative expenses

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Third party fees 1.922.839                  1.032.613                  

Telecommunications and postage 587.197                     524.304                     

Rent expenses 945.783                     860.060                     

Insurance 180.991                     190.672                     

Buildings and equipment maintenance 1.011.945                  862.803                     

Electricity 383.308                     374.750                     

Water supply 14.118                        17.407                        

Cleaning fees 147.229                     118.096                     

Transportation expenses 75.825                        51.884                        

Travelling expenses 68.600                        81.778                        

Marketing and advertisement expenses 795.384                     184.675                     

Subscriptions - Contributions 223.082                     188.141                     

Stationery 136.934                     103.524                     

Publication expenses 10.196                        6.424                          

Travel and subsistence costs 27.647                        35.496                        

Other contributions 10.106                        7.320                          

Security 91.653                        89.754                        

Cost of Cash-in-transit 83.694                        81.626                        

Bond loans issue expenses 53.511                        57.397                        

Other 285.909                     303.235                     

Total 7.055.954 5.171.960 

From January 1st  to

Depreciation and Amortization

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Depreciation and amortization expenses that are integrated into 
operating cost

1.717.781 1.672.954 

Other operating expenses

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Stamp fee on rental amounts 22.566                        18.064                        

Real Estate tax 147.907                     170.236                     

Other taxes and fees 26.301                        51.468                        

Donations - Grants 122.703                     50.214                        

Total 319.477 289.983 

From January 1st  to

From January 1st  to
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11. Provisions for credit losses  

12. Other results 

 It is to be noted that provisions made within the closing year in respect of the credit risk are reduced versus the previous year, 

since application of IFRS 9 as from 01.01.2018 has led to additional provisions of 84.93 m recognized directly in Equity.  

Impairment losses and provisions to cover credit risk

Amounts in €Ποσά σε ευρώ 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Regarding loans and advances to customers                    1.388.019 10.000.000

From January 1st  to

Other results

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Extraordinary income
Grants 160.451              208.084           
Surpluses  of cash desk accounts 3.430                  2.765               
Surpluses  of ATMs (cashpoints )

250                     1.185               

Loan amortization 113.065              57.213             
Compensations  from insurance companies 10.177                149.943           
Other reasons  30.739                595                  

Total extraordinary income 318.112              419.785           

Extraordinary expenses
Tax fines  and penalties (5.887)                 (3.363)             
Insurance funds  surcharges  -                          (68)                  
Defici ts  in cash desk accounts (1.322)                 (207)                
Loss  from credi t / debi t cards (1.668)                 (2.448)             
Other (1.609)                 (3.222)             
Thi rd party fees  and expenses  of prior years (540)                    -                      
Other provis ions  (for lawsuits  and contingent l iabi l i ties  or 
losses )

(210.000)             -                      

Total extraordinary expenses (221.026)             (9.307)             

Extraordinary results

Profi t or loss  from disposa l  of property (213.632)             87.691             

Loss  on disposa l  of furni ture and equipment -                          (198)                

Loss  from robberies  in ATM -                          (5.770)             

Total (213.632)             81.722             

Total other extraordinary results (116.546)             492.200           

From January 1st  to
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The effect of income tax on profit or loss of the year is as follows:  

13. Deferred tax and other tax charges  

The Bank has been inspected by the tax authorities as till the fiscal year 2010, while FYs 2011 and 2012 assumed as expired. 

Accumulated provisions for non-inspected fiscal years  amount to € 250.000. 

Deferred tax recognized in the Statement of Comprehensive Income is analyzed as follows:  

Income Tax

Amounts in Euro 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Deferred tax income  / (expenses)                 (4.941.982)                 (4.184.095) 

Tax inspection differences                                     -                    (124.401) 

Total (4.941.982)                (4.308.496)                

From January 1st  to

Other profit / (loss) from valuation 

Amounts in Euro 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

From investments in other entities 92.603                        998.761                     

From valuation of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss (108.730)                    4.481.862                  

From investment property (299.795)                    1.794.039                  

Total (315.922) 7.274.662 

From January 1st  to

Deferred tax income  / (expenses) 

Amounts in Euro 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Temporary di fference at fixed assets  amortization 84.690                 (26.363)                

Di fference at revenues 822.406               -                           

Foreclosed assets  va luation (86.941)                520.271               

Investments  va luation 26.855                 289.641               

Disposa l  of foreclosed assets  (43.579)                -                           

Recognition of 1/30 losses  from PSI 217.210               217.210               

Va luation of Greek Government Bonds  (8.826)                  314.268               

Devaluation of corporate bonds  (995)                     -                           

Bank's  employee indemnity provis ion due to reti rement (72.040)                (48.661)                

Costs  of i s suing bond loans (15.518)                (16.645)                

Tax losses   (62.206)                5.931.566            

Disposa l  of Greek Government Bonds   -                           1.164.841            

Provis ions  for credi t ri sk 28.055.401          8.294.000            

Other temporary di fferences  (68.104)                -                           

Loan wri te-offs  under par. 3, art. 27, Law 4172/13 (23.906.372)         (12.456.033)         

Total deferred tax recognized in the Income Statement 4.941.982            4.184.095            

Deferred tax on actuaria l  profi t (losses )  -                           (33.236)                
Total deferred tax recognized in the Statement of 
comprehensive Income  

4.941.982            4.150.858            

From January 1st  to
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The Bank holds a current account with the Bank of Greece, in order to facilitate interbank transactions. The deposits are interest 

bearing, regarding the refinancing interest defined by the European Central Bank, which as at 31.12.2018 was zero. 

For the purpose of preparation of cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents include balances of accounts «Cash and 

balances with central banks» and «Receivables from banks», with maturities of less than three months from the date of 

acquisition.   

15. Cash and balance with the Central Bank  

16. Receivables from credit institutions   

The Bank's receivables from deposits and transactions with other credit institutions are analyzed as follows:   

14. Basic earnings / (losses) per cooperative share   

Earnings per share

Amounts in Euro 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Net profit after tax                  10.462.098                  10.521.212 
Weighed average number of shares                    7.384.124                    6.730.341 

Basic earnings per share                          1,4168                          1,5633 

From January 1st  to

Cash and Balances with Central Bank

Amounts in Euro  

Cash on hand 13.188.688                10.868.817                
Cash-in -transit activities 240.000                      756.400                      

Cheques receivable from the Central Bank 5.896.202                  1.177.770                  

Cheques receivable through offsetting 2.744                           -                                    

Balances with Central Bank 227.167.234              78.090.024                

Total 246.494.869 90.893.011

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Due from credit institutions

Amounts in Euro 

Current accounts in € 3.834.399                  2.859.273                  
Other receivables (Term deposits in €) 1.600.022                  1.500.000                  

Other receivables (Term deposits in $) 562.970                      41.513                        

Total 5.997.392 4.400.786

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
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Shares concern mainly participation in the Cooperative Insurance AEGA (8.15%) and in the DIAS interbank system S.A..  

17. Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss   

Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 

Amounts in Euro

Investments in equity interest businesses

Other investments and long-term securities 98.000                        98.000                        

Shares and long-term variable yield securities 

Investments and long-term securities 3.299.095                  3.216.741                  

Shares 30.682                        20.432                        

Greek State Bonds 9.726.360                  2.919.780                  

Corporate bonds 45.570                        -                                    
13.101.707                6.156.954                  

Total 13.199.707                6.254.954                  

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Greek State Bonds 

Amounts in Euro

Balance 01.01/Nominal value 2.919.780             

Changes for the year

Acquis i tions 10.000.000           

Payable (Accrued) interest on bonds  231.160                

Profi t from sold bonds (399.500)              

Disposa ls (2.994.646)           

Fa i r va lue measurement (30.434)                

Total 6.806.580             

Balance  31.12 / Fair value              9.726.360 

31.12.2018
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18. Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and other trade receivables  

Loans per category 

Amounts in thousand Euro 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Corporate 1.287.481            1.370.834            

Trade 330.317               371.875               

Tourism/Hotels 252.719               273.559               

Industry/Manufacture 247.125               254.745               

Construction 209.741               213.798               

Agricul ture/Fishery/Animal  breeding 36.701                 34.108                 

Catering 36.020                 38.787                 

Energy/ Photovolta ic 32.781                 36.249                 

Services/Freelance 32.013                 35.773                 

Other 26.403                 27.646                 

Transportation and Storage 18.886                 18.295                 

Rea l  Es tate Management 18.468                 17.082                 

Municipa l i ties/Civic Organizations 18.462                 21.332                 

Telecommunications/IT/Mass  Media  13.271                 13.534                 

Shipping 8.007                   6.122                   

Heal thcare Services  3.305                   4.240                   

Water suppl ies  and waste management 2.141                   2.469                   

Insurance - Banking 1.121                   1.221                   

Mortgage 142.564               144.656               

Consumer 80.737                 82.403                 

Total 1.510.782 1.597.893

1.597.893

Other receivables

Anounts in thousand Euro 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Commiss ion on letters  of guarantee 1.631 1.167

Total Loans and advances to customers 1.512.413 1.599.060

Anounts in thousand Euro 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

More than three (3) months  and less  than one year (1) 1.631 1.167

Over one (1) year -                           -                           

Total 1.631 1.167

253.579 

28.813 
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The account of allowances for impairment of loans has as follows:  

Changes in allowances for impairment of loans

Amounts in thousand Euro 

Balance as at December 31 373.815                     404.507                     

Allowance for credit risk under IFRS 9 84.936                        -                                   

Balance as at January 1 458.751                     404.507                     

Write off (89.188)                      (40.691)                      

Allowance for the period 1.388                          10.000                        

Balance as at December 31 370.951                     373.815                     

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Loans in final delay

Amounts in thousand Euro 

Total loans 1.510.782                  1.597.893                  

Loans in final delay 357.513                     402.156                     

Percentage of final delay / Total loans 23,66% 25,17%

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

31.12.2018 31.12.2017 € / % %

Loans  and other trade receivables        1.512.413.437         1.599.060.179               (86.646.741) -5,42%

Provis ions  for doubtful  loans            370.951.065            373.815.152                 (2.864.087) -0,77%

Loans  coverage va lue         1.040.372.558         1.058.173.038              (17.800.480) -1,68%

Non-performing loans  (NPLs) (delayed > 90 days )           523.705.459            632.782.600            (109.077.141) -17,24%

Final  delays           357.513.231            402.234.617              (44.721.386) -11,12%

NPEs           919.933.863            984.581.070              (64.647.207) -6,57%

Post-dated loans  (%) 34,63% 39,57% -4,95% -12,50%

Final  delays  / Loans 23,64% 25,15% -1,52% -6,03%

NPEs  / loans 60,83% 61,57% -0,75% -1,21%

Provis ions  for doubtful  loans  / 
Loans  and advances  to customers

24,53% 23,38% 1,15% 4,92%

Provis ions  / Post-dated loans 70,83% 59,07% 11,76% 19,90%

Coverag odf Non-performing exposures  (NPEs) 40,32% 37,97% 2,36% 6,21%

Coverage / Loans  and advances  to customers 68,79% 66,17% 2,61% 3,95%

Coverage + Provis ions  for doubtful  loans  /
 Loans  and advances  to customers

93,32% 89,55% 3,76% 4,20%

Average loans ' interest rate 3,54% 3,40% 0,14% 4,12%

Average depos i ts ' interest rate 1,88% 1,90% -0,02% -1,05%

Interest margin 1,66% 1,50% 0,16% 10,67%

Net Interest Margin 2,58% 2,48% 0,10% 4,16%

Account / Index
Change From January 1st  to
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The real estate property of the Bank was valued at 31.12.2016 at fair value by independent appraisers in compliance with the 

valuation standards. The fair values of the property are classified into Level 3 in terms of the fair value hierarchy.   

No Interest expense has been capitalised in accordance with IAS 23. There are no liens on the real estate of the Bank. There are 

no tangible assets under finance leases.  

19. Tangible assets   

Changes in the account of tangible assets are as follows:  

20. Investment property  

The fair values of investment properties were classified, in terms of the hierarchy of fair value, at Level 3. Investment property is 

valued by independent valuers.   

Tangible Assets 
(Amounts in Euro) 

Land Buildings  Plant Equipment
Assets under 
construction

Total

Cost
Opening Balance at 1st of January 2018           7.871.000         22.725.609              360.222         11.588.343                     7.406         42.552.580 
Additions -                        350.519            50.339              1.301.179         429.431               2.131.467         
Tansfers -                        430.671            -                        -                        (430.671)              -                        
Disposa ls  and wri te offs  -                        (299.166)           -                        -                        -                           (299.166)           
Balance at 31st of December 2018           7.871.000         23.207.632              410.561         12.889.522                     6.166         44.384.881 
Accumulated depreciation 
Opening Balance at 1st of January 2018                          -      (11.972.866)           (336.905)        (9.958.038)                             -      (22.267.809) 
Depreciation charge for the year -                        (788.740)           (7.679)               (591.288)           -                           (1.387.706)        
Disposa ls  and wri te offs  -                        299.166            -                        92                     -                           299.259            
Balance at 31st of December 2018 -                        (12.462.440)      (344.583)           (10.549.234)      -                           (23.356.257)      
Net Book Value at 31st of December 2018           7.871.000         10.745.193                65.977           2.340.288                     6.166         21.028.624 

Tangible Assets (IAS 16)

Tangible Assets 
(Amounts in Euro) 

Land Buildings  Plant Equipment
Assets under 
construction

Total

Cost

Opening Balance at 1st of January 2017           7.871.000         22.677.819              344.384         11.189.923                             -         42.083.127 
Additions -                        47.790              15.838              398.420            7.406                   469.453            
Tansfers -                        -                        -                        -                        -                           -                        
Disposa ls  and wri te offs  -                        -                        -                        -                        -                           -                        
Balance at 31st of December 2017           7.871.000         22.725.609              360.222         11.588.343                     7.406         42.552.580 
Accumulated depreciation 
Opening Balance at 1st of January 2017                          -      (11.189.339)           (331.520)        (9.380.842)                             -      (20.901.701) 
Depreciation charge for the year -                        (783.527)           (5.385)               (577.197)           -                           (1.366.109)        
Disposa ls  and wri te offs  -                        -                        -                        -                        -                           -                        
Balance at 31st of December 2017 -                        (11.972.866)      (336.905)           (9.958.038)        -                           (22.267.809)      
Net Book Value at 31st of December 2017           7.871.000         10.752.743                23.317           1.630.304                     7.406         20.284.770 

Tangible Assets (IAS 16)
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21. Intangible assets  

22. Deferred tax assets  

2018 2017

Acquisition value 

Opening balance January 1                  4.507.086                  3.998.408 

Additions 1.205.203               508.678                   
Balance as at December 31                  5.712.289                  4.507.086 

Accumulated amortization 

Opening balance January 1              (3.135.260)              (2.828.216) 

Amortization for the period (330.167)                 (307.044)                 
Balance as at December 31 (3.465.427)              (3.135.260)              

Book value as at December 31                  2.246.862                  1.371.826 

Intangible assets (Amounts in Euro)
Software

2018 2017

Acquisition value

Opening balance as at January 1               15.667.000                  8.324.406 

Additions -                                 10.739                     
Fair value measurement differences -                                 1.794.039               
Reversals / Reclassifications -                                 5.537.815               
Balance as at December 31               15.667.000               15.667.000 

Land plots - buildings 
Investment property (Amounts in Euro) 

Deferred Tax Assets -Liability

Amounts in €

Due to financia l  ins truments  reva luation (284.964)               (267.929)               

Al lowance for credi t ri sk  29.474.671           32.898.777           

Temporary di fferences  on revenues (822.406)               -                            

Due to Real  estate reva luation (1.528.270)            (1.443.580)            

Impairment of foreclosed assets  1.033.437             989.859                

Due to Investment property reva luation (433.331)               (520.271)               

Expenses  of bond loans  i ssue (52.267)                 (67.785)                 

Other provis ional  di fferences  68.104                  

Provis ion for employee compensation 692.567                620.527                

Deferred tax asset due to temporary di fferences  a 28.147.542           32.209.597           

Loss  from PSI b 4.995.830             5.213.040             

Deferred tax assets  from loan wri te-offs  under par. 3, art. 27 Law 417 c 36.362.405           12.456.033           

Deferred tax asset due to taxable losses  d 122.570                60.364                  

Total deferred tax asset  a+b+c+d 69.628.347           49.939.034           

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
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Deferred tax has been calculated based on the nominal tax rate at which the temporary taxable and deductible differences are 

expected to be offset. Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent they are expected to offset future taxable income on 

a reasonable basis.    

Τhe amount of  deferred tax assets mainly relates to:  

• Allowances for credit risk whose settlement does not have a fixed maturity 

• The loss incurred from PSI due to Government Bond exchange is tax deductible over a total of 30 years (to the year 

2042). 

• Debit balances under par. 3, Article 27, Law 4172/2013 from write-off of loans subject to twenty (20) years of 

depreciation.  

Following the decision of the Extraordinary General Meeting held on March 19, 2016, the Bank was introduced into the 

provisions of the special regime under Article 27A, Law 4172/2013, as amended through Article 4, Law 4340/2015 on voluntary 

conversion of deferred tax assets, on temporary differences, to final and under liquidation assets versus the Greek State. For the 

purposes of applying the aforementioned provisions and in order to undertake the relevant corporate actions, a resolution of the 

General Meeting is required, made under the increased quorum and majority as specified in Law 1667/1986 in respect of the 

cooperative capital increase following the special recommendation of the Board of Directors. The decision pertains to formation 

of special reserves and the free issue of certificates verifying acquisition rights of common shares or cooperative shares 

(conversion rights) in favor of the Greek State.   

 

 

The deferred tax assets from deductible tax losses are expected to be finalized at the time of submitting tax returns. 

Categorization of Deferred Tax Assets

Amounts in €

Deferred tax assets   not based on future profi tabi l i ty (Article 27a 
of Law  4172/2013)

45.533.355           

Deferred tax receivables  that are based on future profi tabi l i ty and 
do not resul t from temporary di fferences  (Article 27 of Law  
4172/2013)

122.570                

Deferred tax receivables  based on future profi tabi l i ty ari s ing from 
temporary di fferences

23.972.422           

 Total 69.628.347           

This  category includes  deferred tax assets :
(a) PSI loss   (No. 27 v.4172 / 2013)   
(b) the accumulated credi t ri sk provis ions  referred to in Article 27a of Law 4172/2013
(c) the debit di fference of paragraph 3 of article 27 of Law 4172/2013 as  i t fa l l s  short of the 
di fference in credi t ri sk that i s  included in article 27 of the sa id law.   

This  category includes  deferred tax receivables  from transferred tax losses .

This  category includes  deferred tax assets  and l iabi l i ties
due to temporary di fferences

31.12.2018 Analysis/Explanations
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Income tax, attributable to temporary differences relating to: a) the remaining (unamortized) amount of the debit difference (PSI) 

under paragraph 2, Article 27, which has arisen at the expense of the legal entities supervised by the Bank of Greece under 

paragraphs 5, 6 and 7, Article 26 and b) the amount of accumulated provisions and other general losses caused by the credit 

risk, which were accounted for as till June 30, 2015, regarding the abovementioned legal entities receivables, for which a 

definition of "deferred tax assets" has been used or will be used in accordance with the provisions of the International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and Law 4172/2013 and which is presented in in the last annual financial statements, prepared under 

IFRS, audited by statutory auditors and approved by the General Meeting of Shareholders, is converted, in whole or in part, on 

case basis, into final and liquidated receivables versus the Greek State, in the event the legal entity’s earnings after tax record 

losses in compliance, as mentioned above, with the last annual financial statements, audited by statutory auditors and approved 

by the General Meeting of Shareholders.    

The amount of the final and liquidated receivable is defined through multiplying the total amount of deferred tax asset, as 

mentioned above, by the percentage that represents accounting loss, after taxes, regarding Total Equity, as stated in the 

respective annual separate financial statements of the legal entity which have been prepared for the relevant fiscal year, not 

including the accounting loss for the year [Tax Asset = (Amount of Deferred Tax Asser in the Financial Statements * Accounting 

Loss for the Year After Tax) / (Equity - Accounting, Loss for the Year After Tax)].  

The receivables described in the current is incurred at the time of approval of the respective annual corporate financial 

statements by the Annual General Meeting of shareholders or partners and is offset against the income tax of the tax year of 

the legal entity  that publishes the approved financial statements. In order to achieve offsetting with the corresponding income 

tax, the legal entity can timely submit supplementary tax returns within one month from the date of incurring the receivables 

under the provisions of the aforementioned Article.   

In case the corresponding income tax for the tax year, within which the accounting loss was incurred, is not sufficient to facilitate 

full settlement of the receivables and to the extent that a certain part of the receivable has not been offset, the legal entity has 

directly collectible receivables against the Greek State in respect of this outstanding part of the initial receivables. This 

receivables is covered within one (1) month after the submission (initial or additional) of income tax return. Thus, the legal entity 

issues free certificates representing acquisition rights of common or cooperative shares (conversion rights), which are owned by 

the Greek State and correspond to shares or cooperative shares of total market value equal to one hundred percent (100%) of 

the amount of the final and liquidated tax assets prior to its offsetting with the income tax of the tax year in which the accounting 

loss was incurred. The market value of shares or cooperative shares is defined as their intrinsic accounting value, which arises from 

the last legally prepared balance sheet of the entity, taking into consideration all the comments recorded in the Independent 

Auditor’s Report. Conversion rights are exercised without paying the relative consideration, through capitalization of the special 

purpose reserves. 
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Provisions of Article 27Α pertain to tax assets incurred in or after tax year 2017 and regarding tax year 2016 and further. An 

exemption is provided in the event of bankruptcy, special liquidation or liquidation of the legal entity, when the tax asset is 

incurred given that bankruptcy, special liquidation or liquidation occurred after the current Law publication date.    

The highest balance of deferred tax asset that can, under the provisions of Article 27Α, Law 4172/2013, be converted into final 

and liquidated receivables against the Greek State amounts to approximately € 45.53 million.    

Law 4370/2016 “Deposit Guarantee Scheme” (DGS) incorporates into the Greek Legislation the Directive 2014/49/EU of the 

European Parliament as of April 16, 2014 (EU L 173), on contributions to deposit guarantee schemes and on payment 

commitments and establishes new regulations regarding all the DGSs that provide similar level of deposits protection within the 

EU.   

The Hellenic Deposit and Investment Guarantee Fund (herein after T.E.K.E.) manages the bank deposits and investing services 

guarantees system and has been designed to (a) compensate depositors of credit institutions authorized in Greece that fail to 

fulfill their obligations, (b) compensate investor customers of credit institutions authorized in Greece, which do not participate in 

the mutual Guarantee Fund and are unable to fulfill their obligations arising from the provision of investment services and (c) 

finance credit institutions during the implementation of the consolidation measures. Chapter Β, Law 4370/2016 defines the credit 

institutions obligation regarding their participation in Τ.Ε.Κ.Ε. (Article 4, par. 3 and Article 15, Directive 2014/49/EU ), while 

Article 9 of the aforementioned Law defines the ceiling for guaranteed deposits in respect of every credit institution covered by 

Τ.Ε.Κ.Ε. as an amount of € 100.000 (a hundred thousand euro). The ceiling is effective regarding the total deposits held at the 

same credit institution, notwithstanding the number, the currency and the place of keeping deposits within the European Union.    

23. Other assets  

Other assets are analyzed as follows: 

Other Assets

Amounts in €

Income tax advance of prior years 807.357                      794.290                      
Deposit Guarantee Fund 36.858.291                36.733.146                

Other receivables and advances 3.353.965                  2.678.950                  

Accrued interest on loans  5.053.021                  4.812.230                  

Other accrued interest income 155.364                      8.787                           

Accrued commission income 76.748                        184.614                      

Collectible income from similar activities  25.450                        18.137                        

Prepaid expenses 635.690                      521.970                      

Advances to personnel 106.735                      92.644                        

Total 47.072.621 45.844.768

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Differences Deferred Tax Differences Deferred Tax

Loss  from PSI 19.848.500 5.756.065 17.227.000           4.995.830              

Di fference in accumulated credi t ri sk provis ions 139.784.568 40.537.525 139.784.568 40.537.525

Total 159.633.068 46.293.590 157.011.568 45.533.355

Balance of tax assets under Article  27A  L. 4172 / 2013 30.06.2015 31.12.2018
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24. Foreclosed Assets   

25. Liabilities due to other credit institutions   

26. Liabilities due to customers   

Deposits and other customers’ accounts are as follows:   

2018 2017

Cost

Balance at 1st of January               11.873.355               17.263.869 

Additions 3.010.680               425.834                   
Impairment (299.795)                 -                                 
Disposals and write offs (1.154.819)              (278.533)                 
Reverses / Reclassifications -                                 (5.537.815)              
Balance at 31st of December               13.429.421               11.873.355 

Foreclosed assets  (Amounts in Euro) 
Land and Buildings

Due to other credit institutions

Amounts in €

Long - term liabilities to other credit institutions                         
(European Investment Bank)

145.350.932              162.151.114              

Short - term liabilities to other credit institutions                         
(European Investment Bank)

24.401.363                18.158.530                

Sight deposits of credit institutions 954.307                      1.949.456                  

Total 170.706.601 182.259.099

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Obligations due to customers 

Amounts in €

Sight deposits 343.671.726              273.019.254              

Saving accounts 252.787.898              253.803.070              

Term deposits 655.852.447              583.575.492              

Term deposits in $ 29.050                         27.738                         

Cheques and orders payable 5.255.212                   5.526.549                   

Total 1.257.596.333          1.115.952.103          

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
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The increase in customer deposits proves the improvement of the climate of confidence to the Bank and is the basis for 

restoration of liquidity of the Bank and development of its operations.   

27. Debt securities and other borrowed funds  

Debt issued and other borrowed funds

Amounts in €

Pancretan Bond - issue 2015 - subordinated 23.500.000                        23.500.000                        

Less: Bond issue costs (110.745)                             (143.195)                             
Pancretan - 2015 bond issue convertible into
co-operative shares 15.100.000                        15.100.000                        

Less: Bond issue costs (69.485)                               (90.546)                               

Pancretan Bond - issue 2018 - subordinated 9.400.000                           -                                            

Total 47.819.770 38.366.259

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Issued 2018

Subordinated Bond 
(public)

Convertible Bond 
Subordinated Bond 

(public)

Terms Terms Terms

Release date 21/12/2015 21/12/2015 31/12/2018

Expiration date 21/12/2022 indefinite duration 31/12/2025

Years - instalments one-off in the 7th year one-off in the 7th year

Amount 23.500.000,00 15.100.000,00 9.400.000,00

Nominal value of bond 100.000,00 100.000,00 100.000,00

Number of bonds 235 151 94

Interest rate 6,50% 8,00% 6,50%

Payment of interest annually / 365 days annually / 365 days annually / 365 days

Issue costs 214.730,72 137.975,91 0,00

Effective rate 6,668% 8,177% 6,500%

Recognition in Regulatory Capital Tier II Tier II Tier I Tier II

Bonds

Terms

Issued 2015
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28. Liabilities from employee benefits  

Liabilities from employee benefits pertain to the amount of pension payment arising from the provision for employee indemnity 

formed on annual basis and are analysed as follows:   

These results depend on the assumptions (economic and demographic) development of an actuarial study.   

The main actuarial assumptions used are the following:  

Technica l  interest rate
Future sa lary growth
Inflation rate
Morta l i ty table
Net percentage of personnel  withdrawal  (res ignations  less  di

Average retirement age:
Men & Women: (Heavy - Unheal thy)
Men & Women: Other Insurance Categories  

Va luation date

Insured group s tructure

Insurance fund property

62 years  old 
67 years  old

Closed: assumed zero entry of 
people

zero

31/12/2017
(1/1/2018)

1,8%
MT_EAE2012P 

0,0%

Main actuarial assumptions used

1,5%
1%

Employee defined benefit obligations

Amounts  in €
Present va lue of defined obl igations  at the beginning of the 
period 2.139.748            1.857.344
Current service cost 216.318               148.065
Interest cost 32.096                 27.860
Past service cost -                           12.194                  
Benefi ts  pa id -                           (20.323)                
Actuaria l  loss  -                           114.608                
Present value of defined obligations at the end of the period 2.388.162            2.139.748

The amounts recognized in the income statement are as follows:

Amounts  in € 1.1-31.12.2018 1.1-31.12.2017
Current service cost 216.318               148.065                
Interest cost 32.096                 27.860                  
Past service cost -                           (8.129)                  
Total (included in staff costs) 248.414               167.796
Actuaria l  loss -                           114.608
Total 248.414               282.404

31.12.2018 31.12.2017
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Other liabilities are analysed as follows:   

Following successful recapitalization performed in 2015, when the Bank raised a total amount of 69.6 million Euro, the 

Management of the Bank left the increase equity procedure open (pending), requiring the involvement of a strategic investor. 

Early in 2017, based on the unanimous decision of its Board of Directors, the Bank accepted the participation in its capital of the 

Societe Anonyme Lyktos Participations, belonging to Mr. Michalis Sallas, as a strategic investor. Lyktos Participations deposited an 

amount of € 12,600,000 corresponding to 21.45% of the cooperative capital of the Bank. Finalization of the above procedure 

following its approval by the supervisory authorities in May 2017, has had a significant impact on the issue of 1,575,000 

cooperative shares, while the cooperative capital and share premium increased by € 7,875,000 and € 4,725,000 respectively.   

29. Other liabilities  

30. Cooperative Capital  

Other liabilities

Amounts in €

Proceeds  on behal f of thi rd parties   7.741.210              4.808.844              

Cheques  as  covers  for col lection 3.257.514              497.760                 

Accrued interest on depos i ts 1.803.429              1.323.683              

Proceeds  from auctions  on hold 811.089                 796.667                 

Liabi l i ties  from taxes-duties   1.510.704              1.137.886              

Payables  to suppl iers  1.164.201              969.544                 

Liabi l i ties  to insurance insti tutions  700.090                 635.509                 

Other Liabi l i ties  790.173                 328.739                 

Levy according to Law 128/75 419.551                 377.816                 

Depos i t Guarantee Fund  357.603                 278.685                 

Provis ions  for unaudited tax years 250.000                 250.000                 

Provis ions  for other ri sks  and l iens 90.000                   -                             

Telephone - Electrici ty - Posta l 142.761                 126.868                 

Accrued employee fees 234.842                 -                             

Liabi l i ties  from card settlement 4.026.921              1.243.990              

Other accrued expenses 5.242                     -                             

Total 23.305.328 12.775.991

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Co-operative share capital
Number of co-

operative 
Nominal Value Co-operative

Share Capital

Opening balance at 1st of January 2017 5.752.411 5 28.762.055

Net increase in co-operative share capi ta l 1.589.210 5 7.946.050

Balance at 31st of December 2017 7.341.621 5 36.708.105

Net increase in co-operative share capi ta l 513.774 5 2.568.870

Balance at 31 of December 2018 7.855.395 5 39.276.975
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The corporate capital increase expenses, amounting to 139.351,90 €, have been recorded in 2018 in share premium account.    

In the closing year, despite the unfavorable economic conditions, on 31.12.2018, the Bank successfully completed, in accordance 

with the invitation to the General Meeting of November 19, 2018: a) the increase of its cooperative capital, amounting to 

4.065.464,00 Euro (of which EUR 300 thousand was paid in the first quarter of 2019); and b) the issue of a subordinated bond 

loan amounting to Euro 9.400.000.  

The Bank management considers that all the conditions for the recognition of the cooperative capital as equity in accordance 

with IFRIC 2 have been fulfilled since there is a prohibition by the Bank of Greece in accordance with the provisions of Article 

149 of Law 4261/5.5.2014 for returning of funds.   

31. Share premium  

32. Other reserves, retained earnings  

Other Reserves

Amounts in € 

Legal  reserves  15.105.153            15.105.153            

Statutory reserves 7.552.576              7.552.576              

Specia l  reserves  3.157.730              3.156.773              

Extraordinary reserves  36.581.805            36.581.805            

Tax free reserves  from profi ts  taxed pursuant to specia l  clauses 2.995.699              2.995.699              

Tax free reserves  from tax exempt profi ts  845.559                 845.559                 

Taxed reserves  of Law 2238/1994 Art. 106 3.006.992              3.006.992              

Reva luation reserves  under IAS 16 1.853.591              1.853.591              

Total 71.099.104 71.098.147

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Share permium

Opening balance at 1st of January 2017 130.922.346     

Net increase in co-operative share capi ta l 4.376.498         

Balance at 31st of December 2017 135.298.844     

Net increase in co-operative share capi ta l 1.401.970         

Balance at 31 of December 2018 136.700.814     

Retained Earnings

Amounts in €  

Reta ined Earnings (112.361.666)        (122.823.764)        (122.823.764)        

IFRS 9 implementation effect (60.304.205)          (60.304.205)          -                            

Total (172.665.871)        (183.127.969)        (122.823.764)        

31.12.2018 01.01.2018 31.12.2017
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Statutory reserves are formed in compliance with Article 24 of the Articles of Association through withholding at least ten 

percent (10%) of net profit on annual basis. Such withholdings are not mandatory when the size of the reserves equals the total 

value of cooperative shares. 

Statutory reserve intended to cover contingent losses of the Cooperative are used only throughout its operations and is 

distributed only after the Cooperative liquidation among the effective shareholders or their heirs, according to the amount of 

shares held by each of them. 

Under Article 25 of the Articles of Association, at least five percent (5%) of the annual net profit of the Bank is withheld for the 

purposes of forming extraordinary reserves, used for compliance with the indemnity of withdrawing members’ liability under 

article 40 of the Articles of Association. 

Extraordinary reserves can be also formed following a decision of the General Meeting for other, always specific, purposes, 

defined under the same procedures and terms and conditions. All extraordinary reserves are used throughout the Bank’s 

operations given that it does not hinder the realization of their objectives. 

Contingent tax liabilities: The Bank is tax audited until the fiscal year 2010. The accumulated provisions for unaudited fiscal 

years 2011-2018 amount to 250.000 € and are deemed adequate.   
 

Operating leases: The Bank's commitments (as lessee) mainly arise from buildings which are used as branches. Its receivables (as 

lessor) mainly consider the rentals of buildings leased to third parties.   

The minimum future lease payments are estimated as follows:  

The minimum future lease collection is estimated as follows:  

33. Commitments, Contingent Assets and Liabilities 

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Less than one year                             945.783                             857.203 

Between one and five years                         3.783.134                         4.286.013 

Over five years                         4.728.917                         3.428.810 

Total                         9.457.834                         8.572.026 

Amounts in € 31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Less than one year                             432.191                             281.813 

Between one and five years                         1.728.764                         1.409.063 

Over five years                         2.160.955                         1.127.251 

Total                         4.321.910                         2.818.126 

31.12.18 31.12.17

Retained earnings                         (87.806)                         (87.806) 

Fair value and other reserves                   (5.729.988)                   (5.729.988) 

Total                   (5.817.794)                   (5.817.794) 

Amounts recognized in Equity through Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income 

Balance
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Contingent legal liabilities: There are no lawsuits or claims which have or may be initiated against the entity that could materially 

affect the financial position of the Bank on 31 December 2018. The Bank obtains through legal procedures, the judicial recovery 

of arrears in the general banking operations. 

Pledged assets: Receivables from clients standing at 9.9 million € as at 31.12.2018, were pledged for the purposes of receiving  

approximately 5.12 million Euro.  

Balances and transactions between the Bank and related parties in accordance with IAS 24 are as follows:  

34. Transactions and Balances with Related Parties  

Other related parties concern mainly legal entities related to the members of the Board of Directors.  

Capital commitments: The Bank in the ordinary operation, accepts commitments that could lead to future changes in its asset 

structure. These commitments are monitored in off balance sheet accounts and are related with issued letters of guarantee, 

letters of credit of execution, liabilities from approved credit facilities and limits.    

Related - party transactions (I.A.S. 24)

Amounts in Euro

Receivables liabilities

Loans 8.940.699 10.653.145

Deposits 9.978.397 6.371.108

Letters of guarantee in force 2.004.651 3.064.162

Related - party transaction (I.A.S. 24)

Amounts in Euro

Transactions with related parties 

Key executives personnel remuneration 970.412 724.925

BoD and Committees members remuneration 427.779 216.219
Remuneration & compensation to the Members of the Management, 
BoD  & Commission members  81.066 62.422

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Amounts in €  31.12.2018 31.12.2017

Letters of guarantee                       88.099.005                       91.065.657 

Total                       88.099.005                       91.065.657 
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35. Recovery and resolution of credit institutions (Directive 2014/59/EU)   

Directive 2014/59/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing a framework for the recovery and resolution of 

credit institutions and investment firms (BRRD) as well as the Directives 82/891/CM, 2011/24/EC, 2002/47/EC, 2004/25/EC, 

2005/56/EC, 2007/36/EC, 2011/35/EU, 2012/30/EU and 2013/36/EU and Regulations (ΕU) 1093/2010 and (ΕU) 648/2012 

were incorporated in the Greek Legislation under Article 2, Law 4335/2015. The main reasoning behind the new Law is that a 

credit institution losses should be assumed by taxpayers only as the last resort. The losses should initially burden the shareholders 

and then – the creditors (bail in). The aforementioned provisions have been effective since 1.1.2016.     

36. Disclosures of Law 4151 / 2013 - dormant deposit accounts   

In accordance with the Articles 6-10 of Law 4151/2013 every credit institution in Greece has the liability to transfer the amounts 

from dormant deposit accounts together with any interest accrued, after 20 years have lapsed, to the government until the end of 

April of each year depositing them in a special account in the Bank of Greece. The auditors will certify whether or not the Bank 

complied with the law on dormant deposits by indicating the amount that are attributed to the State.  In compliance with Letter 

of the Hellenic Bank Association under Prot. No. 1436/28.7.2016, as far as the aforementioned accounts are concerned, the 

provisions for deadline of articles 7 and 8, Law 4151/2013 are suspended. The Bank started its operations in 1994. Starting from 

20.7.2015 the capital controls have been effective and suspension of the deadline of Articles 7 & 8 of Law 4151/2013 regarding 

dormant accounts has started.  In April 2019, an amount of 19.20 Euro was returned to the BoG  due to multiannual dormant 

account, while an additional return of approximately  337 Euro is expected to be be performed in 2019. 

37. Other information   

• Within 2018, the Bank did not manage funds on behalf of third parties. 

• Within 2018, the Bank did not provide management services to third parties. 

• The assets denominated in foreign currencies concern time deposit in USD, which balance as at 31.12.2018 stands at € 

562,970  (644,320 USD) 

38. Reclassifications  

It is to be noted that the Bank fully applied IFRS 9 on 1.1.2018, without revising the comparative data and making the necessary 

transitional disclosures. Consequently, the comparative amounts of the Bank for 2017 are presented under IAS 39.   
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39. Auditors’ fees 

The total fees of certified public accountants for statutory audit of the annual financial statements of 2018 amount to € 35,000 

and other audit services to € 25,000. In addition, non-audit services were invoiced, amounting to € 41,833.33, according to EU 

Regulation 537/2014.    

Moreover, in the closing year, the results of financial instruments valuation was classified into the account “Other valuation 

profit/loss”. Therefore, for comparability reasons, the relative previous year amounts were reclassified.  

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Amounts in € Publicised Re-classified Re-adjusted
Interest and similar Income 55.793.714           -                                55.793.714            
Interest expense and similar charges (24.374.103)          -                                (24.374.103)           
Net interest income 31.419.611           -                                31.419.611            
Fee and commission income 9.913.878              -                                9.913.878               
Commission expense (4.763.741)            -                                (4.763.741)             
Net fee and commission income 5.150.138              -                                5.150.138               
Dividend income 59.239                    -                                59.239                     
Results of financial transactions 3.560.089              (3.398.178)             161.912                  
Earnings from investment titles -                               -                                -                                
Other income 495.633                 -                                495.633                  
Total Net Income 40.684.710           (3.398.178)             37.286.532            
Employees fees and expenses (13.007.418)          -                                (13.007.418)           
General administrative expenses (5.171.960)            -                                (5.171.960)             
Depreciation and amortization (1.672.954)            -                                (1.672.954)             
Other expenses (289.983)                -                                (289.983)                 
Total operating Expenses (20.142.315)          -                                (20.142.315)           
Credit risk  provisions (10.000.000)          -                                (10.000.000)           
Revaluation gains / impairment losses 3.876.484              3.398.178              7.274.662               
Other non-operating results 492.200                 -                                492.200                  
Profit / (loss) before tax 14.911.079           -                                14.911.079            
Deferred tax (4.184.095)            -                                (4.184.095)             
Other tax expense (124.401)                -                                (124.401)                 
Profit / (loss) after tax 10.602.584           -                                10.602.584            
Actuarial gains (losses) recognized in the statement of 
comprehensive income 

(114.608)                -                                (114.608)                 

Deferred tax recognized in in the statement of comprehensive 
income  

33.236                    -                                33.236                     

Profit/(loss) after income tax 10.521.212           -                                10.521.212            

From January 1st to December 31st  2017

Auditors fees
(Amounts in €)

2018

Statutory audit       35.000 
Other audit services       25.000 
Non-audit services       41.833 
Total     101.833 
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In January 2016, the IASB issued a new Standard, IFRS 16. The objective of the project was to develop a new Leases Standard 

that sets out the principles that both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier (‘lessor’), apply to provide 

relevant information about leases in a manner that faithfully represents those transactions. To meet this objective, a lessee is 

required to recognize assets and liabilities arising from a lease.    

Τhe Bank applied provisions of IFRS 16 "Leases“ on 01.01.2019. The following disclosures provide the information required to 

understand the effect of applying the above standard in the financial statements. However, it is to be noted that the 

Management continues to control and improve the new accounting procedures and, therefore, the estimate of the expected 

financial effect of the initial application of IFRS 16 may vary until the financial statements for the year ending as at 31 December 

2019  are finalized.    

As at 31.12.2018, the Bank leases a significant number of real estate items, which it either uses as branches or such items pertain 

to  other real estate leases (executive residences,  etc.). In 2018, total lease payments amounted to approximately 945k and are 

recorded  in the General Administrative Expenses account in the income statement.  

The Bank estimates that on 1.1.2019, it will recognize asset as  Rights Of Use amounting to 4.720.720 Euro and equal liabilities 

from leases.   

40. Transition to IFRS 16 “Leases”  

Comparative data: The Bank will proceed with full implementation of IFRS 16 on 1.1.2019, without re-adjusting the comparative 

data and the transitional disclosures as at the transition date (transitional disclosures). Consequently, the comparative amounts of 

the Bank for 2018 will be presented in accordance with IAS  17 and SIC 15 Operating Leases—Incentives.   
 

Supervisory treatment of estimated effect of IFRS 16 implementation: It is obvious that regarding the Banks presented as lessees  

of a significant number of real estate, the standard’s implementation will bring about  higher asset value and, initially, decreased 

equity. Therefore the effect on the regulatory capital will be negative, though it is not expected to be significant.    

Finance cost Amor tization Differ ed tax Total

Initial recognition
01.01.19 -                       4.720.720                4.720.720     -             -                       4.720.720                4.720.720     -              -              

Subsequent measurement ceteris paibus
2019 -                       3.866.376                3.866.376     -                       32.888                     32.888     -                       3.979.782                3.979.782     (974.126)            (1.054.644)               (80.518)     (974.126)            (233.188)            (854.344)     32.888    (1.054.644)     (80.518)     

Income Statement

Prior to IFRS 16 
implementation

After IFRS 16 
implementation

Balance
Prior to IFRS 16 
implementation

Prior to IFRS 16 
implementation

Year 

ROU (Rights of Use) Differed tax Liabilities Equity

After IFRS 16 
implementation

Balance
Prior to IFRS 16 
implementation

After IFRS 16 
implementation

Balance
After IFRS 16 

implementation
Balance

Prior to IFRS 16 
implementation

After IFRS 16 implementation
Balance
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On 05.03.2019, Moody's Investors Service upgraded Greek banks following the recent upgrading of the Greek ranks, to B1 

(stable) from B3 (positive).  

In respect of Pancretan Bank, Moody's:  

 Confirmed its long-term evaluation of Pancretan Bank at Caa2, 

 Confirmed CRA of Pancretan Bank  regarding long-term counterparty risk assessments  at B3(cr),  

 Confirmed  long-term counterparty risk ratings (CRR) at B3 

 Stated  the outlook in  deposits evaluation to positive from fixed.   

Moody's has stated  that current operations of the Greek banks are mainly guided by the improved economic conditions and  

more  favorable operating environment, as indicated by upgrading Greece to B1 (stable) from B3 (positive) in the beginning of 

March.  

Revised bank ratings and outlooks also reflect Moody's estimates for further improvement in the bank's financial sizes through 

lower levels of non-performing loans, increased deposits, and gradual improvement in low profitability, making reference to the 

fact that improving the operating environment essentially means that bank finances are more compatible with a higher level of 

credit rating.  

 

There are no other post  Financial Statements events that shall be reported in compliance with the International Financial 

Reporting Standards.   

 

41. Events after the Statement of Financial Position Date  

Heraklion, April 22,  2019 

THE PRESIDENT OF THE BoD 
2nd VICE-PRESIDENT OF 

THE BoD 
THE CHIEF FINANCIAL 

OFFICER
THE DIRECTOR OF 

FINANCIAL DIVISION

NIKOLAOS Ε. MYRTAKIS GEORGIOS P. KOURLETAKIS NIKOLAOS D. MASTORAKIS GEORGIA I. MARIDAKI 
ID No. AI 944944 ID No. AΝ 458409 ID No. ΑΕ 964136 ID No. Χ 351376

FIRST CLASS LICENSE REG. 
NUM.  0035538  

FIRST CLASS LICENSE REG. 
NUM.  0023948 
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